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1. What we achieved in 2022

Key performance indicators Target  Target Achievement 2022
Financial
10% CAGR 14% CAGR
2019-23 2019-22
Net revenue
>€4.1 bn' €4,337.6 m
in 2022 in 2022
10% CAGR 15% CAGR
2019-2023 2019-2022
EBITDA
>€2.3 bn? €2,525.6 m
in 2022 in 2022
10% CAGR 15% CAGR
Cash EPS
2019-2023 2019-2022
ESG net revenue growth? >10% 31%
Employees
Number of employees 11,078
Employee satisfaction >71.5% 73%
Women in leadership positions* >22% 23%
Customers and markets
System availability (customer facing IT) >99.5% >99.9%

Social environment

CO: emissions per workspace

=1.51 t CO. per workspace

1.01 t CO2 per workspace

ESG ratings

MSCI, S&P, Sustainalytics

>90th percentile

98th percentile

1) Originally ~€3.8 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)
2) Originally ~€2.2 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)

3) ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Borse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”

4) Group-wide target in senior management
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2. About this report

This combined management report covers both Deutsche Borse Group and Deutsche Bérse AG and in-
cludes the combined non-financial statement. It follows the requirements of Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB,
German Commercial Code) and Deutscher Rechnungslegungs Standard Nr. 20 (DRS 20, German Ac-
counting Standard No. 20). The contents of the combined non-financial statement are subject to PwC'’s
audit.

Integrated reporting on non-financial topics

Since the 2021 reporting year, we have integrated our combined annual report and our combined non-
financial statement in one report. This enables our most important stakeholders, such as clients, em-
ployees, and shareholders to gain a holistic view of our corporate performance. This includes social and
ecological topics as well as economic ones.

While preparing the report, we followed the recommendations of the International Integrated Reporting
Council (IIRC) on portraying the value creation process (see chart “Value creation process”). Currently, a
highly dynamic environment for company reporting exists due to regulatory developments in the field of
non-financial reporting and due to a closer cooperation and coordination between the key standard-set-
ters, Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Sustainability Accounting Standard Board (SASB), Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and IIRC. We will therefore continue to develop our report-
ing over the next few years.

Contents, structure and materiality

The information about our net assets, financial position and result of operations is based on the
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and if applicable, German
commercial law (HGB) and German Financial Reporting Standards (DRS). The combined non-financial
statement for Deutsche Borse Group and the parent Deutsche Borse AG is integrated into the combined
management report; it meets the requirements of sections 289b—e and 315b—c HGB and Regulation
(EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and the European Council of 18 June 2020 on the
establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment and amending Regulation (EU)
2019/2088 (in the following EU Taxonomy Regulation). In terms of the materiality analysis, description
of management approaches and selected KPI it follows the GRI (2021) standards. A detailed overview of
all GRI indicators (GRI index) is available on our website. Further detailed information that is referenced
in this report does not form part of the combined management report itself unless explicitly stated.
Provided no explicit statements are made for the parent company, qualitative information within the
meaning of the combined management report applies to Deutsche Borse Group and the parent company
Deutsche Borse AG. In some cases, quantitative details concerning the parent entity are disclosed
separately.
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The reporting on our key topics follows our value creation process, which is explained in the chapter
“Corporate purpose and value creation process”. For a schematic representation of the contents in line
with the TCFD recommendations we refer to our TCFD index on our website. In the course of our
materiality analysis we continuously determine and evaluate the expectations and requirements of
relevant internal and external stakeholders. Our last big stakeholder survey took place in 2021. In the
year 2022 we surveyed several internal stakeholders in order to validate last year’s results. All the topics
identified in our materiality analysis are therefore relevant for the further structuring of this report. For an
overview of the parts of the non-financial declaration (NFD), please refer to the table “Disclosures on the
non-financial declaration pursuant to sections 289b—e or 315b—c HGB".

We present the material topics and the related steering parameters in the sections “Corporate purpose
and value creation process” and “Our strategy and steering parameters”. There are no new material

topics compared with the previous year.

Disclosures on the non-financial declaration pursuant to Section 289b-e or 315b—c HGB

Required disclosure pursuant to § 289b-e or 315b-c HGB

Business Model

Reference to chapter in our integrated report

3. Deutsche Bérse: Fundamental information about the Group
4. Our strategy and steering parameters

Involvement of top management

3. Deutsche Bérse: Fundamental information about the Group
(+ description in the respective chapters)

Risk

9. Risk management

Annual and consolidated financial statements

For the understanding of the non-financial statement, it is not
necessary to refer to individual amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements

Environmental matters

8. Our social environment

Employee matters

6. Our employees

Social matters

8. Our social environment

Respect of human rights

8. Our social environment

Combating corruption and bribery

9. Risk management

Product matters (as additional aspect)

7. Our customers and markets
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3. Deutsche Borse: Fundamental information about the Group

Business operations and Group structure

Deutsche Borse AG was established in 1992 and is a global company based in Frankfurt/Main, Ger-
many. It is the parent company of Deutsche Borse Group. Altogether, we have over 11,000 employees
from 115 nations working at 55 sites.

As one of the world’s largest providers of market infrastructure, we provide our clients with a broad spec-
trum of products and services along the value chain of financial market transactions: starting with the
ESG business, indices and analytics solutions, going on to downstream services for trading, clearing and
order settlement, through to custody services for securities and funds, and services for managing liquid-
ity and collateral. We also develop and operate the IT systems that support all these processes. In addi-
tion to securities, our platforms are also used to trade derivatives, commodities, foreign exchange and
digital assets.

Our business takes place in four segments: Data & Analytics, Trading & Clearing, Fund Services and Se-
curities Services. This structure is used for the internal Group controlling and forms the basis for our fi-
nancial reporting.

In order to reduce the complexity of our financial reporting and to highlight the Group’s growth areas
more clearly, we adjusted our segment reporting in line with internal corporate management as of the
first quarter of 2022. The previous eight segments were condensed to the four segments mentioned
above.

For further details we refer to the segment reporting in the section “Results of operations”.

Deutsche Borse Group's full group of consolidated entities is set out in Note 35 to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements.

A full list of our trademarks is shown on our website.

Management

The governing bodies of Deutsche Borse AG, which is a German stock corporation, are the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, each of which has its own areas of re-
sponsibility.

The Annual General Meeting rules on the appropriation of distributable profit, appoints the shareholder
representatives on the Supervisory Board and discharges the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board
of liability. In addition, it rules on equity issuance and other matters governed by Aktiengesetz (AktG,
German Stock Corporation Act).

The Supervisory Board appoints, supervises, and advises the members of the Executive Board, and is
involved directly in decisions of fundamental importance to the Group. Additionally, it approves the an-
nual financial statements as well as the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Executive
Board. Members of the Supervisory Board are appointed for a period of three years, although the Annual
General Meeting may determine a shorter term of office when electing members. The composition of the
Supervisory Board is governed by the provisions of the German Co-determination Act (Mitbestimmungs-
gesetz). Deutsche Borse’s Supervisory Board comprises eight shareholder representatives and eight em-
ployee representatives in order to meet the growing demands placed upon Supervisory Board members
in connection with the company’s growth and that of the Group as a whole, particularly with regard to
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the diversity and internationalisation of Supervisory Board work. Further details are provided in the “Cor-

porate governance statement”.

The Executive Board is responsible for the management of the company, whereby the Chief Executive
Officer (CEOQ) coordinates the activities of the Executive Board members. In the 2022 financial year, the
Executive Board of Deutsche Borse AG comprised six members. The remuneration system and the remu-
neration paid to individual members are explained in more detail in the “Remuneration report”.

Organisational structure

Our organisation is divided into six Executive Board areas as follows:

Leadership structure

Group Executive Board

CEO CFO
T. Weimer

G. Pottmeyer

Clo/co0
C. Bohm

Trading & Clearing

T. Book

Governance,
People & Culture
H. Eckert

Pre- & Post-
Trading
S. Leithner

Group Strategy/ Financial Account-
Mergers & ing & Controlling
Acquisitions/

Chief of Staff

Group Communi- Investor Relations

cations & Marketing

Group Regulatory Treasury
Strategy
Group Audit Chief Risk Officer
Group Legal Purchasing & Facility
Management
Group Tax

Derivatives & Cash
Trading IT

Clearing and Risk IT

Group Security

IT Locations &

Digital Journey

Corporate IT

Chief Technology

Officer

Post Trade IT

Information Security

Compliance Program

IT Strategy/
Chief of Staff

Core Infrastructure
Services

IT Governance, Risk
and Transformation

Derivatives Markets
Trading

Clearing

Business Analytics &
Strategy

FX/360T

European Energy
Exchange (EEX)

Market Data +
Services

Cash Market

Chief Compliance
Officer

HR Global Business
Partner

People Strategy &
Initiatives

HR Global Services

Governance &
Organizational
Services

Strategy &
Governance

Clearstream Security
Services

Clearstream Fund
Services

Qontigo

1SS
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ESG governance

As of 2021 our Executive Board is informed frequently of relevant market and sales performance with
regard to ESG and ESG net revenue! and determines the strategic course on this basis. It is mainly moni-
tored and managed by our CEO and CFO, as well as via the segments: As part of the Group Strategy de-
partment the Group ESG Strategy team is responsible for the ESG activities within the Group and the re-
porting. It executes our climate strategy, conducts market trend analysis and works closely with the
business areas in implementing their product strategies. The Group Sustainability Board oversees the im-
plementation of the ESG strategy and the development of the ESG variables being part of the Executive
Board remuneration. The Board convenes four times a year and in 2022 its members comprised one
representative from each of the Executive Board divisions, plus the Head of Group ESG Strategy and one
Executive Board member (2022: CFO). The individual business areas are responsible for the concrete
implementation of the ESG strategy. In addition to the individual product areas, our risk management
function is also involved with ESG topics. (see chapter “Risk management”).

At the Supervisory Board level, the Strategy and Sustainability Committee established in 2021 deals pri-
marily with ESG and advises the Executive Board on matters of strategic importance.

Corporate purpose and value creation process

Our purpose is “We at Deutsche Borse create trust in the markets of today and tomorrow”. Trust is es-
sential for functioning markets and sustainable economies. We provide fair and transparent, reliable and
stable infrastructures that ensure safe and efficient markets around the globe. By providing market infra-
structure, we foster growth and thus contribute to the prosperity of future generations. This takes place
using a combination of several input factors of our value creation, which we describe below using the
[IRC framework.

Our value creation process

External requirements (regulations, rating agencies, etc.)

Intellectual capital Ectiianic peslik

Human capital Business model
Input Qutcome

Financial capital factors dimensions

Employees

Customers and markets

DEUTSCHE BORSE
GROUP

Partnerships Social environment

ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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According to IIRC terminology, we essentially need four capitals (input factors) to implement our busi-
ness model. We deploy these capitals within a binding regulatory framework: intellectual capital, human
capital, financial capital and partnerships. They enable us to create short, medium and long-term value
with our business model. Our result can be allocated to the following four outcome-dimensions:

Economic situation
As a fast-growing company we create financial value, substance and returns on which our investors, em-
ployees, customers and society can build.

Employees

As an employer, we take wide-ranging measures to enable our employees to fully realise their develop-
ment potential. Furthermore, we strengthen our employee satisfaction and loyalty. All this helps to build
an employer brand that illustrates what makes us unique and why talents should decide to work for us.

Customers and markets

Our products and services contribute to increase transparency for market participants and to enable
them to price in and integrate market developments, changes and transformations. In this way we ena-
ble better-informed decisions.

Social environment

Our value creation reaches far beyond what impacts us directly as a company — for example including
our own carbon emissions, human rights issues in the supply chain or our involvement in financial mar-
ket initiatives.

This stylised value creation process forms the basis for the other chapters in this combined management
report and for our management and steering parameters using various KPI, which we describe in the
next chapter.

4. Our strategy and steering parameters

The market environment in which we operate is very dynamic. This applies not only to the financial
markets themselves, which we organise and operate via our platforms. Our competitive environment as
a market infrastructure operator is also permanently in flux. Over the past twenty years, the market has
seen a significant consolidation of providers around the world, mainly due to the scalability of the market
infrastructure providers' business models. This scalability is expected to increase in the coming years as
the transaction costs will decrease even further via the use of cloud-based technologies and blockchain.

Many global providers have taken advantage of this development to specialise in selected areas of their
value chain — with organic initiatives, but also through specific acquisitions, which have been particu-
larly favoured by the low interest rate in the past ten years. We extended our market leadership in the
European Union as a fully integrated, end-to-end provider with a broad value chain, from data and ana-
lytics to trading and clearing and securities services — both via organic growth and focused acquisitions.
As a hybrid of a technology company and financial services provider, we thus have a high degree of inte-
gration and diversification in our value chain. This forms the basis for attractive growth opportunities and
also makes our business model more robust and resilient to market fluctuations or secular shifts.

25



Deutsche Borse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards

Management report | Our strategy and steering parameters
Financial statements and notes

Remuneration Report

Further information

We have secured our good market position and continued viability by means of our growth strategy,
which defines the strategic direction and financial targets. In our strategy we make a fundamental dis-
tinction between organic growth, generated from existing operations, and inorganic growth by means of
focused acquisitions to expand our value chain. Organic growth consists mainly of secular initiatives
such as product innovation or new customer wins, as well as cyclical growth due to interest rate effects
or market volatility.

Our strategy addresses existing market trends in our four operating segments: Data & Analytics, Trading
& Clearing, Fund Services and Securities Services. The core of our strategy consists of the Group strat-
egy, which also includes our ESG strategy, and the business strategies of the segments. The priorities of
the HR strategy (see chapter “Our employees”), the IT strategy and the risk strategy are derived from
those.

The main secular growth drivers support the growth opportunities for our business segments as follows:
- Data & Analytics: higher demand for passive investments and ESG services and the increasing
importance of the buy side
- Trading & Clearing: the shift from OTC to exchange-based trading
- Fund Services: the trend towards more outsourcing and efficiency

Additional cyclical growth components may be short-term market fluctuations in the Trading & Clearing
segment or interest rate effects in Securities Services. In our M&A activities, we have decided to focus on
data, analytics and ESG services in the Data & Analytics segment, on commodities and forex trading in
Trading & Clearing and on Fund Services.

Four main features of our business model support our growth strategy:

- High scalability. All the Group’s business segments are scalable, with Trading & Clearing in first
place. This maintains our high profitability across all segments.

- Low risk profile. The risk profile is largely determined by operational risks, which can be well man-
aged, as described in more detail in the chapter “Risk management”.

- Low capital intensity. The regulatory capital requirement is limited and is mainly dependent on op-
erating risks in the banking units. This enables us to keep investing in our growth strategy.

- High free liquidity. The dividend payout is between 40-60 per cent of net income. Remaining cash
is preferably reinvested in the business to grow organically and support the M&A strategy.

We made considerable progress with our strategy in the course of the last financial year, meeting the
ambitious growth targets of our Compass 2023 growth strategy as early as 2022 — one year ahead of
target.

In addition to organic growth, our M&A strategy also contributed to growth — while maintaining profitabil-
ity. Mergers and acquisitions helped to increase the share of net revenue from Data & Analytics from 5
per cent in 2019 to 15 per cent in the reporting year. In total, the assets acquired currently contribute
some 15 per cent of net revenue. The following table shows all the realised growth initiatives since
2019.
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Our growth initiatives

Organic growth Main M&A projects
Data & Analytics o Strong growth in ESG products and services * Axioma
e New customers for index and analytics * ISS

* Rainmaker Information
* Discovery Data

Trading & Clearing . Product innovation (financial derivatives) e Quantitative Brokers
. Market share (commodities, OTC clearing) ¢ Crypto Finance
o New customers (FX)
. Fixed-income derivatives

. Volatility: Index derivatives

Fund Services . New outsourcing customers and additional services (distri- ¢ Fondcenter
bution, data) * Ausmaq
* Kneip

Expand global presence in fixed-income securities services ¢ LuxCSD
[ Net interest income

Securities Services

We anticipate further growth to come from the digital transformation of our business models, which we
can leverage with new technologies such as cloud services, distributed ledger technology (DLT) or artifi-
cial intelligence, either on our own or in cooperation with partners. An important implementation chan-
nel for us is our corporate venture capital portfolio, which operates under the DB1 Ventures brand.

We review our organic growth initiatives continuously, which we rely on particularly for expansion in
structural growth markets and asset classes. As far as external growth opportunities are concerned, the
focus is on strengthening existing high-growth areas, and on exploring new asset classes and services.
Key initiatives and growth drivers are also described in more detail in the “Report on opportunities” sec-
tion.

The “Report on expected developments” section describes expected developments in the 2023 financial
year.

Moreover, the remuneration system for the Executive Board and managers creates a number of incen-
tives for growth in the individual business segments. The “Remuneration report” provides a detailed de-
scription of all targets.

In addition to the Group strategy and the business strategies of the segments, Deutsche Borse Group has
an ESG strategy. It maps the topic of sustainability both in our Group strategy and along our business
areas. It can be summarised in four areas:

1. Lead by example. By integrating four ESG targets (employee satisfaction, ESG net revenues?, carbon
neutrality and ESG ratings) into our Executive Board remuneration we assume our corporate respon-
sibility in a holistic way. This is shown by the fact that we have all sustainability disclosures in our
report fully verified with reasonable assurance.

2. Increase transparency. With our trading platforms and reporting standards (Prime Standard and
guidelines) we create market clarity and provide orientation for private and institutional investors.
For further information see our chapter “Transparent markets”.

3. Provide solutions. With our products we enable our customers in the financial and real economy to
carry out their green transformation economically and efficiently. We earned around 8 per cent of

2 ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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our net revenue with ESG products in 2022. For further information see chapter “Definition of our
ESG net revenue”.

4. Measure impact. We systematically review all our sustainability activities for effectiveness. To under-
line their importance for the Group as a whole, sustainability indicators became part of our steering
parameters with effect from financial year 2021.

We have transformed our targets into key performance indicators (KPI), which we assign to our four
value creation categories.

Overview of chapters & key performance indicators

Key performance indicators Target 2022
Financial
10% CAGR 14% CAGR
) 2019-2023 2019-2022
Net revenue
>€4.1 bn' €4,337.6m
in 2022 in 2022
10% CAGR 15% CAGR
A 2019-2023 2019-2022
EBITDA
>€2.3 bn? €2,525.6 m
in 2022 in 2022
10% CAGR 15% CAGR
Cash EPS
2019-2023 2019-2022
ESG net revenue growth? >10% 31%
Employees
Employee satisfaction” >71.5% 73%
Women in leaderhsip positions®” >22% 23%
Customers and markets
System availability (customer facing IT)" >99.5% >99.9%
Social environment
COz-emissions per workspace <1.51 t CO, per workspace 1.01 t CO. per workspace

1) Originally ~€3.8 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)

2) Originally ~€2.2 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)

3) ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Borse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”

4) Group-wide target in senior management

*) Our most significant financial and non-financial key performance indicators. ESG net revenue growth is now classified as significant key financial performance indicator
due to the constantly changing regulatory requirements and the associated uncertainties.

Financial steering parameters

The most important key performance indicators for the management of our economic situation are net
revenue and EBITDA, since these are vital for the successful execution of our growth strategy and set in-
centives for profitable growth. The basis is net revenue as reported in the consolidated financial state-
ments. This consists of revenue, plus net treasury income from banking business and similar business,
plus other operating income, less volume-related costs. The strategic focus on growth means that net
revenue is very important for our Group. One of the most important pillars of the corporate strategy, in
addition to absolute growth, is the profitability of this growth. To indicate this strategic relevance,
EBITDA is one of the core metrics for controlling our Group and implementing the corporate strategy.
EBITDA stands for earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisations and as such is a gauge
of our profitability. It is a common indicator for measuring profitability. Another key financial control crite-
rion is earnings per share before purchase price allocations (Cash EPS), since all profit and loss effects
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are reflected in this indicator, and it can therefore be used to measure the successful implementation of
the growth strategy.

ESG net revenue growth? is the indicator for the ESG business.

Steering parameters employees

We use two significant key performance indicators for measuring employee-related factors: the first indi-
cator is used to measure employee satisfaction on an annual basis and to take action based on the re-
sults. The second indicator is used to calculate the percentage of women in leadership positions on an
annual basis. In terms of employee satisfaction, we have defined a result of more than 71.5 per cent ap-
proval in the annual employee survey as the target. With regard to the proportion of women in manage-
ment positions, the Executive Board has set itself the target of achieving a proportion of over 22 per cent
in upper management at global Group level by the end of 2022 as part of a voluntary commitment. For
2023, we have set ourselves the target of achieving a proportion of women in management positions of
23 per cent in upper management and 33 per cent in lower management by the end of 2023 (see “Our
employees”).

Steering parameters Customers and markets

As a provider of market infrastructure we maintain impartial, transparent and secure marketplaces. In
this context we use our systems availability as a key performance indicator. A value of more than 99.5
per cent is the target for our systems availability (see section "Our customers and markets").

Steering parameters social environment

Our aim is to keep our Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon emissions and those for flights and shuttle buses to
1.51 tCO, per workspace or less. We will offset the remaining emissions mentioned above by means of
emission reduction projects (see chapter “Our social environment”).

In terms of ESG ratings, our aim is to achieve a place in the 90th percentile in three leading independ-
ent ESG ratings (S&P, Sustainalytics, MSCI). In addition to the actual ESG rating, we therefore monitor
the development of our ESG ratings over the years, in order to systematically identify and realise poten-
tial for improvements (see section “Our stakeholder engagement”).

Outside-in steering parameters ratings

We use our credit ratings from external agencies as an additional control metric. This outside-in perspec-
tive serves as an external evaluation of our activities, results and projects and so has an important con-
trol function.

In terms of credit ratings, we aim at Group level for a net debt/EBITDA ratio not exceeding 1.75 and free
funds from operations (FFO) relative to net debt greater than or equal to 50 per cent, in order to achieve
the “minimum financial risk profile” consistent with the current AA rating in accordance with S&P Global
Ratings methodology. In addition, an interest coverage ratio of at least 14 is targeted for Deutsche Borse
Group using this methodology (see “Credit ratings” in the “Financial position” section).

3 ESG net revenue according to the internal Deutsche Bérse Group definition — see “Definition of our ESG net revenues”
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5. Our economic situation

In the following section we look at the macroeconomic and sector-specific environment, the course of
business, our earnings, the development of profitability and other financial performance indicators.

Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment

Secular growth factors and M&A are a core element of our strategy. We can plan them, manage them

and adjust them to external circumstances. Our business performance is also influenced by macroeco-

nomic and sector-specific factors that are beyond our control, however. In terms of the reporting year,

those factors particularly included Russia’s war of aggression against Ukraine and its impacts, as well as

the change in monetary policy by almost all central banks in response to high inflation rates. The follow-

ing aspects are particularly noteworthy:

= Uncertainty among market participants concerning the course of Russia’s war against Ukraine.

= High price volatility on electricity and gas markets, principally as a result of sanctions and restrictions
on gas imports.

= Higher prices, which are due mainly to a rapid increase in the rate of inflation.

= Higher base rates and tighter monetary policy to curb inflation by central banks in both the US and
Europe.

= Asignificant rise in the value of the US dollar against the euro.

= Local COVID-19 lockdowns, particularly in metropolitan areas in China, which caused problems for
supply chains.

= Regulatory projects and the resulting stricter requirements for market participants.

In its January 2023 estimate the International Monetary Fund (IMF) predicted slower global economic
growth of 3.4 per cent for 2022 (2021: 6.2 per cent). It expects the euro area to grow by 3.5 per cent
(2021: 5.3 per cent) and Germany by just 1.9 per cent (2021: 2.6 per cent).

Business developments

The 2022 financial year was marked particularly by the Russian war of aggression against Ukraine and
its economic impacts. Individual countries and communities of states quickly imposed a wide range of
sanctions, which also had an impact on commodities prices, making trading conditions more difficult
and causing investments to be redistributed. Altogether, this increased the uncertainty among investors
and so their need for hedging products across almost all asset classes. Average stock market volatility
went up accordingly in the financial year, with the VSTOXX index 36 per cent higher than the previous
year. One particular form of price volatility was also seen on the power and gas markets. A significant
reduction in the availability of natural gas and the weather conditions during the summer months, which
had an adverse effect on power plant operations, came together to cause a sharp increase in power and
gas prices. The hedging requirements and trading activity of market participants increased significantly
on these markets as a result. It was only when the gas storage facilities in Europe were almost full in
late October 2022 that the tension eased on power and gas markets.
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An increase in inflation rates was already apparent in the second half of 2021 in the US and the coun-

tries of the euro area. Central banks intervened by tightening their monetary policies and quickly raised

interest rates. In 2022 alone the US central bank (Fed) increased its interest rate corridor by more than
400 basis points to 4.25-4.50 per cent. The European Central Bank (ECB) was slightly more cautious

and only started raising interest rates towards the middle of the year. The ECB’s deposit rate at the end

of the financial year was 2.00 per cent. This mainly affected the net interest income from banking busi-
ness in the Securities Services segment.

Results of operations

As described in the “Business developments” section, the 2022 financial year was affected more
strongly by cyclical factors. Higher average volatility compared with the previous year resulted in signifi-
cantly higher trading volumes in the Trading & Clearing segment, particularly in the asset classes finan-
cial derivatives and commodities. Here equity index derivatives and gas products saw an exceptionally
strong increase in volumes. The US dollar’s strong rise against the euro also stimulated foreign exchange
trading. Margin fees from cash collateral deposits also went up significantly, as the requirements in the
clearing business were higher due to increased volatility. Increases in base rates by central banks to curb
high inflation rates had a primarily positive impact on net interest income from banking business in the
Securities Services segment. Uncertainty about the next interest rate hikes by central banks also in-
creased market participants’ need for hedging instruments and was reflected in higher trading volumes
for interest rate derivatives in the Trading & Clearing segment. The secular net revenue growth as a sig-
nificant component of our strategy also demonstrated strong performance in the financial year. Growth
was achieved, among other factors, thanks to higher demand for innovative products and to winning
new customers and gaining market share in the Trading & Clearing segment, particularly in the financial
derivatives and commaodities space. In addition, higher demand in the Data & Analytics segment for
products related to Governance Solutions, Corporate Solutions and ESG supported the secular growth.
The sale of our stake in the European trade repository REGIS-TR meant that the Securities Services seg-
ment profited from a disposal gain of around €50 million in the first quarter of 2022. The deconsolida-
tion of Tradegate Exchange GmbH also resulted in a positive one-time effect of some €13 million in the
Trading & Clearing segment in the second quarter of 2022.

Our net revenue therefore increased to €4,337.6 million in the 2022 financial year (2021:

€3,509.5 million). Net revenue growth of 24 per cent was made up of secular net revenue growth of 7
per cent, cyclical growth of 14 per cent and M&A effects of 3 per cent (for an explanation, see chapter
“Report on opportunities”).

In the reporting year, the increase of ESG-related net revenue® at Group level was generated almost ex-
clusively by higher demand for ESG products in Governance Solutions, Corporate Solutions and ESG An-
alytics in the Data & Analytics segment. Overall, the Group’s share of ESG-related net revenue increased
by 31 per cent compared to the previous year.

Operating costs went up 17 per cent year on year in 2022, to €-1,822.2 million (2021:

€-1,551.6 million). Of the total, 4 per cent is due to M&A-related growth and 3 per cent to exchange
rate effects resulting from the US dollar’s rise against the euro. The remaining organic cost increase of
10 per cent breaks down into 5 per cent higher costs, among other factors, due to inflation, which also
includes an inflation compensation bonus paid to employees, 3 per cent from variable and share-based
payments, and other costs of 2 per cent. Staff costs came to €-1,212.7 million in the reporting period
(2021: €-1,002.1 million) and other operating expenses to €-609.5 million (2021: €-549.5 million).

4 ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) amounted to €2,525.6 million
(2021: €2,043.7 million), an increase of 24 per cent. This includes the result from financial invest-
ments of €10.2 million (2021: €85.8 million). The significant decline is due mainly to higher valuation
effects in the previous year (€45 million) and weaker performance by various minority investments.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses, which are reported separately from the operating
costs, came to €-355.6 million (2021: €-293.7 million). The increase stems inter alia from purchase
price allocation effects for acquired companies, additional depreciation and amortisation on recognised
assets and impairment losses on software.

The financial result was €-63.5 million (2021: €-40.1 million) and included higher interest expenses
from the early refinancing of a corporate bond which was due to expire in the financial year, as well as
the issue of a new hybrid bond to strengthen the credit rating. Provisions were also recognised in the
second quarter of 2022 for interest on expected tax payments. The previous year’s result also benefited
from the positive impact of adjusting the expected interest rate for potential tax back-payments. The
Group’s tax ratio of 26 per cent was on par with the previous year.

Overall, the net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Borse Group shareholders was

€1,494.4 million (2021: €1,209.7 million). This represents a year-on-year increase of 24 per cent. Un-
diluted earnings per share were €8.14 million (2021: €6.59 million) for an average of 183.6 million
shares. Earnings per share before the effects of purchase price allocations (cash EPS) were €8.61
(2021: €6.98).

Net profit for the period attributable to non-controlling interests amounted to €68.8 million (2021:
€55.2 million) and mainly comprised earnings attributable to non-controlling shareholders of EEX
Group, ISS HoldCo Inc. and Qontigo GmbH.

Comparison of results of operations with the forecast for 2022

On the basis of our diversified business model and the resulting growth opportunities, we predicted an
increase in net revenue to some €3.8 billion for the 2022 financial year. Over the course of the financial
year, this forecast has been raised to more than €4.1 billion. The growth rate for secular net revenue
should be at least 5 per cent. We expected additional net revenue contributions from acquisitions, partic-
ularly of ISS. Business areas dependent on cyclical factors were also predicted to see the first slightly
positive effects on cyclical net revenue in the 2022 financial year as a result of lower market volatility in
2021 and potential US interest rate rises. However, there was no sign of the rapid increase in inflation
which resulted in massive intervention by central banks. At the time of the forecast it was possible to see
the deteriorating conflict between Russia and Ukraine, but its escalation and far-reaching macroeco-
nomic impacts could not be predicted in full. Due to the significant changes in the market situation, par-
ticularly in terms of higher market volatility and higher interest rates worldwide, the proportion of the
Group’s net revenue growth attributable to cyclical effects increased very sharply to 14 per cent. The
share accounted for by secular net revenue growth was slightly above expectations at 7 per cent. This
meant that we significantly exceeded our forecast overall, with net revenue of €4,337.6 million.
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We expected ESG net revenue® to increase by more than 10 per cent in the financial year. With growth
of 31 per cent, we also exceeded this forecast.

Furthermore, we predicted an increase in earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) to around €2.2 billion. This guidance was also increased to more than €2.3 billion in the
course of the financial year. Operating costs went up by more than originally expected, due partly to the
stronger US dollar and higher inflation. Despite this, EBITDA climbed by 24 per cent to €2,525.6 mil-
lion, which is significantly higher than forecast.

Comparison of financial position with the forecast for 2022

As expected, the figure of 1.2 was below the target of 1.75 for maximum net debt for rating purposes in
relation to EBITDA. The ratio of free funds from operations (FFO) was 68 per cent and thus greater than
the minimum of 50 per cent. The cash flow from operating activities was significantly positive. Invest-
ments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment stood at €323.5 million and was greater
than the planned amount of €200 million. The increase is due mainly to IT and growth investments.
Based on the dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting of €3.60 per share, the dividend ratio of
44 per cent will be in the range of 40 to 60 per cent.

Comparison forecast 2022 with financial year 2022

Forecast 2022 Financial year

2022

€bn €m

Net revenue >4.1! 4,337.6
EBITDA >2.3° 2,525.6
ESG net revenue growth? >10% 31%

1) Originally ~€ 3.8 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)
2) Originally ~€ 2.2 billion (guidance raised over the course of the financial year)
3) ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Borse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”

Development of profitability

Deutsche Borse Group's return on shareholders’ equity expresses the ratio of net income after taxes to
average equity available to the Group during the course of 2022. In the reporting year, it was at 18.8
percent (2021: 18.2 per cent).

° ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Borse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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Data & Analytics segment

Key indicators Data & Analytics segment

2022 2021 Change

€m €m %

Net revenue' 651.7 482.6 35
Index 215.6 182.8 18
Analytics 75.4 75.9 -1
ESG! 238.6 158.2 51
Other'? 122.1 65.7 86
Operating costs -383.2 -278.7 37
EBITDA 261.5 244.0 7

1) Institutional Shareholder Services, Inc. was fully consolidated as of 25 February 2021.
2) Includes, among other factors, the consolidation of Discovery Data, Inc. and Rainmaker Information Pty Ltd.

Since the first quarter of 2022, the Data & Analytics segment has consisted of the former Qontigo and
ISS segments. One element of our reporting here is our index business, which offers issuers an extensive
range of indices, thus providing these issuers with a wealth of opportunities to create financial instru-
ments for even the most diverse investment strategies. Net revenue in this business is made up of ETF,
exchange and other licence revenue. While ETF licence revenues depend on the volume invested in ex-
change-traded index funds (ETFs) based on the STOXX® and DAX® indices, exchange licence revenues
are derived mainly from the volume traded in index derivatives on STOXX and DAX indices on Eurex. By
licencing sustainable index solutions that mirror the entire index product portfolio, we contribute to the
ESG trend. The Data & Analytics segment also includes the analytics business. Here we offer our cus-
tomers software for risk analytics and portfolio management.

Data & Analytics also comprises our ESG business, which is generated by our subsidiary Institutional
Shareholder Services Inc. (ISS) that was acquired in early 2021. ISS is a US-based, leading global pro-
vider of corporate governance and sustainable investment solutions, market intelligence and editorial
content, especially for institutional investors and companies. ISS operates at-arm’s-length and we have
adopted principles protecting the independence and integrity of ISS’ research offerings. The net revenue
summarised under ESG includes the Corporate Solutions, ESG Analytics and Governance Solutions busi-
nesses. With this ISS was the largest contributor regarding ESG net revenue® within our Group in 2022.

In 2022, the Data & Analytics segment benefitted significantly from the ongoing strong demand for ESG
products. The two businesses Governance Solutions (especially ISS” well-established services for proxy
solutions) and ESG Analytics (support for institutional investors and banks to develop responsible invest-
ment strategies and ESG reporting) both made very positive contributions to net revenue growth in the
reporting period. At the same time, the Corporate Solutions unit, which is also part of ESG, reported
strong growth due to higher demand from companies seeking to comply with market standards. As a
leading provider, ISS supports its clients in terms of designing and managing their corporate governance,
executive compensation, sustainability, and cyber risk programmes. Growth in the “Other” line is due
partly to the acquisitions of Discovery Data and Rainmaker in 2021. At the same time, the existing
range of market intelligence products also saw good growth. In addition, currency effects had a positive
impact on net revenue thanks to the stronger US dollar.

© ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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In the Index business, the financial year was dominated by uncertainty among market participants due
to the geopolitical and monetary policy situation, so equity indices, which had risen sharply to record
highs in the previous year, fell back significantly over the course of 2022. For example, both the DAX
and the leading European index, the EURO STOXX 50, lost around 10 per cent of their value in the re-
porting period. Accordingly, the average assets under management in ETF based on STOXX and DAX in-
dices declined in 2022. Business with exchange licences increased significantly, however, due to much
higher market volatility. Other licence revenues benefited from growth in business with buy-side clients
and issuers of structured products. Index net revenue also included a volume-based licence fee reim-
bursement of €19 million from the Trading & Clearing segment, Financial Derivatives. Net revenue in the
analytics business also significantly rose year on year. This was due mainly to positive currency effects.

The EBITDA of the 2021 financial year contained a positive effect of some €45 million related to the for-
mer equity method measurement of Clarity Al, Inc. on the result from financial investments.

Trading & Clearing segment

Key indicators Trading & Clearing segment

2022 2021 Change

€m €m %

Net revenue 2,187.1 1,809.1 21
Financial derivatives 1,234.4 995.8 24
Equities 509.0 439.4 16
Interest rates 367.9 282.8 30
Margin fees 117.6 68.0 73

Other 239.9 205.6 17
Commodities 475.5 341.5 39
Power 183.3 188.2 -3

Gas 89.2 54.9 62
Other 203.0 98.4 106

Cash equities 344.4 364.0 -5
Trading 176.2 188.6 -7
Other 168.2 175.4 -4
Foreign exchange 132.8 107.8 23
Operating costs -876.3 -770.7 14
EBITDA 1,330.8 1,083.6 23

Since the first quarter of 2022, the Trading & Clearing segment consists of the former Eurex, EEX, Xetra
and 360T segments. In the financial derivatives asset class, we report on the performance in the finan-
cial derivatives trading and clearing business at Eurex Exchange. Performance is driven mainly by the
trading activities of institutional investors and proprietary trading by professional market participants and
depends, to a large extent, on market volatility and our clients’ hedging needs. Revenue is also generated
from marketing data and infrastructure services.
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In the commodities asset class, we report on trading activities on the EEX Group’s platforms in Europe,
Asia and North America. The EEX Group operates marketplaces and clearing houses for energy and
commodity products, connecting more than 800 participants around the world. The product portfolio
comprises contracts on energy, environmental, freight and agricultural products. The EEX Group’s most
important revenue drivers are the power spot and derivatives markets, and the gas markets. These in-
clude products such as green power derivatives, emissions trading and certificates of origin.

The cash equities asset class shows the development of our trading venues in the cash market (Xetra®
and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange). Besides trading and clearing services income, revenue stems from
the ongoing listing of companies’ securities and exchange admissions, the marketing of trading data, in-
frastructure services and from services provided to partner exchanges. The activities of the recently ac-
quired Crypto Finance AG are also recognised here as of December 2021. The acquisition of a majority
stake in this provider of trading, custody and investment services for digital assets has enabled us to tap
into a new asset class.

The Trading & Clearing segment also includes the foreign exchange asset class, which reports on busi-
ness performance on the trading platforms operated by our subsidiary 360T. Net revenue is generated
mainly by the trading activities of institutional investors, banks and internationally active companies.

The Trading & Clearing segment contributes to our Group’s ESG net revenue’ in various ways. One is the
broad product portfolio that exists for sustainable investment opportunities, such as ESG equity index
derivatives and ESG interest rate derivatives, which are traded on the Eurex platform. Our EEX subsidiary
focuses on developing sustainable commodity markets, for example, by trading European emissions cer-
tificates. EEX pursued various initiatives in this area in 2022, which made it the second-largest contribu-
tor to the Group’s ESG net revenue®. Finally, products related to trading in green bonds and ESG ETFs
also contribute to ESG net revenue®.

The 2022 financial year was marked by the geopolitical situation and the resulting market risks, rising
inflation and increases in interest rates by central banks. The resulting uncertainty in all market areas,
combined with higher market volatility, led to a greater need for trading and hedging across all asset
classes. Here our business model clearly proved its scalability.

In the case of financial derivatives, these factors were reflected particularly in significantly higher trading
volumes in equity index derivatives (+21 per cent) and interest rate derivatives (420 per cent), which
led to a strong increase in net revenue from these products. In the product group interest rate deriva-
tives, the central clearing of over-the-counter (OTC) traded, euro-denominated interest rate derivatives
had a positive effect. The outstanding notional volume rose by some 30 per cent over the year to €27
trillion. This corresponds to a global market share of 20 per cent of all OTC interest rate derivatives de-
nominated in euros (as of January 2023). In the wake of higher market volatility, the collateral required
for trading financial derivatives also increased, resulting in significantly higher net revenue in this area.

7 ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Borse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
8 ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
¢ ESG net revenue according to the internal definition of Deutsche Bérse Group — see “Definition of our ESG net revenue”
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Driven by great uncertainty on energy markets, trading and clearing volumes for gas products more than
doubled. In combination with market share gains in the spot and derivatives markets, this meant that
the commodities business made a positive contribution to segment performance. Net revenue from the
power trading business declined slightly year on year in 2022, despite winning market share, because
trading activity on power markets was lower overall due to the higher margin requirements. Net interest
income on collateral deposited for commodities trading also increased as a result of increased market
volatility and thus made a very positive contribution to the other net revenue in this asset class.

In the cash equities business, global stock markets came under pressure due to the central banks’ mon-
etary policy. As a result, trading volumes on the cash market in 2022 were slightly lower than in the
previous year. The deconsolidation of Tradegate Exchange GmbH led to a positive one-time effect of €13
million in the second quarter. In addition, the previous year’s net revenue included a positive effect of
approximately €16 million resulting from the sale of the Regulatory Reporting Hub. Secular growth in
the listing business decreased slightly due to reduced activity accessing capital markets.

In foreign exchange trading, higher volatility on currency markets had a very positive impact on average

daily trading volumes, which rose by some 30 per cent over the year. This development is also reflected
in the net revenue generated by this business.

Fund Services segment

Key indicators Fund Services segment

2022 2021 Change

€m €m %

Net revenue 376.9 382.4 -2
Fund processing 211.5 203.2 4
Fund distribution 89.7 77.6 16
Other 74.7 101.6 -26
Operating costs -171.5 -125.9 36
EBITDA 203.8 255.9 -20

1) Kneip Communication S.A. was fully consolidated as of 31 March 2022, see Note 2.

The Fund Services segment, which was known as IFS until the first quarter of 2022, summarises order
routing and settlement activity and custody volumes of mutual, exchange-traded, and alternative funds
processed by Clearstream in the line fund processing. Clients can settle and manage their entire fund
portfolio via the Vestima® fund processing platform. The fund distribution business consists of the fund
platform business at Clearstream Fund Centre. With this the segment offers one of the leading platforms
for fund services in the European market. Fund Services’ ESG product range consists of custody and set-
tlement services for ESG funds, where investors see sustainability features. Net revenue in this segment
is largely a function of the value of assets under custody and the number of orders and transactions pro-
cessed.
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The financial year in the Fund Services segment was defined by lower market index levels, resulting
from market participants’ uncertainty concerning monetary policy measures, which put stock markets
around the world under pressure. Despite the difficult market environment, both fund processing and
fund distribution reported further gains thanks to organic product development, combined with broader
market coverage and new customer wins, and thus confirmed the ongoing growth trend in the fund ser-
vices sector.

At the end of March 2022, Deutsche Borse AG acquired Kneip Communication S.A. to expand its range
of data services in the fund space. Under the terms of the deal, Deutsche Borse AG acquired 100 per
cent of the shares in the Luxembourg-based fund data manager. The revenue generated by Kneip Com-
munication S.A. is recognised in the Fund Services segment’s other net revenue. In the second quarter
of the previous year, this also included a positive valuation effect of around €40 million from the acquisi-
tion of the remaining shares in Clearstream Fund Centre.

Securities Services segment

Key indicators Securities Services segment

2022 2021 Change

€m €m %

Net revenue 1,122.9 835.4 34
Custody 585.0 526.1 11
Settlement 104.8 120.2 -13
Net interest income from banking business 260.0 50.0 420
Other 173.1! 139.1 24
Operating costs -391.2 -376.3 4
EBITDA 729.5 459.6 59

1) The deconsolidation of REGIS-TR was completed on 31 March 2022.

Our settlement and custody activities are reported under the Securities Services segment (former Clear-
stream segment). In providing the post-trade infrastructure for Eurobonds and other markets, our subsid-
iary Clearstream is responsible for the issuance, settlement, management, and custody of securities from
60 domestic markets worldwide, plus the international market. Net revenue in this segment is driven
mainly by the volume and value of securities under custody, which determine the deposit fees. The set-
tlement business depends primarily on the number of settlement transactions processed by Clearstream
via stock exchanges as well as over the counter (OTC). This segment also includes net interest income
from banking business. Securities Services contributes to the ESG business with services for proxy voting
instruction and distribution services, offered as part of investor services supporting customers to comply
with regulatory, governance and market standard requirements

The Securities Services segment was affected most in 2022 by the monetary policy measures taken by
central banks around the world in response to higher inflation. Net interest income from banking busi-
ness, which in the Securities Services segment stems from our clients’ cash deposits, benefitted signifi-
cantly from increased reference rate levels in both the US and Europe. The average increase in cash bal-
ances of around 20 per cent also made a positive contribution, especially with regard to US dollar
deposits. The cash handling fee which had been introduced in 2020 was therefore cancelled again in
the course of the year, both for US dollars and euros.
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Bond markets saw a high level of issuance throughout the 2022 reporting year, particularly by the pub-
lic sector. This resulted, among other things, in a 3 per cent increase in the average value of assets un-
der custody in the Central Securities Depository (CSD) and the International Central Securities Depository
(ICSD). The average outstanding volume in the collateral management and securities lending business
increased by around 6 per cent in the reporting period. Coupled with the more restrictive monetary pol-
icy measures, this led to an increase in net revenue from this area. The number of settlement transac-
tions was down on the previous year. This was related to the macroeconomic situation, which led to less
trading on the stock markets and thus less need for settlement services. Accordingly, net revenue in this
area also declined.

The sale of our stake in the European trade repository REGIS-TR meant that other net revenue benefitted
from a disposal gain of some €50 million in the first quarter of 2022.

Definition of our ESG net revenue

The EU Taxonomy Regulation does not apply directly to our business model and is therefore not suitable
as a reference framework for classifying our products and services in terms of sustainability. We therefore
devised our own definition of ESG net revenue in the course of a strategic dialogue. Since 2021, we
have been explicitly measuring our ESG net revenue according to this definition, which we describe in
more detail below. With regard to the EU taxonomy, we refer to the chapter “Disclosures on EU Taxon-

”

omy”.

The products and services of our respective segments generate economic value in different areas of the
financial sector and the real economy and are often not comparable. From a Group perspective, this re-
quires a wide-ranging definition of ESG net revenue, which is then broken down into more detail at the
segment level. From the Group perspective, net revenues are deemed to be ESG net revenue if the prod-
ucts concerned are related to the transformation of the real and/or financial economy in terms of environ-
mental, social and governance aspects.

This relationship exists if our products can increase the general transparency of information in terms of
the three ESG dimensions — not only for investors, founders, asset managers and market participants,
but also for external observers.

Each operating segment in Deutsche Borse Group can increase its information transparency in the three
ESG dimensions by including ESG aspects in its product portfolio — be it by integrating ESG ratings, data
and/or analysis, or by reporting data on trading volumes for securities, derivatives, renewable energies
and/or commodities. Our product portfolio can increase information transparency specifically by provid-
ing generally accepted indicators as market signals.
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The following activities fall within our ESG reference framework for each segment:

ESG net revenue by segment

ESG

Data &
Analytics

The corresponding ESG net revenue includes the Corporate Solutions, ESG Analytics and Governance Solutions
businesses of ISS, excluding LiquidMetrix and SCAS (Securities Class Action Services).

Corporate Solutions offers web-based tools for governance and sustain-ability analytics, ESG data, ratings, scores,
and reporting helping corporate clients to helping them to design and manage their corporate governance,
executive compensation, and sustainability programs.

ESG Analytics comprises solutions enabling investors to develop and integrate responsible investing policies and
practices, engage on responsible investment issues and monitor portfolio company practices through screening
and analytics.

Governance Solutions includes objective governance research and recommendations, end-to-end proxy voting and
reporting solutions as well as an outsourced proxy service including i.a. the delivery of vote instructions.

Index
Analytics

The corresponding ESG net revenue includes all proceeds from licensing of sustainable index solutions.
Licensing revenues from such products can either be directly observed (e.g., in the case of ETF licenses) or an
allocation is performed whenever they are sold as part of packages. Revenues from sustainable Analytics
solutions will be added as soon as these products are launched and will be commercialized.

Cash equities

The corresponding ESG net revenue refers to the trading of ESG ETFs (best-in-class approach, exclusion method,
thematic investment) and green bonds but also to trainings on ESG matters such as the Master Class SDG
Strategy (E) seminars on fostering female financial literacy (S), or the examination of the qualified Supervisory
Board Member (G).

Financial
Trading & derivatives

ESG net revenue at Eurex comes from the trading of ESG equity index and fixed income index derivatives (based
on licenses from different index providers) on the trading platform.

Clearing  Foreign-

exchange The asset class does not yet report ESG net revenue.
The asset class commodities defines ESG net revenue as revenue linked to sustainable commodity markets
Commodities (environmental markets, both compliance and voluntary markets). This includes contracts on green power,

emission allowances, and related registry/ guarantee of origin services today. They may also refer to freight or
agricultural products in the future.

Fund Services

For Fund Services, ESG net revenue is defined as revenue linked to Vestima's custody and settlement services for
processed funds that have been classified as ESG funds. Vestima provides a single entry point and standardised
process for all fund transactions driving operational efficiency.

Securities Services

Securities Services defines ESG net revenue as revenues linked to proxy voting instruction / distribution services
offered as part of investor ser-vices. These products support compliance with regulatory, governance or market
standards, and shareholders in their governance rights to facilitate active ownership.

Financial position

Cash flow

Consolidated cash flow statement (condensed)

2022 2021

€m €m

Cash flows from operating activities (excluding CCP positions) 2,141.6 1,181.4
Cash flows from operating activities 2,483.6 908.9
Cash flows from investing activities -1,406.5 -2,168.0
Cash flows from financing activities -951.1 798.7
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2,128.2 2,040.0
Other cash and bank balances as at 31 December 1,275.6 1,029.7
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Cash and cash equivalents at Deutsche Borse Group, i.e. its liquidity, comprise cash and bank balances
— to the extent that these do not result from reinvesting current liabilities from cash deposits by market
participants — as well as receivables and liabilities from banking business with an original maturity of
three months or less. Change in other cash and bank balances was affected by cash used for acquisi-
tions, as well as cash outflows from operating activities.

Cash flow from operating activities was €2,141.6 million (2021: €1,181.4 million) before changes in
CCP positions on the reporting date and was made up primarily of net income for the period of
€1,563.2 million (2021: €1,264.9 million) and from changes in working capital.

Cash flow for investing activities came to €1,406.5 million in 2022 (2021: €2,168.0 million) which
was mainly for the acquisition of Kneip. This resulted in total cash outflow of €190.7 million. Capital
expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment of €323.5 million (2021:
€206.4 million) was higher than in the previous year, which consisted mainly of IT and growth invest-
ments.

Cash outflow for financing activities was €951.1 million (2021: cash inflow of €798.7 million) and
consists mainly of the dividend distributed for the 2021 financial year of €587.6 million (2021: divi-
dend for the 2020 financial year of €550.6 million), the issue of two bonds for a nominal €1.1 billion
for refinancing, the redemption of a bond for €600 million and the net repayment of commercial paper,
which resulted in a net cash outflow of €741.0 million.

Cash flow for 2022, which is the sum of all inflows and outflows of cash from operating, investing and
financing activities, came to €1,376.7 million (2021: €-460.5 million) and was dominated by cash
flow from operating activities.

The positive cash flow from operating activities, sufficient credit lines and our flexible management and
planning system meant that we were again adequately supplied with liquidity in 2022.

For further details of cash flow, see the consolidated cash flow statement and note 22 to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Liquidity management

We mainly cover our operational liquidity needs by means of internal financing, i.e. by retaining earn-
ings. Our aim is to hold sufficient liquidity to be able to meet all our payment obligations as they fall
due. We have an intra-Group cash pool to aggregate our surplus cash as far as regulatory and legal pro-
visions allow. Generally speaking, we invest cash on a short-term basis, in order to ensure rapid availa-
bility, and it is largely secured by liquid bonds from prime-rated issuers. Moreover, we have access to
external sources of financing, such as bilateral and syndicated credit lines, as well as a commercial pa-
per programme (see note 25 to the consolidated financial statements for details of financial risk manage-
ment). In recent years, we have leveraged our access to the capital markets to issue corporate bonds in
order to meet our structural financing needs.
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Debt instruments issued by Deutsche Borse AG (outstanding as at 31 December 2022)

Type Issue volume ISIN Term to Maturity  Coupon (p.a.) Listing
Fixed-rate bearer bond €500 m DEOOOA1684V3 10 years  October 2025 1.625%  Luxembourg/
Frankfurt
Fixed-rate bearer bond €500 m DEOOOA3H2457 5 years February 2026 0.000%  Luxembourg/
Frankfurt
Fixed-rate bearer bond €600 m DEOOOA2LQJ75 10 years March 2028 1.125%  Luxembourg/
Frankfurt
Fixed-rate bearer bond €500 m DEOOOA3H2465 10 years February 2031 0.125%  Luxembourg/
Frankfurt
Fixed-rate bearer bond €600 m  DEOOOA3MQXZ2 10 years April 2032 1.500%  Luxembourg/
Frankfurt
Fixed-rate bearer bond €600 m DEOOOA289N78 Call date June 2027/ 1.250% (until  Luxembourg/
(hybrid bond) 7 years/ final maturity in June 2047 call date) Frankfurt
27 years
Fixed-rate bearer bond €500 m  DEOOOA3MQQV5 Call date June 2028/  2.000% (until  Luxembourg/
(hybrid bond) 6.25 years/ final maturity June 2048 call date) Frankfurt

in 26.25 years

Capital management
The Group's clients generally expect us to maintain conservative interest coverage and leverage ratios,
and hence to achieve a good credit rating.

We are committed to achieving the minimum financial risk profile that is consistent with an AA rating in
accordance with S&P Global Ratings methodology. Furthermore, we endeavour to maintain the strong AA
credit ratings of our subsidiaries Clearstream Banking S.A. and Clearstream Banking AG, in order to en-
sure the long-term success of the Clearstream securities settlement and custody segment. The activities
of our Eurex Clearing AG subsidiary also require strong credit quality.

In the course of our capital management, we aim for the following relevant ratios:

= Net debt to EBITDA ratio: no more than 1.75

= Free funds from operations (FFO) to net debt: equal to or greater than 50 per cent
= Interest cover ratio: at least 14

= Tangible equity (for Clearstream Banking S.A.): total of at least €1,100 million

We follow the methodology of S&P Global Ratings closely when calculating these ratios.

= To determine EBITDA for rating purposes, reported EBITDA is adjusted by the result from financial in-
vestments, as well as by unfunded pension obligations. EBITDA for rating purposes in 2022 was
€2,541 million.

= FFO for rating purposes is calculated by deducting interest and tax expenses from EBITDA for rating
purposes. FFO for rating purposes in 2022 was €2,127 million.
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= The Group’s net debt for rating purposes is reconciled by first deducting 50 per cent of the hybrid
bond, as well as the surplus cash as at the reporting date, from gross debt (i.e. from interest-bearing
liabilities). Liabilities from operating leases and unfunded pension obligations are then added. Net debt
for rating purposes in 2022 was €3,129 million.

= |nterest expenses for rating purposes are calculated on the basis of interest expenses for financing, less
interest expenses of Group entities which are also financial institutions. These include Clearstream
Banking S.A., Clearstream Banking AG and Eurex Clearing AG. Interest expenses which are not related
to our financing are not included in the calculation of interest expenses. Only 50 per cent of the hybrid
bond is counted towards interest expenses. Interest expenses for rating purposes in 2022 came to €49
million.

The following table “Relevant key performance indicators” illustrates our calculation methodology and
shows the values for the reporting year.

Relevant key performance indicators

Target figures 2022
Net debt / EBITDA =1.75 1.2
Free funds from operations (FFO) / net debt % > 50 68
Interest coverage ratio > 14 52
Tangible equity of Clearstream Banking S.A. (as at the reporting date) €m = 1,100 1,464.3

We intend not to allow tangible equity (equity less intangible assets) of Clearstream Banking S.A. to fall
below €1,100 million. Clearstream Banking S.A. exceeded this during the year under review, with a fig-
ure of €1,464.3 million.

S&P Global Ratings bases the calculation of key performance indicators on the corresponding weighted
average of the reported or expected results of the previous, the current and the following reporting pe-
riod. To ensure the transparency of the key performance indicators, we report them based on the current
reporting period.

Dividends and share buy-backs

We generally aim to distribute dividends equivalent to between 40 and 60 per cent of adjusted net profit
for the period attributable to our shareholders. Within this range, we manage the actual payout ratio
mainly in relation to our business performance and based on continuity considerations. In addition, we
plan to invest the remaining available funds primarily in our complementary external development.
Should the Group not be able to invest these funds, additional distributions, particularly in the form of
share buy-backs, would be another possible use for them.

At the Annual General Meeting we will be proposing to pay a dividend of €3.60 per no-par value share
for the financial year 2022 (2021: €3.20). This dividend is equivalent to a distribution ratio of 49 per
cent of adjusted net profit for the period attributable our shareholders. Given 183.7 million no-par
shares bearing dividend rights, this would result in a total dividend payment of €661.6 million (2021:
€587.6 million). The number of shares with dividend rights is produced by deducting 6.3 million treas-
ury shares from our ordinary share capital of 190.0 million shares.
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Credit ratings

Credit ratings

Long-term Short-term
Deutsche Borse AG
S&P Global Ratings AA A-1+
Clearstream Banking S.A.
Fitch Ratings AA F1+
S&P Global Ratings AA A-1+
Clearstream Banking AG
S&P Global Ratings AA A-1+

Our credit quality is reviewed regularly by S&P Global Ratings, while Clearstream Banking S.A. is rated
by Fitch Ratings and S&P Global Ratings, and Clearstream Banking AG by S&P Global Ratings.

On 22 June 2022, Fitch Ratings affirmed the AA credit rating of Clearstream Banking S.A. with a stable
outlook. The rating reflects Clearstream Banking's leading position in the post-trade business, its diligent
liquidity management as well as its impeccable capitalisation.

S&P Global Ratings confirmed its AA credit rating for Deutsche Borse AG, Clearstream Banking AG and
Clearstream Banking S.A. on 30 January 2023. Deutsche Bérse AG’s rating reflects the assumption that
the Group will continue its growth strategy. Clearstream Banking S.A.’s rating reflects its strong risk man-
agement, minimal debt levels and strong position on the international capital markets — especially
through its international custody and transaction business.

44



Deutsche Borse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards
Management report | Our economic situation
Financial statements and notes

Remuneration Report

Further information

Net assets

Material changes to net assets are described below; the full consolidated balance sheet is shown in the

consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet (extract)

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m

ASSETS 269,108.8 222,919.3
Non-current assets 20,758.4 20,462.4
thereof intangible assets 8,610.0 8,162.9
thereof goodwill 5,913.7 5,596.0

thereof other intangible assets 1,942.6 1,913.6

thereof financial assets 11,322.8 11,460.4
thereof financial assets measured at amortised costs 1,894.7 1,634.7

thereof financial assets measured at FVOCI 182.8 227.1

thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 9,078.4 9,442 .4
Current assets 248,350.5 202,457.0
thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 129,932.8 103,195.7
thereof restricted bank balances 93,538.3 78,542.0
thereof other cash and bank balances 1,275.6 1,029.6
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 269,108.8 222,919.3
Equity 9,060.9 7,742.4
Liabilities 260,047.9 215,177.0
thereof non-current liabilities 14,183.9 13,623.0
thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 9,078.4 9,442 .4
thereof financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 4,535.0 3,539.9
thereof deferred tax liabilities 388.2 338.5
thereof current liabilities 245,864.0 201,554.0
thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 129,568.8 103,267.7
thereof financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 19,712.9 16,618.7
thereof cash deposits by market participants 93,283.1 78,292.5

Deutsche Borse Group's total assets increased year on year by 21 per cent. The increase in non-current
assets mainly results from the acquisition of Kneip, which is reflected in the increase in intangible as-
sets, as well as from currency-related fluctuations in goodwill. The significant increase in current assets
was particularly due to the volatility of the current assets of the restricted bank balances and financial

instruments of the central counterparties at the reporting date.
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Group equity rose by 17 per cent compared with the previous year. This was mainly due to the net profit
for the reporting year 2022, less the dividend payment for the previous financial year 2021.

Deutsche Borse Group invested a total of €323.5 million in the reporting year (2021: €206.4 million)
in intangible assets and property plant and equipment (capital expenditure, CAPEX). The Group’s largest
investments were in the Clearstream and Eurex segments. In total, Deutsche Borse Group invested
€323.5 million (2021: €206.4 million) in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (capital
expenditure, CAPEX) mainly in connection with IT and growth investments and relates to the Securities
Services and Trading & Clearing segments.

Working capital

Working capital comprises current assets less current liabilities, excluding technical closing-date items.
Current assets, excluding technical closing-date items, amounted to €2,588.6 million (2021:
€1,387.7 million). As Deutsche Barse Group collects fees for most of its services on a monthly basis,
the trade receivables of €2,289.2 million included in current assets as at 31 December 2022 were rela-
tively low compared with net revenue (31 December 2021: €969.4 million). The increase in trade re-
ceivables was particularly due to open items as of the reporting date from the high market volatility of
the sports markets within EEX Group, which were offset by an increase in trade payables at the same
time. The current liabilities of the Group, excluding technical closing-date items, amounted to
€2,802.8 million (2021: €1,214.7 million, excluding technical closing-date items). The Group had a
working capital of €214.2 million at year-end (2021: negative working capital of €173.0 million).

Technical closing-date items

The “financial instruments of the central counterparties” item relates to the function performed by Eurex

Clearing AG, European Commodity Clearing AG as well as Nodal Clear, LLC: since they act as the central
counterparties for Deutsche Borse Group's various markets, their financial instruments are carried in the

balance sheet at their fair value. The financial instruments of the central counterparties are described in

detail in the section "risk management” of the combined management report and in notes 13 and 25 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Market participants linked to the Group’s clearing houses partly provide collateral in the form of cash de-
posits, which are subject to daily adjustments. The cash deposits are generally invested on a secured
basis overnight by the central counterparties and reported in the balance sheet under “restricted bank
balances”. The total value of cash deposits at the reporting dates relevant for the reporting period

(31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December) varied between €83.1 billion and €119.5 bil-
lion (2021: between €32.9 billion and €78.3 billion).
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Overall assessment of the economic position by the Executive Board

The 2022 financial year was particularly affected by the Russian war of aggression against Ukraine and
its economic impacts. Higher market volatility overall, including in financial derivatives and commodities
derivatives, reflected the great uncertainty and need for hedging among market participants, particularly
in the Trading & Clearing segment. A rapid rise in inflation also prompted central banks to tighten their
monetary policy and increase interest rates worldwide. This had a particularly positive impact on net in-
terest income from banking business in the Securities Services segment. By contrast, share prices fell on
stock markets at the same time as a result of higher interest rates. Increasing scepticism about the state
of the economy and lower expectations for medium-term corporate profits put additional pressure on
share prices. This was also reflected in the segments Trading & Clearing (cash equities), Fund Services
and Data & Analytics (index). With net revenue of €4,337.6 million, we achieved year-on-year growth of
24 per cent for the Group, which is significantly above the Executive Board’s expectations for the finan-
cial year. Growth from cyclical factors was strongest, accounting for 14 per cent. Another 7 per cent
stemmed from secular net revenue growth and 3 per cent from M&A activities. Growth in ESG-related
net revenue came to 31 per cent in the reporting year and resulted mainly from the Data & Analytics
segment (ESG). Costs went up by 17 per cent, due partly to M&A activities and the US dollar’s rise
against the euro. Higher inflation, higher variable and share-based payments and other cost increases
also contributed. Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) rose year on year
by 24 per cent to €2,525.6 million and so were also above the Executive Board’s expectations.

Based on this, the Executive Board considers that Deutsche Borse Group’s financial position remained
very solid during the reporting period. The Group generated high operating cash flows, as in previous
years. The ratio of net debt to EBITDA, which is important for the credit rating, came to 1.2 and was

thus below the limit of 1.75.

As in recent years, we are again proposing an increasing dividend for the 2022 financial year to our
shareholders. The proposed dividend is €3.60 (2021: €3.20), a year-on-year increase of 13 per cent.
Thus, the dividend ratio would decrease to 44 per cent (2021: 49 per cent), which reflects the Group’s
ambitions for inorganic growth.
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Deutsche Borse Group: five-year overview

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Consolidated income statement
Net revenue €m 2,779.7 2,936.0 3,213.8 3,509.5 4.337.6

Lhuesrﬁzfstsreasury result from banking and similar em 204.5 2477 196.6 142.7 5322
om 1302 1zms %07 ase e
gamrg;{‘lfztzeﬂfé[‘;g:)st tax, depreciation and em 1,443.7 16782  1,869.4  2,043.7  2,5256
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses €m -210.5 -226.2 -264.3 -293.7 - 355.6
oL prof Tor the period atrioutable fo Deutsche em 8243 10039 10799 12097 14944
Earnings per share (basic) € 4.46 5.47 5.89 6.59 8.14
Consolidated cash flow statement
Cash flows from operating activities €m 1,298.2 926.1 1,412.0 908.9 2,483.6
Consolidated balance sheet
Non-current assets €m 15,642.0 11,706.9 14,570.5 20,462.4 20,758.4
Equity €m 4,963.4 6,110.6 6,556.1 7,742.4 9,060.9
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities® €m 2,283.2 2,286,2 2,637.1 3,037.3 4,123.4
Performance indicators
Dividend per share € 2.70 2.90 3.00 3.20 3.60?
Dividend payout ratio® % 61 53 51 49 44*
Employees (average annual FTESs) 5,397 5,835 6,528 8,855 10,143
Deutsche Bérse shares
Year-end closing price € 104.95 140.15 139.25 147.10 161.40
Average market capitalisation €bn 21.5 24.0 27.7 27.0 30.9
Rating key figures
Net debt / EBITDA 1,1 1.0 1.0 2.0 1.2
Free Funds from Operations (FFO) / net debt % 69 79 76 38 68

1) Bonds that will mature in the following year are reported under “other current liabilities”

2) Proposal to the Annual General Meeting 2023

3) The ratios for the years 2018-2020 have been adjusted. The dividend payout ratio is determined using reported net profit.
4) Amount based on the proposal to the Annual General Meeting 2023
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6. Our employees

The commitment and skills of our employees are a vital cornerstone for Deutsche Borse Group. Together
with our corporate values of performance, reliability, integrity, openness and responsibility they define
our corporate culture and form the basis of our commercial success. For this reason we have an active
HR strategy, promote diversity and inclusion, and systematically measure how attractive we are as an
employer.

Human resources strategy

Working in its four strategic dimensions (Attract, Develop, Engage, Lead), our HR strategy aims to attract
the best talents, to develop them, to enable them to engage effectively and to continue their personal
and professional development These four dimensions form the foundation for four long-term projects
within which we want to create a flexible and sustainable working environment that offers our employ-
ees optimal working conditions.

Dimensions of our People Strategy

& & S, ol

Attract Develop Engage Lead
We want to be attractive The development of our We want to create a working We believe in acting as
for top talents. employees is close to our environment where everyone an example.
hearts. belongs and feels comfortable.

3
© pie) {@1

Trust@Work: We create a MissionGrow!: We create ideal DigitizeHR: We optimise our WorkFlows: We improve
sustainable working conditions for the professional HR processes. Group-wide processes.
environment. development of our employees.

Trust@Work is intended to create the conditions for effective collaboration in a world of hybrid work
across team boundaries and projects. In this context, we re-engaged our workforce and employees under
volatile COVID-19 pandemic restrictions with special focus on return to the office, mental health and
wellbeing. In this context we launched our hybrid working model and are continuing to transform our
offices into a space for collaboration, creativity and innovation. This process is backed up by DigitizeHR,
an initiative to fully digitise our operating HR processes and provide actionable analytics. MissionGrow!
is our initiative for optimising development opportunities for our employees. We continue to bank on
transparency, equal opportunities and a culture of continuous feedback. Based on the results of our Peo-
ple Survey 2021, the additional WorkFlows initiative was launched in 2022 to make Group-wide corpo-
rate processes more efficient and user-friendly as well as dedicated measures based on notable results.
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Employer attractiveness

We can only achieve lasting success if we attract and retain both new talents as well as specialized, ex-
perienced and engaged employees to Deutsche Borse Group and ensure they are enthusiastic about
working for us as their employer of choice. In this spirit, we are continuously working on the implemen-
tation of our talent attraction strategy by considering the market situation and adjust it accordingly. Our
strategy conveys the message that with us new talents become part of an international team that drives
positive change and is characterised by curiosity and an open mind. We welcome people from all differ-
ent origins, age groups and personal backgrounds, and want to give them the opportunity to grow with
us. We achieve this with a series of apprenticeships and training programmes. Internal courses — on
cloud computing, agile development methods and digitalisation, for example — are the logical continua-
tion of these apprenticeships and are supplemented by mentoring programmes and personality-based
courses, on communication, assuming responsibility and becoming a team player, for instance.

We expanded our existing range of development programmes in 2022. Since 2022, we have introduced
our new global talent programme Evolve! as well as a leadership development programme which is of-
fered across all career paths. These formats strengthen our personnel development offering.

Further information about participation by employees and managers in training and development
measures can be found in the table “Key data on Deutsche Bérse Group’s workforce as of 31 Decem-
ber 2022".

In our annual staff survey, the People Survey, which also deals with subjects such as pervading strategy
and teamwork, we got very satisfying marks for our attractiveness as an employer (84 per cent ap-
proval). The largely positive feedback we have received here underlines how we stand for a working en-
vironment which makes it easy for staff to reconcile their career and their private life, with flexible mod-
els for working hours, allowances for childcare, part-time degree courses and part-time work. For this
purpose, we survey the average value of the two topics Strategic Alignment & Organisational Framework
and Team Effectiveness & Collaboration annually. Our goal is to achieve a value of more than 71.5 per
cent. In 2022, we achieved a value of 73.0 per cent. The following graph “Results of our annual “Peo-
ple Survey 2022" shows what employees think about the subjects of understanding strategy and team-
work.
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Results of our annual “People Survey 2022

Strategic Alignment & Organisational Framework Team Effectiveness & Collaboration

14% 8%

Unfavorable 65% Unfavorable 81%
\ Favorable \ Favorable

21% / 11% /

Neutral Neutral

Promotion of diversity and inclusion

Deutsche Borse Group operates around the world. At our 55 locations around the world we have over
11,000 employees from the most diverse cultural backgrounds. Our diversity is not only apparent in the
origins of our employees, however, but also in the breadth of professional expertise and the many other
differences that make up each individual personality in our team.

We are convinced that this diversity is decisive for our global success. We see the wealth of individual
characteristics and strengths as the key to fulfilling our corporate purpose. For this reason, we strive to
create an inclusive working environment in which everyone feels welcome and where they feel comforta-
ble about contributing their ideas.

We are a signatory of the “Diversity Charter” and acknowledge our corporate social responsibility as ex-
pressed in the Code of Conduct that applies throughout the Group. A public Diversity & Inclusion state-
ment in which we express our appreciation of all present and future employees and a Diversity & Inclu-
sion policy constitute further elements of our diverse and inclusive working environment.

We do not tolerate any discrimination, whether on the grounds of age, gender, physical or health disabil-
ity, sexual orientation and identity, ethnic origin or belief and irrespective of whether behaviour among
employees is concerned or the placing of orders with third parties. We have therefore implemented pro-
cesses designed to ensure equal treatment in the selection of personnel and enable the Group to take
prompt action whenever discrimination is suspected. The low single-digit number of respective cases
have been reported in 2022 either by our whistle-blower system, to the respective Line Management or
directly to the local Human Resources Department. All relevant cases requiring further remedial actions
have been dealt in a fully compliant manner ensuring a high level of dignity and closed.
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Furthermore, we deliberately decided against the centralised management of our diversity and inclusion
programmes. The members of our Diversity & Inclusion council represent our global workforce and our
different minorities; they inform and advise the Executive Board on initiatives and act as trusted third
parties and personal contacts for the employees. The council strives to ensure that our everyday work-
space continues to be a place where everyone feels appreciated and gets the opportunities they deserve.

It remains a particular aspiration for us to increase the proportion of women at the management level.
Our various programmes for promoting talent, and so also for qualifying women for management posi-
tions, contribute to the long-term advancement of women. Other measures include focused succession
planning, as well as internal and external mentoring and training programmes. Exchanges among female
colleagues are encouraged by an internal women'’s network. Furthermore, we organised our “One Global
Team Week” with a focus on diverse abilities. We provided special support for applicants and our em-
ployees directly and indirectly effected by the military conflict in Ukraine. We are also committed to
providing better opportunities for underprivileged people through dedicated programs.

For details regarding targets for female quotas, please refer to the section entitled “Corporate governance
statement — target figures for the proportion of female executives beneath the Executive Board” and the
“Comparison with the forecast for 2022".

The results of our staff survey on diversity and inclusion confirm that our employees feel that they are
welcome here with us (92 per cent positive) and that they are treated fairly and respectfully by their
managers (95 per cent positive), regardless of their ethnic origins, their gender or their cultural back-
ground. This positive feedback confirms us in our intention to keep expanding our programme for diver-
sity and inclusion, in the spirit of creating a fully inclusive working environment.
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Staff developments

Deutsche Borse Group: Our Workforce

. North America 1,222 k. Asia 1,940
Central and
Latin America 51
EMEA 7,687

Germany 3,533
Luxembourg 1,213
Czech Republic 1,168
B Main Hub in Europe Ireland 536
Country with DBG employees Other countries 1,237

Australia 178 /

Q69 )
DDO I
11,078 55 115

Employees Locations worldwide Nationalities

As of 31 December 2022, Deutsche Borse Group employed a total of 11,078 staff (women: 4,546;

men: 6,514; other: 18; 31 December 2021: 10,200), drawn from 115 nationalities at 55 locations*°
worldwide. The average number of employees in the reporting period was 10,675 (2021: 9,347). At
Group level, this corresponds to an increase of around 14.2 per cent compared with the previous year.

19) The definition of locations has been adjusted from the year 2022 on (according to the updated categorization there are 59 locations for the year 2021).
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Employees

2022 2021
Average number of employees during the year 10,675 9,347
Employed at the reporting date 11,078 10,200
Employees (average annual FTESs) 10,143 8,855

Our fluctuation rate was 14.8 per cent (31 December 2021: 12.7 per cent). At the end of the year un-
der review, the average length of service for the company was 6.8 years (2021: 7.3 years).

The number of Deutsche Borse AG's employees rose by 29 during the year under review, to 1,772 as of
31 December 2022 (comprising 679 women and 1,093 men; 31 December 2021: 1,743). The aver-

age number of employees at Deutsche Borse AG in the 2022 financial year was 1,752 (2021: 1,715).
On 31 December 2022, employees of Deutsche Borse AG worked at 6 locations.

For more details, please refer to the table entitled “Key data on Deutsche Borse Group’s workforce as of

31 December 2022".

Key data on Deutsche Bdrse Group’s workforce as of 31 December 2022 (part 1)

Deutsche Borse AG

Deutsche Borse Group

All locations Germany Luxembourg Czech Republic
I I [ I

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female
Employees (Headcount)! 1,093 679 2,102 1,429 735 478 723 445
50 years and older 394 154 621 293 252 120 48 13
40—-49 years 272 155 566 352 242 150 222 107
30—-39 years 321 266 704 561 175 149 344 217
Under 30 years 106 104 211 223 66 59 109 108
Average age 44 40 43 40 44 42 38 35
Employee classification
Full-time employees 1,043 527 1,965 1,023 708 349 710 390
Part-time employees 50 152 137 406 27 129 13 55
Length of service
Under 5 years (%) 37 44 41 44 34 38 50 53
5-15 years (%) 36 33 35 35 27 25 48 47
Over 15 years (%) 27 23 24 21 39 37 2 0
Staff turnover
Joiners 102 76 250 184 85 63 127 95
Leavers 82 59 180 123 63 38 102 48
Training
Training days per 26 3.2 25 3.2 27 3.9 37 5.0

employee (FTESs)

1) Due to missing information (e.g. gender), headcounts of subcategories do not always add up to the total.
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Key data on Deutsche Bdrse Group’s workforce as of 31 December 2022 (part 2)

Deutsche Borse Group

Ireland USA Other locations
[ [ [ I
Total
(part 1 and
Male Female Male Female Male Female 2)
Employees (Headcount)* 276 260 756 403 1,922 1,531 11,078
50 years and older 23 13 168 105 222 80 1,960
40—-49 years 75 93 171 84 382 216 2,660
30—-39 years 78 91 239 104 617 458 3,742
Under 30 years 100 63 178 110 702 777 2,716
Average age 35 37 40 40 35 32 38
Employee classifacation
Full-time employees 275 230 754 389 1,884 1,449 10,144
Part-time employees 1 30 2 14 38 82 934
Length of service
Under 5 years (%) 64 41 57 59 72 74 54
5-15 years (%) 20 29 35 27 24 22 31
Over 15 years (%) 16 30 8 14 4 4 15
Staff turnover
Joiners 83 44 192 104 601 578 2,415
Leavers 61 46 181 75 340 323 1,581
Training
Training days per employee (FTES) 3.2 4.3 0.6 0.5 0.9 1.1 2.2

1) Due to missing information (e.g. gender), headcounts of subcategories do not always add up to the total.

7. Our customers and markets

Regarding the value creation for our customers and our market, we have identified in addition to the
measurable performance indicator of system availability (see section "Our strategy and control parame-
ters") two other important qualitative parameters as part of our materiality analysis: Infor-mation Security
and Market Transparency. As a provider of market infrastructure, we consider our fundamental responsi-
bility is to support the stability and economic success of capital markets. In this area, we make a distinc-
tion between mandatory requirements and non-binding guidelines for issuers. This chapter reports on
these aspects.

System stability and availability

The availability of our customer-facing trading systems is an important indicator of the overall quality
that we achieve when developing and operating our systems. Deutsche Borse AG operates its trading
systems for the cash and derivatives markets as redundant server installations, distributed across geo-
graphically separated, secure data centres. Should a trading system fail, it would be operated from the
second data centre. Together with clients, Deutsche Borse successfully simulated this scenario again in
2022 — as well as the impact of local disruptions — within the scope of the FIA Test (the annual disaster
recovery exercise conducted by the Futures Industry Association). This kind of disaster recovery test was
also carried out after every larger software release. Other disruptions, such as workstation malfunctions
or personnel failures, were also tested.
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Our multiple testing of software, its verified roll-out and the seamless monitoring of servers, network and
applications has brought availability back up to 99.9 per cent in the reporting year. The plan is to intro-
duce further technical measures to gain greater independence from infrastructure providers of critical
technologies.

Information security

In order to maintain the integrity of our Group’s data, and in order to mitigate and control the risks, we
are continuously implementing measures to increase information security. They include regular threat
analyses, for example, and the systematic testing of our applications for vulnerabilities. The aim is pro-
actively to make procedures, applications and technologies against cybercrime and other potential at-
tacks more robust by adapting them to the current threats and regulatory requirements. The foundation
for this is a set of policies and processes together with specific control measures based on the interna-
tional information security standard ISO/IEC 27001.

The information security function checks that the information security and information security risk man-
agement requirements are adhered to; it also monitors the systemic integration of, and compliance with,
security policies in the context of product and application development. The Group operates a situation
centre (Computer Emergency Response Team, CERT), which detects and assesses threats from cyber-
crime at an early stage, and coordinates risk mitigation measures in cooperation with the business units.
All'in all, our security approach includes overall measures in accordance with ISO/IEC 27001 covering
both the development phase and the operational phase.

Furthermore, we are a full member of national associations (Cyber Security Sharing and Analytics,
CSSA), trade associations (World Federation of Exchanges) and international networks (Financial Ser-
vices Information Sharing and Analysis Center, FS-ISAC) which contribute significantly towards a for-
ward-looking stance vis-a-vis cyber threats, and the development of strategies to fend off such threats.
Furthermore, we are a member of the ECB’s Euro Cyber Resilience Board for pan-European financial in-
frastructures (ECRB).

For a description of the risks we refer to the section in the chapter “Risk management”.
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Transparent markets
Our goal is to increase the transparency of our market participants from an issuer perspective while re-
maining a neutral provider of market infrastructure.

To this end, we are pursuing the following measures:
»  Provide binding transparency requirements such as Prime Standard
= (Create incentives for companies to publish ESG information such as the ESG Best Practice
Guide

For further information on our ESG products we refer to our website.

Mandatory transparency requirements

Section 42 (1) of Borsengesetz (BorsG, German Exchange Act) authorises exchanges to impose addi-
tional admission requirements and further notification obligations on equity issuers, for parts of the regu-
lated market. Frankfurter Wertpapierborse (FWB®, the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) used this authorisation
in its Exchange Rules (section IV) to create the “Prime Standard” in 2003. One feature of the Prime
Standard is the special post-admission obligations, which are monitored by FWB, with any breaches pe-
nalised by the exchange’s Sanctions Committee.

Admission to Prime Standard requires the fulfillment of the following transparency criteria:
»=  Financial statements according to international accounting standards (IFRS or US-GAAP)
= Publication of quarterly reports also in English-Maintenance of a corporate calendar
=  Maintenance of a corporate calendar
= At least one analyst conference per year
= Publication of ad-hoc announcements in English

Being listed in Prime Standard is a prerequisite for an equity to be included in the selection indices of
FWB Frankfurter Wertpapierborse (DAX®, MDAX®, SDAX®, TecDAX®).

All reports and data submitted to FWB are subsequently available on www.boerse-frankfurt.de/en, the
exchange’s website, under the respective issuer’'s name. Information is thus accessible to interested in-
vestors in a compact, easy-to-find manner, creating a particular level of market transparency within the
Prime Standard segment.

All the measures initiated by the Deutsche Borse Group in 2021 — revoking the Prime Standard listing
automatically in the event of insolvency, and the publication of action taken and penalties — were used
again in 2022.

In the period ending 31 December 2022, the Prime Standard listing was revoked automatically for one
issuer because it filed for insolvency. Decisions on measures and penalties imposed on issuers in ac-
cordance with section 22 (1) sentences 1 and 2, and section 42 (2) sentence 1 of Borsengesetz were
published on the exchange website on three occasions.
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ESG Best Practice Guide

In connection with the adoption of national policies for implementing the EU Directive on Corporate Sus-
tainability Reporting in effect since 2017, we took the opportunities offered by various meetings and fo-
rums with representatives from politics, business and society to position our ESG Best Practice Guide as
a manual for companies affected by the legislation. The guide compiles internationally accepted report-
ing methods and offers a structured guide on how to deal intelligently and, above all, efficiently with the
subject of sustainability in capital market communications. It is therefore particularly suitable for small
and medium-sized enterprises and for reporting beginners.

Product quality and customer satisfaction

Our customer focus is at the core of our Group-wide growth strategy (see “Our strategy and steering pa-
rameters”). By improving our organisation, we aim to better address changing client needs and gradually
realise unused potential by means of a Group-wide approach to marketing, sales, innovation and prod-
uct development.

Internally, we ensure product quality and customer satisfaction by means of functioning internal control
processes and functioning IT security (see “Risk management”).

We carry our regular customer surveys for external quality assurance. The aim is to identify customer
needs and prioritise and address enhancement requests to further improve products and services. The
results of this survey are taken up to take concrete actions to address customer needs. In 2020 the sur-
veys were harmonised Group-wide; they now also include a standardised Net Promoter Score (NPS).
The companies ask their customers how willing they would be to recommend the service provider — with
the aim of informing the Executive Board of the respective group company and employees about the re-
sults shortly after the survey is completed.

8. Our social environment

We describe the fourth category of our value creation in the section entitled “Our social environment”.
We consider ourselves to be an established part of society and wish to make a positive contribution here
too. In this heterogeneous field, our commitments therefore go well beyond those topics that concern us
directly as a company, such as our own carbon footprint or human rights in the supply chain. Our value
added is defined very broadly as a result. We play an active part in financial market initiatives, to in-
crease understanding of our market role and of our products and services. As a member of the UN
Global Compact (UNGC) and the Sustainable Stock Exchanges Initiative (SSE), Deutsche Borse Group
has committed itself to implementing the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the “2030
Agenda for Sustainable Development” set by the UN.

Our stakeholder engagement

We continuously review the regulatory requirements and the demands made of us by rating agencies
and (voluntary) market standards and initiatives. At the same time, we seek dialogue with our internal
and external stakeholders continuously and systematically and so determine the focus areas of our work
— by means of investor days, employee and client surveys, dialogue with rating agencies and society as
a whole, our involvement in various initiatives and our regular materiality analysis, in which we ask our
stakeholders about our company and our impact on society and the economy.
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We use this external validation of our own ESG endeavours through ESG ratings to continuously improve
and sharpen our ESG profile. Insights from the ESG rating process were also factored into our materiality
analysis.

The following rating agencies, projects and indices measure the sustainability performance of Deutsche
Borse AG every year and play a particular role for us:

ESG-Ratings
Valuation
\ \
Rating agency 2022 2021 Comments
S&P 79 73 We improved in all ESG dimensions
Sustainalytics 82 76 Increase in absolute result with market position still strong
MSCI AAA AAA AAA rating unchanged since 2016

Regarding the initiatives that we support, we refer to our website.
Climate strategy and reporting

As part of the Executive Board compensation system, we have integrated CO2- emissions from Scope 1,
Scope 2, flights and shuttle buses per workspace and their neutralization into our Executive Board remu-
neration since 2021. In this context, we defined a reference value of 1.51 t CO2 per workspace. Our
aim is to achieve a figure of 1.51 t CO2 per workspace or less. In the reporting year the figure came to
1.01t CO2 per workspace.

We will no longer pursue our target of reducing emissions per workspace by 70 percent compared with
the base year 2019 due to new framework conditions on the creditability of offset projects in CO2 re-
porting. In the future, it will be replaced by the reference value of 1.51 metric tons of CO2 per work-
space as set out in the Executive Board compensation system. Irrespective of this, following a compre-
hensive review of our carbon footprint, we are also recording all Scope 3 emissions relevant to Deutsche
Borse Group for the first time this year, which we report separately in the GRI Index.

In addition, we published an overview based on the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-re-
lated Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Information on our approach to climate risks and opportunities is
summarized in this overview. For more information, please refer to our website.

For further sustainability performance indicators we also refer to our GRI index on our website.
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Human rights matters

Deutsche Borse Group is aware of its corporate responsibility and is committed to the principles of sus-
tainability. We aspire to lead by example, by assuming our corporate responsibility in a holistic way and
reporting on how we do so. Our management approach for a Group-wide commitment to sustainability
therefore includes respect for human rights both in the supply chain and within the company. To ensure
that this is the case, our human rights declaration applies to all the activities of Deutsche Borse Group
and its consolidated entities, including our relations with employees, suppliers and clients. In addition,
we have introduced a Code of Conduct for suppliers and service providers, which comprises a compre-
hensive catalogue of environmental, social and governance criteria (ESG). Suppliers responsible for 99.
5 per cent of our purchasing volume have currently signed an agreement based on the Code of Conduct.
New suppliers must by default acknowledge and accept Deutsche Borse Group's Code of Conduct in our
Onboarding Tool.

9. Risk management

Risk management for Deutsche Borse AG and reporting of risks for the whole Deutsche Borse Group to
the Executive Board is centralised with the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) Area. Deutsche Borse AG's risk man-
agement is guided by the standards that apply to our banking regulated subsidiaries. This includes inter
alia regular reporting to the Executive Board on a number of metrics, covering operational risks (e.g. sys-
tem availability and litigations), financial risks, business risks and other special risks. For each of these
areas, the Executive Board has defined the so-called risk appetite, which is monitored by means of the
monthly reporting. The Group’s capital and liquidity position is also part of the detailed reporting to the
Executive Board. This ensures that the effectiveness of capital and liquidity planning is reviewed contin-
uously. The following sections will go into more detail regarding the above mentioned areas. Given their
economic importance, we will focus in particular on the largest credit institutions in our Group, namely
Clearstream Banking S.A. and Clearstream Banking AG (hereafter Clearstream, including Clearstream
Holding AG), as well as Eurex Clearing AG and European Commaodity Clearing AG.

As part of our core components of the risk management approach our credit institutions follow interna-
tional standards and comply with the minimum capital requirements set by the Capital Requirements
Regulation (CRR). In addition, internal processes for banks ensure the adequacy of capital and liquidity
(Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, ICAAP, and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Pro-
cess, ILAAP) including the corresponding internal stress tests.

As of 2022 Clearstream companies must also comply with the Minimum Requirements for Own Funds

and Eligible Liabilities (MREL). The central securities depositories Clearstream Banking AG and Clear-
stream Banking S.A. are also subject to the Central Securities Depositories Regulation (CSDR).
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Eurex Clearing AG and European Commaodity Clearing AG are authorised as central counterparties (CCPs)
and are subject to the requirements of the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR). Moreover,
Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG have wide-ranging recovery and resolution plans to comply with the
EU Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD).

In addition, other Group entities hold different licences to provide activities in the financial services sec-
tor and are as such, subject to comprehensive statutory requirements, including risk management (for
further information please refer to the section “Regulatory capital requirements and regulatory capital ra-
tios”). In addition to the above mentioned statutory requirements, there are national requirements, the
Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk) issued by the Federal Financial Supervisory Au-
thority (Bundesanstalt fur Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BaFin), and the circular 12/552 issued by the
Financial Supervisory Authority of Luxembourg (Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier,
CSSF) to be followed. In this context, significant parts of the risk management are defined for a number
of our Group’s companies in the context of the second pillar of the Basel Standard for Banking Supervi-
sion.

The second core component of our risk management approach is the three lines of defence (3LoD)
model, which is established within Deutsche Borse AG and our Groups subsidiaries (credit institutions
and securities companies). This model defines a clear segregation of functions and responsibilities be-
tween the operating business units (first line of defence), risk management (second line of defence) and
internal audit (third line of defence). The main aspects of 3LoD are described in detail in the section
“Centrally coordinated risk management process”.

Risk management approach and risk controlling

We align our risk management approach with our business model and our corporate strategy. As
Deutsche Borse Group we provide the infrastructure for reliable and secure capital markets, assist con-
structively in their regulation and strive to play a leading role in all our business areas. Our risk manage-
ment approach is based on the three principles: risk limitation, implementation of the business strategy
aligned with our risk appetite, and maintaining an appropriate balance between risk and return.

Risk limitation

From a normative perspective, regulatory capital requirements are the relevant steering metrics. This
means risk management aims to meet the regulatory capital requirements for the banks and securities
companies in the Group. From an economic perspective the aim of risk limitation is to ensure that the
risk-bearing capacity is not exhausted more than once in 1,000 years. In other words, to ensure with a
probability of at least 99.9 per cent that we do not exhaust our entire economic capital within the next
twelve months.

Supporting the business strategy

As the business segments expand (e.g. through organic growth, M&A activities, extension of transforma-
tive technology), risk management supports a strategy implementation consistent with the risk appetite
by identifying risks and communicating them clearly. The aim is to be able to make well-founded strate-
gic decisions within the boundaries of the defined risk tolerance. This approach also considers embed-
ded, cross-sectional risks, such as environmental, social and governance risks (ESG).
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Appropriate risk/return ratio
We aim to ensure that risk and return are not only proportionate for each business area in general, but
also for each region, product and customer.

Internal risk management is based on the Group-wide assessment and management of risks, which is
focused on its risk appetite, see chart “Interlocking business strategy and risk management approach”.
Deutsche Borse AG's Executive Board bears overall responsibility, and defines the framework for risk
management throughout the Group. Under these Group-wide risk management requirements, each busi-
ness segment and each of our subsidiaries controls their own risks independently.

Interlocking business strategy and risk management approach

Business strategy

Implied risks
Risk management approach/risk appetite
Risk analysis
Risk scenarios Risk types Internal and external losses
Root cause —> Event —> Effect —> Loss

Risk mitigation
Risk mitigation

Reduces frequency of events

or severity of effect Risk transfer Risk avoidance
= Straight-through processing = Business continuity = [nsurance = Changes to business
» Compliance measures » Other and/or business strategy
» Legal = |nternal control system
= Information security = Other
= Physical security
Risk acceptance
Risk monitoring
Existing risks Emerging risks
= Aggregated risk measurement = Risk map

= Stress tests
= Risk metrics

Implementation in the organisational structure and workflow

Our risk management approach applies to the entire Deutsche Borse Group. Risk management func-
tions, processes and responsibilities are binding for all our employees and organisational units. To en-
sure that all employees are risk-aware, risk management is firmly anchored in the Group’s organisational
structure and workflows, see chart, “Risk management — organizational structure and reporting lines”.
Regular training sessions are held, which were developed in the course of a project to strengthen the risk
culture of employees. The Executive Board is responsible for the overall risk management, whereas
within the subsidiaries it is the responsibility of the respective executive management. The boards and
committees given below receive regular information on the risk situation.
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The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG assesses and monitors the effectiveness of the risk man-
agement system and its continuous development. The Supervisory Board has delegated the evaluation to
its Audit Committee. In addition, the Risk Committee examines the risk appetite framework on an annual
basis.

Deutsche Borse AG’s Executive Board determines the Group-wide risk management approach as well as
the risk appetite and allocates the latter to the company’s individual business segments and business
units, respectively. It ensures that the Group’s risk appetite is and remains compatible with its short- and
long-term strategy, business and capital planning, risk-bearing capacity and remuneration systems.

Risk management — organisational structure and reporting lines

Group-wide Financial institutions
Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG

Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG
Monitors the effectiveness of the risk management system
Evaluates the risk management approach and system

Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board
Evaluates the effectiveness of the risk management system

Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board

Monitors the nsk management system and its continuing
improvement in light of the nisk management approach

Executive Board of Deutsche Borse AG

Supervisory boards
Monitor the effectiveness of the risk management systems
and evaluate the risk management approach

Decides on risk management approach and appetite

Executive boards
Responsible for the risk management of their institution

Group Risk Committee (the Group’s internal risk committee)
Continuously monitors the overall risk profile

Chief Risk Officer/Group Risk Management
Assess and monitor risks, report to Executive Board and
Supervisory Board

CEErE Chief Risk Officers/Risk management functions
Manage risks in day-to-day operations and report to their
own committees and the Group

Business segments non-financial institutions
Identify, notify and control

Business segments
Identify, notify and control

The Executive Board of Deutsche Borse AG also determines which parameters are used to assess risks
and how risk capital is allocated. It ensures that the requirements for the risk management approach
and risk appetite are met.

The Group Risk Committee (GRC) reviews the risk position of the Group regularly and involves the Exec-

utive Board in all important matters. The GRC is an internal Group committee, chaired by the Chief Fi-
nancial Officer.
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The Chief Risk Officer leads the development of proposals for the risk management framework, risk ap-
petite, approaches and methods for risk monitoring and control, capital allocation and the necessary pro-
cesses. Risks are continuously analysed, evaluated and reported: regularly to the GRC, once a month or
as needed to the Executive Board, once a quarter to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board and
once a year to the Supervisory Board. Likewise, the CRO reports to the Audit Committee on the effective-
ness of the risk management system on an annual basis. This system ensures that the responsible bod-
ies can regularly check whether the defined risk limits are consistently complied with.

Our subsidiaries act in the same way, always ensuring that they meet the requirements of the Group. In
particular, they adhere to the risk appetite framework allocated to them by Deutsche Bérse Group. The
relevant supervisory boards and their committees are involved in the process. The same applies to the
executive boards and the corresponding risk management functions. Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG
implement the risk management approach with specific features derived for their own businesses. They
equally use metrics and reporting formats adjusted to the overarching group structure. In general, the
management of the respective subsidiary is responsible for structuring its risk management approach as
well as complying with the legal requirements. This also applies e.g. to ISS.

Centrally coordinated risk management process

Our risk management is implemented in a five-stage process. All potential losses should be identified in
a timely manner, centrally recorded and, whenever possible quantitatively measured. If necessary, miti-
gating measures are to be recommended and their implementation ensured (see chart “The five-stage
risk management system”).

The five-stage risk management system

Responsibility

Executive Board -

Risk management approach and appetite

Group Risk Committee NN

Risk profile monitoring and management

Group Risk Management
Risk managemenl process
3. Assess 5. Monitor and report

Business areas
1. Identify 2. Notify 4. Control

The first stage identifies the risks and the possible causes of losses or operational malfunctions. In the
second stage, the business areas (first line of defence) regularly — or immediately, in urgent cases — re-
port the risks that they have identified and quantified. The report goes to the risk management function
(part of the second line of defence), which evaluates the potential threat in a third stage. In the fourth
stage the business units manage the risks by avoiding, mitigating or transferring them, or by actively ac-
cepting them. The fifth and final stage involves monitoring different risk metrics and, where necessary,
informing the responsible Executive Board members and committees of significant risks, their assess-
ment and possible short-term measures. In addition to its regular monthly and quarterly reports, the
CRO division compiles ad hoc reports for the Executive and Supervisory Boards. The risk management
functions at Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG submit reports to the
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respective executive boards and supervisory boards. The internal audit function (third line of defence) is
an independent function and monitors both the business units and the risk management functions.

Approaches and methods for risk monitoring

We use quantitative and qualitative approaches and methods for risk monitoring, with the objective to
provide as complete picture as possible of our risk situation. To this end, the Group continuously reviews
internal events with regard to their risk properties, whilst also considering regional as well as global de-
velopments. We are thus able to recognise and analyse existing risks; at the same time, to swiftly and
adequately respond to emerging risks, as well as to changes in the market or in the business environ-
ment.

Existing risks

We use a series of instruments to measure and monitor operational, financial, pension and business
risks continuously (see chart, “Deutsche Borse Group’s risk profile”). Additionally, there are project risks
and environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks, which impact the four risk types.

We adopt an economic perspective to quantify and aggregate risks. The normative perspective is also
adopted by the credit institutions that are the focus of the following comments — particularly Clearstream
and Eurex Clearing AG — and the investment firms in the Group. The value at risk (VaR) model is the
main tool for quantifying capital requirements. The purpose of the VaR model is to determine the amount
of capital — given a confidence interval defined ex ante — required to cover very unlikely, but possible
losses incurred within twelve months. Moreover, we carry out stress tests in order to simulate extreme,
but plausible, events and their impact upon the Group’s risk-bearing capacity. Another approach to risk
monitoring, which serves as an early warning system for own risks, is complementary risk metrics.
These risk metrics are based on operational risks (IT and security risks, potential losses, etc.), credit, li-
quidity and business risks, as well as the indicators defined for recovery plans.

Risk-bearing capacity from an economic perspective

The economic perspective measures risk positions resulting from business operations, regardless of ac-
counting standards or regulatory models. This perspective is used to derive the minimum required eco-
nomic capital (REC), so that our risk-bearing capacity is not exhausted in more than once in 1,000
years. REC calculated in this manner for our subsidiaries Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG also com-
plies with the requirements of the second pillar of the Basel Standard for Bank Supervision. At Group
level we determine our risk-bearing capacity on the basis of reported equity in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity
Clearing AG determine their economic risk-bearing capacity on the basis of their regulatory own funds
(for details, see section “Regulatory capital requirements and regulatory capital ratios”).
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The risk management function regularly calculates the ratio of REC to risk-bearing capacity as a metric
and so provides an answer to a repetitive, but vital risk management question: how much risk can we
afford and what is our current risk exposure? The ratio of REC to risk-bearing capacity remained below
the defined threshold throughout the reporting period.

Regulatory capital requirements from a normative perspective

Our banks Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG also calculate their regulatory capital requirements in line
with the applicable European Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), which corresponds to the first pil-
lar of the Basel Standard for Bank Supervision. In addition, Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity
Clearing meet the EMIR capital requirements, while Clearstream Banking AG and Clearstream Banking
S.A. have to comply with CSDR capital requirements since they were authorised as central securities de-
positories (CSD) by BaFin and the CSSF in 2020 and 2021 respectively (for details see the section
“Regulatory capital requirements and regulatory capital ratios”). In 2023, additional "combined pillar"
capital requirements from CRR and CSDR come into effect for Clearstream Banking AG and Clearstream
Banking S.A.

Deutsche Borse Group’s risk profile

Risk profile of Deutsche Borse Group

|
| | | [ | |

Operational risks Financial risks Business risks Pensionrisk
= Unavailability of systems = Credit risk
= Service deficiency = Market risk

= Damage to physical assets (incl. pension risk)

= Legal disputes and * Liquidity risk

business practice

T T i T

Project and ESG risks

Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG use the standard approach for
analysing and evaluating credit and market risk. The institutions have adopted different approaches re-
garding operational risk: Clearstream uses the considerably more complex advanced measurement ap-
proach (AMA) in all Clearstream entities, which has been approved and is regularly audited by BaFin. In
contrast, Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG employ the basic indicator approach in or-
der to calculate regulatory capital requirements.

Liquidity risk management

Deutsche Borse Group’s liquidity risk management objective is twofold: we aim to cover short-term li-
quidity needs while safeguarding the long-term financing of our Group and thereby reducing liquidity
risks.

Existing liquidity risks stem mainly from the business models of Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and Eu-
ropean Commodity Clearing AG. They are managed from both a normative and an economic perspective.
The normative perspective comprises measurement and limitation of indicators required by applicable
regulations. In the economic perspective the existing liquidity risks are monitored with the help of limit
systems according to internal bank treasury policies. The banks also calculate their liquidity requirement
in specific stress scenarios in order to identify potential risks early and hold sufficient liquidity at all
times to cover them.
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Stress tests

Stress tests are carried out regularly and on an ad hoc basis in order to simulate extreme, but plausible,
events for all material types of risk both at stand-alone as well as aggregate level. They simulate the oc-
currence of extreme losses or the accumulation of large losses within a single year. Both hypothetical
and historical scenarios are used and calculated for the banks and investment firms in the Group. Re-
verse stress tests are also carried out. They calculate which loss scenarios or liquidity squeezes would
have to materialise for the risk-bearing capacity to be exceeded from a capital or liquidity perspective.
Additional adverse scenarios are simulated for the normative perspective of banks and investment firms.
The recovery plans for the banks include additional recovery stress tests.

An ad hoc stress test was carried out for all risk types in 2022 in response to the war between Russia
and Ukraine (for details see section Credit risk).

Risk metrics

Risk metrics are used to quantify the exposure to the most important internal risks against set limits.
These supplement the Value-at-Risk approach and serve to monitor risks metrics other than the capital
requirement, and non-quantifiable risks. Any under- or overshoot of the defined limits serves as an early
warning signal, which is reported to the Executive Board on a monthly basis. Furthermore, any such
breach immediately triggers the necessary analysis and risk mitigation processes.

Risks maps for emerging risks

Our risk management approach also includes a sustainable, long-term component. In addition to the
current existing risks, additional risks are also considered over a horizon of twelve months. For this pur-
pose, we have developed so-called risk maps tailored specifically for expected or upcoming regulatory
requirements and IT and information security risks. In addition, other operational, business and financial
risks are also assessed beyond a twelve-month period. The risk maps categorise risks according to their
probability of occurrence, and their potential financial impact, and show how the results relate to envi-
ronmental, social and governance (ESG) aspects. An explanation of material risks shown in the Regula-
tory Risk Map is given in the Business risk section.

Structure of the internal control system

Deutsche Borse has a Group-wide internal control system (ICS) that defines a framework with minimum
requirements for all entities in the Group. The framework provides the basis for the risk-based imple-
mentation of the ICS. It supports the effective and efficient implementation and operation of the ICS re-
gardless of the degree of regulation, or the size of the entity, for example.
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The ICS helps to manage risks and particularly covers risks at the process level. This entails defining re-
quirements for the consistent documentation and assessment of process risks, in aggregate and at the
individual risk level. It should be emphasised that both financial and non-financial effects are taken into
account when assessing the materiality of risks. A review cycle defines minimum requirements for con-
tinuous improvements and ICS reporting and is carried out at least once a year. The cycle also includes
an assessment of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the measures taken by the business units as
the first line of defence.

The ICS implementation particularly focuses on measures to manage material risks related financial re-
porting (“accounting-related ICS”) and on measures to expand the ICS in the field of ESG reporting as
part of ESG governance.

The Financial Accounting and Controlling (FA&C) department, which reports directly to the CFO, as well
as decentralised units based on FA&C guidelines, are responsible for preparing the financial statements
in accordance with legal requirements and internal and external guidelines. Group Tax is responsible for
determining tax items for accounting purposes. The relevant department head is responsible for the re-

lated processes, including effective security and control measures. The aim is to ensure that risks relat-
ing to the accounting process are identified early on, so that remedial action can be taken in good time.

FA&C provides the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements with accounting guide-
lines to ensure Group-wide consistent and correct financial statements.

Moreover, we continuously monitor and analyse changes in the accounting environment and adjust our
processes accordingly.

Another key component of our ICS is the principle of segregation of duties: tasks and authorities are
clearly assigned and separated from each other in organisational terms. Incompatible tasks — such as
modifying master data on the one hand and issuing payment instructions on the other — are strictly seg-
regated at a functional level. An independent control unit grants individual employees access rights to
the accounting system and continuously monitors these permissions using a so-called incompatibility
matrix.

Significant subsidiaries of Deutsche Borse Group maintain and consolidate their general ledgers in the
same system. Accounting data from other companies is uploaded for inclusion in the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

The processes, systems and controls described above aim to provide reasonable assurance that our ac-
counting system complies with the applicable principles and laws. In addition, Compliance and Internal
Audit act as a further line of defence, performing risk-based, process-independent controls on whether
the ICS is appropriate and effective. The Executive Board and the Audit Committee established by the
Supervisory Board receive regular reports on the effectiveness of the ICS with respect to the financial re-
porting process.
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Risk quantification and management

Operational risk

Most of the risks in Deutsche Borse Group are operational by nature. Operational risks comprise the un-
availability of systems, service deficiency, damage to physical assets as well as legal offences and busi-
ness practices (see the chart below: “Operational risk at Deutsche Borse Group”). Operational risks are
measured using scenarios. Overall, 67 per cent of the REC is linked to Operational Risks as of 31 De-
cember 2022.

In the course of implementing ESG requirements in non-financial risk management, the relevant scenar-
ios for operational risk are flagged as E-S-G for most of the bank-regulated entities as of this year.

Operational risk at Deutsche Bérse Group

Operational risk
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Unavailability of systems

Operational resources such as the T7® trading system are essential for our service offering. They should
not fail in order to ensure that market participants can trade securities or derivatives at any time and
without delay. We therefore measure the availability of these systems as an important risk indicator. In
line with our risk management approach, the business areas are responsible for monitoring the indica-
tors.

The longer the outage for one of these systems is, the larger the potential loss. An outage could be
caused by software or hardware issues; in unlikely cases the availability of the systems could be affected
by acts of cyber-crime or terrorist attack. In the past, only limited failures have occurred at the T7 sys-
tem, for instance. In practice, there has never been a system failure lasting longer than one day. We
have taken several measures to further minimize the risk of failure lasting an entire day or longer, such
as the redundancy of the network infrastructure. Malfunctions in the IT infrastructure can never be ruled
out completely, however, despite all mitigating measures. If such incidents do occur, action is taken
quickly to address them.
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Since availability risk is the biggest operational risk for the Group it is the subject of regular testing. This
simulates the impact of a failure of our own systems or those of suppliers.

Service deficiency

Risks can also arise if a service provided to a customer is inadequate and leads to complaints or legal
disputes. For example, errors in the settlement of securities transactions due to product or process defi-
ciencies or faulty manual input. The related processes are tested at least annually. Other sources of er-
rors may lie with suppliers or defective products. We register all complaints and formal objections as a
key indicator of deficient processing risk.

Damage to physical assets

Natural disasters, accidents, terrorism or sabotage are other operational risks that could, for example,
cause severe damage or destruction of a data center. Business Continuity Management aims at averting
significant financial damage (see the chart “Business Continuity Management”).

Legal disputes and business practices

Losses can also result from ongoing legal proceedings. These can occur if Deutsche Borse Group
breaches laws or other requirements, enters into inadequate contractual agreements or fails to monitor
and observe the case law to a sufficient degree. Legal risks also include losses due to fraud and labor
law issues. Substantial litigations as well as tax risks are described in more detail in note 26 and are an
integral part of this concise management report.

Furthermore, losses resulting from insufficient anti-money laundering controls, violations of competition
law or of banking secrecy are included. Such risks can also arise if government sanctions are not ob-
served, e.g., in case of conflicting requirements of different states, or in the event of breaches of other
governmental or overarching regulations.

Since the Russian invasion of Ukraine the Group has permanently monitored medium and long-term
risks and initiated the risk-mitigation measures necessary in this context (e.g. suspending trading in Rus-
sian securities as part of sanctions measures, provision of certain customer services in relation to
Ukrainian and Russian currencies, and higher levels of collateral at the clearing houses in the Group). In
terms of operational risk the focus was on the implementation of the full scope of sanctions and other
political measures to isolate Russia.

The geopolitical and macroeconomic environment also had an impact on energy and commodities mar-
kets. For this reason, and because of supply and demand effects, there were considerable increases in
prices and volatility in 2022 for many of the gas and electricity contracts cleared by European Commod-
ity Clearing AG (EEC). Various policy market interventions occurred, with the final one in 2022 being the
price cap for the wholesale natural gas market agreed by EU member states on December 19. This mar-
ket correction mechanism, as it is known, is limited to one year and only applies in specific circum-
stances. The gas price cap particularly creates the risk that gas trading shifts away from transparent, reg-
ulated and safe exchange markets in the bilateral OTC space. There were no defaults by clearing
members or other material disruptions to operations at ECC in 2022.

70



Deutsche Borse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards
Management report | Risk management
Financial statements and notes
Remuneration Report

Further information

Measures to mitigate operational risk

We take specific measures to mitigate operational risks. Among them are emergency plans, measures to
ensure information security and the physical safety of employees and buildings, insurance coverage, as
well as compliance regulations and procedures.

Risks associated with cloud services, which are increasingly used by the organization, are covered by
the operational risk management framework and established risk management tools. These are also con-
sidered in the ongoing development of the framework. The risk management function advises on cloud
initiatives both concerning risks assessments of information security and of the IT. On the one hand to
ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and on the other hand to monitor any changes in
Deutsche Borse Group’s risk profile.

Contingency plans

It is vital for our Group to be able to provide our products and services with the greatest possible reliabil-
ity, in order to retain the trust of customers and markets, and to meet our contractual obligations. We
must maintain our business operations and take precautions against failures. If our core processes and
resources are not available, this represents not only a substantial risk for the entire Group but also a po-
tential systemic risk for the financial markets in general. A system of contingency plans has therefore
been established throughout the Group (Business Continuity Management System, BCMS). This covers
all processes designed to ensure continuity of operations in the event of an emergency and reduces una-
vailability risk. Measures include precautions relating to all material resources (staff, systems, work-
space, suppliers), including the redundant design of essential IT systems and the technical infrastruc-
ture, as well as emergency measures designed to mitigate the unavailability of staff or workspaces in
core functions. This includes unavailability due to pandemic-based events, like the coronavirus outbreak
in 2020. This situation was handled as part of the Group’s incident management process. Measures de-
fined in the contingency plans were applied and their effectiveness was confirmed. Additional emergency
tests in 2022 also confirmed the effectiveness of those measures, which were not explicitly applied. Ac-
tivities are centrally coordinated to ensure the continuity of the Group’s time-critical operations as well as
employees’ health and safety. Examples of such emergency measures are listed in the following chart
“Business continuity management”.
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Business continuity management
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Our Group has introduced and tested a management process for emergencies that enables us to respond
quickly and in a coordinated manner. This is intended to minimise the effects on business processes and
on the market and to enable a quick return to regular operations. All business units have appointed inci-
dent managers to act as central contacts and take responsibility during emergencies. The incident man-
agers inform the Executive Board or raise the alarm with them in the case of severe incidents. If the inci-
dent escalates, the Executive Board member responsible acts as the crisis manager or delegates this
role. Our contingency plans are tested regularly by rehearsing critical situations as realistically as possi-
ble. Such tests are generally carried out unannounced; the results are evaluated according to the follow-
ing criteria:

=  Functionally effective: the measures must be technically successful.

= Practicable: the employees must be familiar with the emergency procedure and be able to exe-
cute it.

= Timely: emergency measures must ensure that operations restart within the intended time pe-
riod, namely the recovery time objective (RTO).

Information security

As described in the section on information security (see chapter “Our customers and markets”), attacks
on IT systems and their data, particularly by cybercriminals, constitute operational risks for the Group.
For us, as for other financial services providers and the industry as a whole, there is a pervasive and
steadily increasing set of threats. Unauthorised access, change and loss of information, as well as non-
availability of information and services, may all arise as a result of such attacks (for example phishing,
denial-of-service, and ransomware attacks). The additional heightened threat of cyber attacks associated
with Russia's war of invasion against Ukraine was addressed by continually increased monitoring by the
Information Security function.

There was no serious attack on the Group’s IT systems in 2022.
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Physical security

Physical security is a high priority for us due to continuously changing global security risks and threats.
DBAG has developed an integral risk management process to protect the company, its employees and
values from internal and external attacks and threats — in a proactive as well as reactive manner. Ana-
lysts continuously assess the security situation at our locations and on business trips, and are in close
contact with national and international authorities (Federal Criminal Police Office — BKA, Federal Office
for the Protection of the Constitution — BfV, etc.), security service providers, and security departments of
other companies. Multi-level security processes and controls ensure physical security at our locations.
Physical access to buildings and values is monitored permanently; it is based on the access principle of
'least privilege' (need-to-have basis).

Insurance Contracts

Operational risks that we do not wish to bear ourselves are transferred to insurance companies if this is
possible at a reasonable price. All insurance contracts are reviewed individually and regularly to identify
potential for optimization.

Financial risk
We divide our financial risk into credit, market and liquidity risk (see the “Financial risk at Deutsche
Borse Group” chart below).

Financial risk at Deutsche Borse Group
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Credit and market price risks account for around 31 per cent of the REC for the Group. Liquidity risks
are not quantified in the REC (see note 25 to the consolidated financial statements). The risks occur
mainly at our subsidiaries Eurex Clearing AG (Trading & Clearing segment), European Commodity Clear-
ing AG (Trading & Clearing segment) and Clearstream Banking (Post-Trading segment), as these are
credit institutions, as well as at Crypto Finance AG, a FINMA-regulated securities firm and asset man-
ager for digital assets.

Financial derivatives are used across the Group solely for hedging purposes. This relates to interest rate
or currency swaps, for instance, which are used as part of a conservative investment policy for Clear-
stream and Eurex Clearing AG, or futures used to reduce the market risk of existing positions at Crypto
Finance AG.
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Credit risk

Credit risk and counterparty default risk describe the risk that one of our counterparties might not settle
its liabilities, or not settle them in full. The Group'’s credit risks result from the specific business models
of our subsidiaries.

Both Clearstream Banking S.A. and Clearstream Banking AG grant credit to their customers to make se-
curities settlement more efficient. This lending business may give rise to short-term receivables from
counterparties of several billion euros, but differs fundamentally from the traditional bank lending busi-
ness and the associated risk profile. On the one hand, credit is granted solely intraday; on the other
hand, it is generally collateralised and only granted to clients with a high credit rating. Furthermore, the
credit lines granted can be revoked at any time.

Credit risk can also arise from cash investments, which are the responsibility of the Treasury function.
Treasury invests both own funds and those that our customers deposit with Clearstream; the funds are
mostly invested on a secured basis.

Finally, there may be short-term unsecured credit balances at correspondence banks in the course of se-
curities settlement.

Under its terms and conditions, Eurex Clearing AG only enters into transactions with its clearing mem-
bers. Clearing mainly relates to defined securities, rights and derivatives that are traded on particular ex-
changes. Eurex Clearing AG also offers this service for over-the-counter (OTC) products such as interest
rate swaps and forward rate agreements. It acts as the central counterparty between the business par-
ties. The resulting credit risk is mitigated by Eurex Clearing AG via offsetting reciprocal claims and requir-
ing from clearing members to post collateral. These processes are part of a safety system that complies
with EMIR requirements and has been implemented by the Group's central counterparties, i.e. Eurex
Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG.

This safety system consists of different levels that prevent one or even several customer defaults from
affecting the functioning of the central counterparties. As a first step, each clearing member must estab-
lish proof of a minimum amount of liable capital or, in the case of funds, assets under management. The
second stage requires the daily provision of collateral in the form of money or liquid securities of high
credit quality ("margins"), which, upon request of the central counterparties, must be supplemented or
even replaced by customers intra-day in case, that securities no longer meet the high quality require-
ments. All collateral requirements, as well as details on margin types and calculation models, are pub-
licly available on the websites of the respective central counterparties.

As a third stage, all clearing participants are obliged to pay additional collateral into a default fund on a
pro rata basis according to their individual risk profile. This fund is jointly and severally liable for the fi-
nancial consequences of a default of a clearing member if the collateral of the defaulting clearing mem-
ber and a designated limited own contribution of the relevant central counterparty are not sufficient to
mitigate these consequences. The amount of the default fund is reviewed daily on the basis of stress
tests by the central counterparties and adjusted if necessary. Should the default fund still not cover the
financial consequences, the central counterparties have the right of making margin calls on the not de-
faulted clearing members up to twice the value of the original default fund, representing a fourth level of
security. To this end, the central counterparties must also provide new own contributions up to twice the
value of their originally reported limited own contributions.
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In order to provide own payments Eurex Clearing AG has, in addition to its own funds, the option of
drawing on a letter of comfort issued by Deutsche Borse AG. A maximum of €600 million is available,
from which own equity payments can already be used on a pro rata basis in the fourth stage of the
safety scheme described above. Third parties have no rights under this comfort letter.

Since its licence was extended to a bank under the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz) Eurex
Clearing AG , can also use the permanent facilities of the Deutsche Bundesbank and thus is able to
manage the majority of its client funds at the central bank or affiliated institutions. Investment losses on
currencies for which Eurex Clearing AG has no access to the respective central banks and therefore holds
with investment banks, will be borne, on a pro rata basis, by Eurex Clearing AG and by those clearing
members active in the currency where losses were incurred. The maximum amount to be borne by Eurex
Clearing AG is limited to €50 million.

As with Clearstream, Treasury also invests its own funds and client deposits for Eurex Clearing AG; here
too, most of the investments are secured.

Various risk indicators are used to measure and manage risk of our subsidiaries. In addition to REC,
which is assessed via Monte Carlo simulations, regulatory capital requirements and stress tests for credit
risk, the indicators include the extent to which individual clients make use of their credit facilities and
credit concentrations. The measurement criteria also include the credit rating of the counterparties and
the collateral provided. Inverse stress tests for banks show, how many clients would have to default for
the losses to exceed the risk-bearing capacity.

Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG also run stress tests to analyse
the impact of the default of their largest client. The resulting figures are compared with the limits defined
as part of the companies’ risk-bearing capacity.

In addition, the impact of several clearing counterparties defaulting at the same time is calculated for
central counterparties in the Group.

The extended covid stress scenarios, established during the previous year, were again simulated in finan-
cial year 2022.In addition, special stress tests were developed and carried out in the context of geopoliti-
cal developments, especially in Ukraine. Financial risks arose both from capital controls by the Ukrain-
ian central bank and from countermeasures by the Russian government in response to European and
non-European sanctions. All known impacts are actively managed within the Group and potential new
risks are analysed on an ongoing basis. In this case revolving FX swap facilities were arranged as active
measures to reduce foreign exchange and credit risk exposure to counterparties in these countries.

As a further measure to manage and monitor default risks within the Group our subsidiaries assess the
credit-worthiness of potential customers or counterparties to an investment before entering into a busi-
ness relationship with them. We do this in the same way and determine the credit lines for individual
borrowers taking into account customer requirements and the results of regular credit checks, which our
subsidiaries supplement with ad hoc analyses if necessary.
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Our subsidiaries define haircuts for the collateral depending on the risk involved, and review them con-
tinuously. We reduce our risk when investing funds belonging to Group companies and client deposits by
distributing investments across multiple counterparties, all with a high credit quality, by defining invest-
ment limits for each counterparty and by investing funds primarily in the short term and against collat-
eral if possible. Investment limits are established for each counterparty on the basis of at least annual
credit checks and using ad hoc analyses, as necessary.

To date, no default by one of our customers with a secured credit line has resulted in a financial loss for
us. However, as a consequence of measures taken by the Russian state in the course of the Russia-
Ukraine war, blocked customer deposits stored in the name of Clearstream at the Russian central securi-
ties depository had to be written down in full (€134.1 million). The Group, however, did not incur any
loss on this in the financial year, as the customer liabilities relating to this item were adjusted in the
same amount in accordance with Clearstream's terms and conditions. We therefore continue to consider
the probability that we will incur material losses as a result of a customer's default to be low. In addition,
we regularly assess how reliable the recovery plans of our subsidiaries Clearstream and Eurex Clearing
AG are in various scenarios (including contractual defaults) and the resulting credit risk.

Equally, there have also been no defaults of clearing members or other material disruptions to the busi-
ness operations of European Commodity Clearing AG. Due to the geopolitical situation as well as supply
and demand effects, gas and electricity contracts cleared by European Commaodity Clearing AG have ex-
perienced significant price and volatility increases since September 2021, which continued in 2022 and
were intensified in spring 2022. These effects fell back during the last quarter of 2022 to the level as of
at the beginning of 2022. The models used to calculate the initial margin reflect these price and volatil-
ity increases, causing the initial margin to increase significantly. However, this has not yet led to a de-
fault of a clearing member or other disruptions.

Market risk

Market risk includes risks of an adverse development of interest rates, exchange rates or other market
prices, which can arise e.g. from the investment of own assets or clients deposits, from open risk posi-
tions in foreign currencies or crypto assets or from ring-fenced pension plan assets.

Our subsidiaries Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG invest parts of their equity in securities with the
highest credit rating. Some of these securities have a variable interest rate, so the interest rate risk is
low.

Other market price risks arise for Crypto Finance AG as open positions in crypto assets may arise from
its brokerage business. As mentioned above, however, these risks are reduced by the use of correspond-
ing derivatives.

Furthermore, market risk could result from ring-fenced pension plan assets for our employees (Contrac-
tual Trust Arrangement (CTA), Clearstream's pension fund in Luxembourg). These are actively managed
according to investment guidelines aligned upfront and therefore bear limited market risk. We also re-
duced the risk of extreme losses by deciding to invest the bulk of the CTA on the basis of a value preser-
vation mechanism.
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To minimise foreign currency risks, we avoid open currency positions whenever possible. Foreign ex-
change risks may exist for short periods of time at European Commaodity Clearing AG.

We measure these risks using Monte Carlo simulations based on historical price data, as well as corre-
sponding stress tests. We did not sustain any significant losses from market price risks in 2022.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises if a Group company is unable to meet its upcoming payment obligations in time and
in full or if it can only do so at a higher refinancing cost.

Short-term operating liquidity is mainly covered internally, by retaining earnings. The aim is to hold suffi-
cient liquidity to be able to meet all our obligations as they fall due. An intra-group cash pool is used to
pool surplus cash from our subsidiaries with Deutsche Borse AG, as far as regulatory and legal provi-
sions allow. Liquid funds are invested on a short-term basis to ensure that they are available. Short-term
investments are also largely secured by liquid bonds from first-class issuers. In addition, we have access
to short-term external sources of financing, such as agreed credit lines with individual commercial banks
or consortia, and a commercial paper programme.

In recent years, we have used our access to the capital markets to issue corporate bonds in order to
meet our structural financing needs.

The investment strategy for Clearstream focuses on ensuring its ability to repay customer deposits at all
times. Maturity limits are therefore set cautiously. In addition, extensive sources of financing are availa-
ble at all times, such as ongoing access to the liquidity facilities at Deutsche Bundesbank and Banque
Centrale du Luxembourg. Due to their role as central counterparties, Eurex Clearing AG and European
Commodity Clearing AG also have strict liquidity guidelines and their investment policy is correspond-
ingly conservative. Regular analyses ensure the suitability of the liquidity guidelines. In addition, Eurex
Clearing AG can use Deutsche Bundesbank’s permanent facilities.

Despite this robust framework for liquidity risk management, we are exposed to some liquidity risks. We
may be exposed to liquidity risk in the event of a customer default, for instance. Our subsidiaries have
certain risk mitigation measures in place for such eventualities. In case a clearing member of Eurex
Clearing AG or European Commodity Clearing AG should default, its position is covered by selling as
much as necessary of the collateral provided by this member. If a Clearstream customer defaults, the —
secured and generally intraday — credit line granted to increase settlement efficiency would be called,
and the collateral provided by the client could then be liquidated.

A decline in market liquidity following a market disruption would also increase the liquidity risk exposure

at Group level. This is offset partly by means of appropriate discounts on collateral and the access to
short-term sources of financing mentioned above.
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In order to get an early warning of potential risks, Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and European Com-
modity Clearing AG all use daily stress tests to measure the liquidity requirement that would be caused
by the default of their two largest clients. The maintain sufficient liquidity to cover the requirement as
determined by this testing. Furthermore, potential risks that are identified in the course of stress tests are
analysed, and corresponding risk-reduction measures initiated.

Aggregated across all currencies, European Commodity Clearing AG, Eurex Clearing AG and Clearstream
always had sufficient liquidity to cover their actual liquidity needs in 2022.

Pension risk

Pensions for past and present employees are managed in a variety of pension funds. Pension risk (in the
narrow sense) is defined as the risk of losses due to increased costs from post-employment benefit plans
based on non-market risk factors (life expectancy, salary growth and inflation increase). It is calculated
with the support of actuaries during the first quarter of the financial year. At the time of the reporting
date, the pension risk for the Group amounts to around 2 per cent of the total REC.

Business risk

Business risk is the unexpected residual loss, which arises when the Earnings at Risk exceed the antici-
pated net income after tax, which can be due to the competitive environment (e.g. customer behaviour,
investment failure, industry trend), macro-economic and geopolitical developments or erroneous strategic
management decisions. Factors influencing this residual loss could be lower revenues or higher costs
than planned. Business risk is reported when the calculated value at risk is higher than the budgeted net
income for the next four quarters. This approach is based on the use of historical forecasts and actual
expenses and income. Business risks are constantly monitored to understand the business risk environ-
ment and identify possible changes in the underlying risk profile. As of December 31, 2022, there was
no business risk to be reported for the Group.

As a sustainable, long-term component of our risk management we are tracking emerging business risks
over a period of more than 12 months and evaluate these in our risk maps. The revision of the Markets
in Financial Instruments Regulation and Directive (MiFID I/ MiFIR) is described in more detail below,
with a focus on its potentially material impact on business risks for Deutsche Bdrse Group. The legisla-
tive process is expected to be completed in the course of 2023.

Revision of the Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation and Directive (MiFID I/ MiFIR)

The following business risks arise in connection with the ongoing revision of the Markets in Financial
Instruments Regulation and Directive (MiFID II/MiFIR). In particular in connection with declining vol-
umes in the cash market business and at our futures exchange Eurex. The plan to create a consolidated
data ticker for equities, ETFs, bonds and OTC derivatives, which would comprise pre-trading data in ad-
dition to real-time post-trading data for equities, could give rise to business risks for our market data
business in connection with stricter rules for pricing market data.
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Relevance of ESG regulation on business risks

The Group Risk Committee carries out a process to review the relevance of environmental, social and
governance risks. The entries in the risk maps are labelled accordingly (E, S, G risk map items).

In the field of ongoing environmental, social and governance regulation, combined with efforts to im-
prove economic resilience, there are a number of potential risks for our data, derivatives and index busi-
ness, particularly in view of the current geopolitical tension and economic volatility. If less ambitious
sustainability policies lead to reduced investment in ESG products and to changes in investor prefer-
ences, then demand for our range of ESG products and services could decline or shift. A proposal for Eu-
ropean legislation to regulate ESG data and ratings providers is also expected in 2023. The latter could
have an adverse impact on Institutional Shareholder Services, Inc. if the proposal includes a standardi-
sation of methodologies for ESG ratings, and also affect other business units indirectly, such as our index
business. In addition, if ESG regulation in the field of sustainability standards and labels is deficient or
too prescriptive, this could cause problems and uncertainty concerning its legal status, as well as a loss
of market confidence. A decline in confidence in such standards and labels may have an adverse impact
on our ESG products across all business units, while an excessively prescriptive approach could inhibit
innovation and growth in the ESG segment of our data, derivatives and index business, as well as in the
market overall.

If it is no longer possible to allocate capital efficiently to sustainable investments, or the calibration of
sustainability policies and ESG regulation is not successful, this could impair the maturity, quality and
liquidity of the market, the marketability and pricing of products, and risk management. Risks could also
result from a lack of interoperability between European ESG regulation and global developments. Busi-
ness risks could also be increased by far-reaching due-diligence obligations in supply and value chains,
and so represent revenue risks.

The Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) regularly considers whether to classify Deutsche
Borse AG as a financial holding company. It has currently come to the conclusion that Deutsche Borse
AG is not a financial holding company. Classification as a financial holding company could have an im-
pact on our capital requirements.

Compliance - including measures against corruption and bribery

Responsible business operations imply adherence to laws and regulations; they and are also based on
the principle of integrity and ethically irreproachable conduct at all times. We have implemented a com-
pliance management system (CMS) based on regulatory requirements, which aims to prevent miscon-
duct and avoid liability and reputational risks for the Deutsche Borse Group, its legal representatives, ex-
ecutives and staff. Beyond business-related and regulatory compliance requirements, the focus is on
strengthening a uniform compliance culture throughout the Group, especially with a view to enhancing
compliance awareness.
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Code of business conduct

Our Group's code of business conduct summarises the most important aspects with regard to corporate
ethics and compliance as well as appropriate conduct. It is communicated to all employees in the Group
and is available on the internet and intranet sites. Our code of business conduct summarises our core
values and principles, which are intended to act as support for decision-making and enforce market in-
tegrity, transparency, efficiency and security. Moreover, Group Compliance provides employees with com-
pliance-relevant information via the corresponding intranet pages, unless this is not possible for particu-
lar confidentiality reasons. For details regarding the principles of responsible corporate governance, see
the section “Corporate governance statement”.

As a member of the UN Global Compact we are committed to its principles, notably to support human
and labour rights, to protect the environment and to work against corruption in all its forms, which in-
cludes extortion and bribery. These principles are also an integral part of our code of business conduct,
which also prohibits any involvement in corruption or any activities which may lead to the impression
that the Group promises, arranges, provides, receives or asks for unlawful benefits. Bribery and facilita-
tion payments are prohibited.

Objectivity and integrity are the guiding principles for employees of Deutsche Borse Group. Our manage-
ment is fully aware of their function as role models and the importance of the meaning “tone from the
top”, which makes it possible to draw the attention of every individual employee towards managing
compliance risks, both within the Group and among market participants. In order to sustainably anchor
these guiding principles, and to prevent the Group and its staff from legal sanctions and reputational
damage, Group Compliance has implemented risk-based compliance and preventive measures.

Compliance management system

The compliance management system — under the responsibility of, and promoted by, the Executive
Board of Deutsche Borse AG — therefore constitutes an indispensable element of good corporate govern-
ance with respect to compliance. Group Compliance manages the CMS as a second line of defence func-
tion and ensures compliance with legislation, regulations and internal rules, and promotes best practice
within the Group. In addition, Group Compliance monitors, verifies and implements compliance
measures to mitigate risks with negative impacts (e.g. direct or indirect financial losses, regulatory pen-
alties or reputational damage). Such a CMS provides the foundation for sustainable risk transparency;
specifically, it facilitates the mitigation of compliance risks in the areas of money laundering/terrorism
financing, criminal offences, data protection, corruption, market manipulation, conflicts of interest and
insider trading, as well as monitoring of requirements concerning financial sanctions and embargoes.

The CMS applies to Deutsche Borse AG and to the subsidiaries in Germany and abroad in which we

hold a majority interest. Our Group-wide compliance approach is intended to ensure that our Group
companies respect applicable legislation and regulatory requirements.
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The CMS is assessed at least once a year using relevant criteria to ensure it is appropriate and effective,
and a report is presented to the Audit Committee of Deutsche Borse AG's Supervisory Board. The criteria
include i.a. the evaluation of compliance policies and frameworks, risk analyses, controls, training and
the regular reporting. In addition, risk-based internal and external audits are performed to validate the
CMS.

To ensure that the CMS is appropriate and effective, and to reflect increasing complexity and growing
regulatory demands, the CMS is regularly enhanced and improved. Our compliance measures enable us
to identify, measure and manage compliance risks, particularly in the fields of money-laundering/ terror-
ism financing, criminal offences, data protection, corruption, market manipulation, conflicts of interest,
insider trading, financial sanctions and embargoes.

When determining the focus and improvements of the CMS, we are guided by applicable prudential leg-
islation and regulatory requirements, as well as by the recommendations of internationally accepted
standards. Based on these standards, Group Compliance identifies fields of action and measures to con-
tinuously adapt the CMS to changing requirements.

Currently, Group Compliance is implementing the function of a Human Rights Officer to ensure that the
requirements of the German Act on Corporate Due Diligence in Supply Chains are met.

Compliance organisational structure

The Group Chief Compliance Officer reports directly to the Executive Board of Deutsche Borse AG. Com-
pliance reporting comprises the relevant compliance risks in the context of the compliance mandate, as
well as other compliance-relevant information and activities. The Chief Compliance Officers from group
companies that are covered by banking regulation have functional reporting lines to the Group Chief
Compliance Officer. The same applies to the Chief Compliance Officers of Qontigo, ECC/EEX and 360T.

ISS is regulated by the US Investment Advisers Act and has therefore set up a compliance function in
accordance with the statutory requirements and designated a Chief Compliance Officer. In view of the
decision to manage ISS at arm’s length, however, there is currently no functional reporting line to the
Chief Compliance Officer of the Group. In the course of implementing a group-wide compliance ap-
proach, the implementation of the compliance group standards is still being pursued at ISS.

The Group Compliance Committee is an interdisciplinary committee at management level that aims to
support and advise the respective Executive Boards and Compliance functions within Deutsche Borse
Group on compliance topics. Committee members are the senior managers of the business units, the
Chief Compliance Officers of group companies and representatives of the relevant control functions.
Group Compliance also informs the committee about important compliance topics and incidents, as well
as potential trends and regulatory developments.
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Compliance measures

Compliance rules

Group Compliance sets standards for the key compliance risks affecting all entities within the Group. In
this context, Group Compliance devises risk-oriented measures in order to mitigate and manage identi-
fied risks; communicates about risks and incidents as well as the effectiveness of the measures taken.

Further Group Compliance ensures the continuous improvement of the CMS by regular adjustments to

the relevant internal policies and processes.

The group-wide applicable compliance policies have been implemented to ensure that the internal stake-
holder groups and employees acting on behalf of the Group implement and follow its rules and require-
ments. In this way, group-wide compliance violations shall be addressed preventively, detectively, and
sanctionally. Group-wide communications via the intranet are geared towards providing employees (in-
cluding members of the Executive Board and managers) with the necessary guidance for their daily work
and ensuring compliance.

Compliance training

Regular compliance trainings are a fundamental instrument for promoting the compliance culture and
compliance awareness across the Group. Our employees around the world are trained regularly on the
relevant compliance topics. Our compliance trainings particularly cover the topics of money-laundering/
terrorism financing, criminal offences, ethics, data protection, corruption, market manipulation, conflicts
of interest, insider trading, financial sanctions and embargoes. Our management, that is exposed to a
higher compliance risk by virtue of their work receive additional training as required. Participation in
above mentioned trainings is mandatory for our employees, as well as for management.

Whistleblowing system

We support, by lived compliance awareness, an open approach towards managing misconduct. For this
reason, employees are encouraged to address their concerns directly to the responsible line manager, HR
or to Group Compliance. Deutsche Borse Group’s whistleblowing system (BKMS) offers an additional
and anonymous channel for reporting potential or confirmed breaches of prudential or regulatory require-
ment and ethical standards. Employees, service providers and third parties can submit reports via tele-
phone or e-mail. The anonymity of whistleblowers is guaranteed at all times.

Analysis of compliance risks

In line with regulatory requirements, we carry out risk analyses regularly and, if needed, on an ad hoc
basis in order to be able to understand and assess relevant compliance risks and to derive risk mitigating
measures based on the results. Such risk analyses and assessments comprise the Group’s own business
activities as well as business relationships, market participants, products and services.

A Group-wide compliance risk assessment framework was implemented last year to standardise the pro-

cess of identifying, analysing and assessing compliance risks within the Deutsche Borse Group. The de-
veloped methodology is to be applied for the first time in 2023.
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In the context of the current geopolitical events in Ukraine and the resulting potential economic policy
consequences, Group Compliance continues to analyse which risks could have an impact in the individ-
ual business areas and which measures need to be taken and implemented. This concerns all risks for
Group companies that have business relationships with companies based in the affected countries
(Ukraine, Russia), hold assets or have other connections of both an economic and technical nature. The
Group has implemented a robust and flexible system to manage any sanctions and embargo risks. Dedi-
cated sanctions experts monitor current developments carefully and are in regular contact with stake-
holders and the business areas of the Deutsche Borse Group in order to be able to react to restrictions in
a timely manner.

Key non-financial performance indicators: corruption and data protection

2022 2021
Corruption
Punished cases of corruption 0 0
Percentage of business units for which measures have been taken to address
corruption risks % 100 100
Number of employees who were trained in ABC measures (anti-bribery and
corruption)” 1,563 7,177
Data protection
Number of justified customer complaints relating to data protection 0 0

1) All employees of Deutsche Bérse Group must repeat the web-based ABC training every two years. Since the update and completion of the training takes place in
odd years, the number of completed trainings in the even year 2022 is significantly lower.

Regulatory capital requirements and regulatory capital ratios

Clearstream Banking S.A., Clearstream Banking AG and Eurex Clearing AG, in their capacity as credit
institutions, are subject to solvency supervision by the German or Luxembourg banking supervisory au-
thorities (Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BaFin, and Commission de Surveillance du
Secteur Financier, CSSF, respectively). The same applies to the Clearstream Holding at a regulatory
group level. Eurex Repo GmbH and 360 Treasury Systems AG are also subject to specific provisions ap-
plicable to investment firms.

Nodal Clear, LLC is a Derivatives Clearing Organisation (DCO) subject to regulation by the US Commod-
ity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC).

Crypto Finance (Brokerage) AG is authorised as securities firm according to Article 41 of the Swiss Fed-
eral Act on Financial Institutions (FinlA) while Crypto Finance (Asset Management) AG is authorised as
manager of collective investments according to the Swiss Collective Investment Schemes Act (CISA).
Both are subject to the supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA).

Market risk exposure only results from relatively small open foreign currency positions.

The following table shows the regulatory own funds requirements per risk category which are derived
from the risk exposure amount with a capital ratio of 8%.
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Composition of own funds requirements

Own funds requirements for

operational risk

Own funds requirements for

credit and market risk

Total capital requirements

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m €m €m €m €m

Clearstream Holding Group 338.2 348.6 107.0 83.2 445.2 431.8
Clearstream Banking S.A. 223.7 241.2 56.2 81.8 279.9 323.0
Clearstream Banking AG' 132.8 118.1 6.0 6.5 138.8 124.6
Eurex Clearing AG 105.4 100.3 38.0 25.1 143.4 125.4

1) Clearstream Banking AG’s previous year's figures were updated based on the previous-year's audited financial statements.

No capital contributions were made in 2022, but they are planned for the years ahead in order to

strengthen the capital base. In February 2023, Clearstream Banking AG carried out a capital injection of
€30.0 million. The reason for the strengthening of the capital base is primarily a change in the interpre-
tation of capital requirements by the supervisory authorities.

Regulatory capital ratios according to CRR

Own funds requirements

Regulatory equity

Total capital ratio

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m €m €m % %

Clearstream Holding Group 445.2 431.8 1,792.8 1,790.6 32.2 33.2
Clearstream Banking S.A. 279.9 323.0 1,008.3 1,214.2 28.8 30.1
Clearstream Banking AG* 138.8 124.6 420.7 420.1 24.3 27.0
Eurex Clearing AG? 143.4 125.4 724.8 724.8 40.5 46.2

1) Clearstream Banking AG’s previous year's figures were updated based on the previous-year's audited financial statements.

2) According to Art. 26 Abs. 1 (a) CRR, capitel insturments must comply with the requirements pursuant to Art. 28 CRR. As of 31 December 2021, the profit and loss
transfer agreement between Eurex Clearing AG and Eurex Frankfurt AG did not comply with the discretion under Art. 28 (3) (d) CRR. Therefore, the regulatory own funds
were reduced subsequently as per 31 December 2021 to the amount of subscribed capital of €25.0 million. Furthermore, previous year's own funds requirements were

adjusted.

Clearstream Banking AG’s capital requirements according to CSDR are currently significantly above CRR
and CRD IV capital requirements. The capital requirements under Article 47 CSDR do not stipulate a
specific ratio. Instead, the total of share capital and reserves is compared with the capital requirements

and has to be at least the same.
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Capital adequacy requirements under CSDR

Clearstream Banking S.A.

Clearstream Banking AG

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m €m €m

Own funds requirement for operational, credit and market risk 279.2 318.7 138.7 124.4
Other CSDR capital requirements’ 444.8 369.9 194.7 192.2
Total CSDR capital requirements under Article 47 CSDR 724.0 688.6 333.4 316.6
CSDR capital 1,008.3 1,214.2 420.7 420.7

1) As the annual financial statements of Deutsche Borse AG and Deutsche Borse Group are published prior to the finalization of Clearstream Banking S.A.'s and Clear-
stream Banking AG's approved annual financial statements, the calculation of the other CSDR capital requirements have been based on the previous year’s ap-

proved annual financial statements.

Capital adequacy requirements under EMIR

European Commodity Clearing

Eurex Clearing AG AG

\ [ |

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m €m €m

Own funds requirement for operational, credit and market risk 143.4 125.4! 37.4 35.1
Other EMIR capital requirements 112.4 135.5 67.2 58.5
Total EMIR capital requirements under Article 16 EMIR 255.8 260.9' 104.6 93.6
Equity 749.8 749.8 218.0 158.0
EMIR deductions 0 0 0 0
Own contribution to default fund —-200.0 -200.0 -35.0 -23.0
EMIR capital adequacy 549.8 549.8 183.0 135.0

1) Previous year adjusted

The Investment Firm Regulation requires 360 Treasury Systems AG as an investment firm of category 2
to hold own funds of the higher of a) 25 per cent of the fixed overheads, b) a fixed minimum initial capi-
tal requirement of the entity or c) the capital requirements calculated based on the K factors. Eurex Repo
GmbH determines its own funds requirements according to its classification as small and non-intercon-
nected investment firm based on the higher of a) or b) as described above. The capital requirement for
360T and also for the Eurex Repo currently corresponds to 25 per cent of the respective fixed overheads

of the previous year.

Composition of own funds/capital requirements

Own funds requirements for

Own funds requirements on the

Own funds requirements to be

credit and market risk basis of fixed overheads met
I [ |
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
€m €m €m €m €m
Eurex Repo GmbH 0 3.4 3.2 3.4 3.2
360 Treasury Systems AG 0 13.4 12.8 13.4 12.8
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Compliance with own funds requirements

Own funds requirements

Regulatory equity

Total capital ratio

I
31 Dec 2022

31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

€m €m €m €m % %

Eurex Repo GmbH 3.4 3.2 21.4 21.4} 627,7 668,8!
360 Treasury Systems AG 13.9 12.8 32.9 34.1 245.4 267.2

1) According to Art. 26 Abs. 1 (a) CRR, capital instruments must comply with the requirements pursuant to Art. 28 CRR. As of 31 December 2021, the profit and loss
transfer agreement between Eurex Clearing AG and Eurex Frankfurt AG did not comply with the discretion under Art. 28 (3) (d) CRR. Therefore, the regulatory own funds
were reduced subsequently as per 31 December 2021 to the amount of subscribed capital of €25.0 million. Furthermore, previous year's own funds requirements were

adjusted.

Compliance with own funds requirements

Own funds requirements

Regulatory equity

Total capital ratio

[
31 Dec 2022

31 Dec 2021

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Mio. € Mio. € Mio. € Mio. € % %

EEX Asia Pte. Limited 0.6 1.1 3.2 2.3 485.7 209.1

Nodal Clear, LLC 31.9 28.2 51.8 315 162.4 111.7

Crypto Finance (Brokerage) AG 8.0 7,3 64.7 15.0 808.8 206,0
Crypto Finance (Asset

Management) AG 0.3 0,3 4.0 6,1 1,175 2033

The regulatory minimum requirements were complied with at all times by all companies during the re-
porting period and in the period up to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Overall assessment of the risk situation by the Executive Board

Summary

The risk profile of Deutsche Borse Group did not change significantly in the 2022 financial year. All
known impacts of the geopolitical and macroeconomic developments were actively managed within the
Group and potential new risks were analysed on an ongoing basis. The aggregate total risk of Deutsche
Borse Group comprising of all risk types (operational, financial, pension and business risk) was always
matched by sufficient covered funds. As of 31 December 2022, Deutsche Borse Group’s required eco-
nomic capital (REC) amounted to €1,754 million, an almost 4 per cent decline year on year (31 De-
cember 2021: €1,827 million, measured with a 99.9 per cent confidence level). It is covered by a risk-
bearing capacity of €7,742 million.

No significant change in the risk situation of the Group is foreseeable for the Executive Board at the pre-
sent time.

Outlook

Deutsche Borse Group continually assesses its risk situation. Based on the calculated REC in stress tests
and based on the risk management system, Deutsche Borse AG’s Executive Board concludes that the
available risk cover amount and the available liquidity are sufficient. There is currently no indication that
the risk coverage amount has to be adjusted for 2023. Furthermore, it cannot identify any risk that
would endanger the Group’s existence as a going concern.

In 2023 we intend to continue strengthening and expanding its risk management and internal control
system (ICS). This includes, for example, the expansion of information security management, ongoing
methodological improvements in risk management and the ICS, and a closer coordination between con-
trol functions, also by means of a Groupwide governance, risk and compliance tool.
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10. Report on opportunities
Organisation of opportunities management

Our opportunities management aims to identify, evaluate and assess opportunities as early as possible
and to take appropriate measures in order to transform opportunities into business success.

We evaluate the organic and inorganic growth opportunities in the individual business areas continu-
ously, i.e. over the course of the year. At Group level these opportunities are systematically assessed as
part of the annual budgeting process and strategic reviews. The process begins with a careful analysis of
the market environment, which considers both what the customer wants, as well as market develop-
ments, competitors and regulatory changes. Ideas for growth initiatives are developed further using uni-
form, Group-wide templates and subjected to a profitability analysis. On this basis, our Executive Board
decides which initiatives are to be implemented.

Organic growth opportunities

We have a very broad portfolio of products and services with which we cover all areas of a market infra-
structure provider’s value chain. This makes us one of the most broadly based stock exchange organisa-
tions in the world. In order to maintain and expand this position, we are pursuing a medium-term
growth strategy called Compass 2023 (see chapter “Our strategy and steering parameters”). Among
other things, we are focusing on organic growth opportunities in order to achieve our strategic goals. We
make a basic distinction between secular and cyclical opportunities: secular opportunities arise, for ex-
ample, as a result of regulatory changes, new client requirements (such as the growing demand for ex-
change-traded solutions to over-the-counter (OTC) transactions) or from the trend to allocate an increas-
ing portion of assets to passive investment strategies (e.g. index funds). We exploit these opportunities in
a focused and active way. Cyclical opportunities, on the other hand, cannot be influenced directly by us
and are driven by macroeconomic changes. In addition, we intend to seize long-term opportunities aris-
ing as a result of the technological transformation. They particularly include distributed ledger technology
(DLT) and public cloud solutions for the operation of IT infrastructure.

Secular growth opportunities

When exploiting secular growth opportunities we focus on innovative products, increasing market share
and winning new customers. We expect to see the highest revenue growth in trading and clearing by
2023, due in part to the clearing of new financial derivatives, OTC derivatives and further growth in the
trading of energy and gas products. Foreign exchange trading is also expected to provide a contribution
to net revenue growth. Another focus is on the further development of the investment fund business. The
growth focus in Data & Analytics lies in expanding the index, analytics and ESG business. The commer-
cial potential of the initiatives mentioned here is described in more detail below.

New financial derivatives: We operate Eurex, one of the leading global derivative exchanges. In addition
to a broad range of established international benchmark products, we have introduced a large number of
new products in recent years, such as MSCI, total return, dividend and ESG derivatives. These new
products reflect changes in customer preferences and regulatory requirements. We anticipate further
strong growth in these and future products still to be launched in the years ahead.
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Clearing of OTC derivatives: The liquidity problems experienced by major market participants during the
financial crisis were triggered by the failure to settle bilateral OTC transactions that were mainly entered
into on an unsecured basis. In light of this, the leading industrialised nations (G20) agreed to create an
effective regulatory environment to make off-exchange derivatives transactions more transparent and
more secure. Consequently, the European Union has created the European Market Infrastructure Regula-
tion (EMIR). EMIR also involves the obligation to clear standardised OTC derivative transactions using a
central counterparty. Eurex Clearing AG and its market partners have created an alternative for clearing
interest rates swaps in the EU, and since then the company has continued to expand its notional out-
standing volumes and market share.

Trading and clearing of commodities: The Leipzig-based European Energy Exchange AG (EEX) allows us
to offer a broad product range for trading and clearing spot and derivatives contracts for electricity and
gas as well as emission certificates. EEX has become the central market for energy in continental Europe
and its product range includes the markets of Germany, France, the Netherlands, Belgium, Italy and
Spain. It is also active in the US market through its acquisition of Nodal Exchange. EEX’s growth is
based mainly on the growing importance of renewable energies for generating energy. Owing to the high
degree of fragmentation, as well as the inefficiency of OTC markets, the demand for on-exchange trading
and clearing solutions has also increased over recent years. EEX believes it is well positioned in this
changing competitive environment to achieve secular growth and gain additional market share.

Growth in forex trading: 360T® is a leading global foreign exchange trading platform. 360T's broad
customer base includes corporates, buy-side customers and banks. By combining 360T’s knowledge
and experience in the foreign exchange market with our IT expertise, we have opened up additional rev-
enue potential. We have made progress with various measures for achieving synergies, including the
launch of FX futures and clearing services. We also profit from a long-term secular trend: even though, at
present, the vast majority of daily foreign-exchange trading volumes is still executed off-exchange, de-
mand for transparent, electronic multi-bank trading platforms is rising.

Cross-border settlement and distribution of investment funds: Our clients can use Clearstream’s settle-
ment, custody and distribution services for their entire fund portfolio — covering traditional investment
funds, exchange-traded funds (ETFs) as well as hedge funds. Given that supervisory authorities are also
calling for more efficient settlement and custody solutions in order to guarantee maximum security for
client assets under custody, we expect to acquire additional client portfolios in the future by means of
outsourcing agreements. We are also continuously expanding our range of products and services. So, for
example, we have significantly expanded our range of fund services to include the management of distri-
bution agreements, as well as data compilation through acquisitions. In this way we expect to generate
additional net revenue by realising revenue synergies.
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Expansion of the index and analytics business: Our objective in the index business is to give the already
established European index provider STOXX an even more global profile, in order to develop and market
other indices worldwide (in addition to its DAX® and STOXX® index families). In addition, Deutsche
Borse’s index business will continue to take advantage of the secular trend towards passive investment
products (ETFs). An increasing number of private clients and asset managers are now following this
trend; not only are the costs lower, but many active investment strategies have been returning under-av-
erage performance. In order to support these trends more effectively we have acquired Axioma, a leading
provider of portfolio and risk management solutions. The combination created Qontigo, a fully integrated
leading information provider for institutional investors, which meets the growing market demand for
products and analysis in this area.

ESG: The trend towards sustainable business and investing represents an increasingly important secular
growth opportunity for us, which has been accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our aim is to sup-
port market participants with high-quality ESG data, analytics, specialised ESG indices and the corre-
sponding trading and hedging options. A first step in this direction was taken in 2021 with the acquisi-
tion of Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS). We expect further secular growth to come from
developing new products and winning new customers across our entire company.

Cyclical opportunities

In addition to secular growth opportunities, we have cyclical opportunities, for instance as a result of
positive macroeconomic developments. We do not have any direct control over these cyclical opportuni-
ties, but they do have the potential to increase our net revenue significantly.

= The volumes of interest rate derivatives traded on the Group’s derivatives markets could rise if expecta-
tions change concerning trends in long-term yields on German and other European government bonds,
and if the spread between the various European government bonds continues to narrow.

= Compared with last year, net interest income in the Securities Services segment, which is based on
cash deposits by our customers, would profit from further increases in interest rates worldwide.

Technological opportunities

New developments such as cloud services, in the context of artificial intelligence (Al), big data, robotics,
blockchain technology, combined with the potential for innovation offered by fintech companies, are
driving change in the financial sector. This new wave of technology might help overcome barriers to mar-
ket harmonisation, while creating additional efficiency and mitigating risks. The trend has been rein-
forced by the new environment resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and is expected to continue in
the years to come. The challenge for incumbent providers is in finding the right way to open up new
business models and innovative technologies.

With regard to cloud services, we are working on transferring services and processes with clients to the
cloud and optimising internal processes. For instance, the introduction of new trading platforms and up-
dating of existing infrastructure might be tested faster and better beforehand by clients in the cloud. This
would make our processes significantly more agile, as new releases could be introduced at more fre-
quent intervals, allowing us to respond better to clients’ requirements. We have signed agreements with
a number of key cloud service providers, positioning ourselves at the forefront of cloud use in the Euro-
pean financial services sector.
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In addition, on 9 February 2023, we announced a new strategic partnership with Google Cloud to en-
hance, economize and concentrate Deutsche Borse Group’s cloud adoption. Google Cloud will become
our preferred partner for the next ten years and help to further enhance the group’s cloud adoption and
efficiency. Specifically, we will leverage Google Cloud’s secure infrastructure and leading data and analyt-
ics capabilities to accelerate the development of our digital securities platform D7, innovate our digital
asset market operations, and enhance our data distribution and data use cases in the cloud.

As already stated, distributed ledger technology (DLT) represents another technological opportunity. It is
considered a disruptive technology at times — but at present, the financial services sector is increasingly
exploring its opportunities. Thanks to its decentralised nature, it facilitates direct interaction between par-
ticipants, thus offering the potential for simplifying complex processes. Established market infrastructure
providers such as Deutsche Borse Group, which covers the entire value creation chain from a single
source, play an important role when it comes to tapping this potential — meeting existing industry stand-
ards at the same time. Besides legal and regulatory requirements, this also involves adhering to security
standards, as well as limiting risks and ensuring cost efficiency. This enables, e.g., the development of
digital issuance of financial products via the D7 platform which shortens the extensive and multi-day is-
suance process to just a few minutes. The enhancement of D7 platform with decentral capabilities, in
line with the respective regulations and market interest, could complement the offer in further jurisdic-
tions. Like this, the central securities depository is creating a fully digital alternative to conventional se-
curities issuance. Kreditanstalt fir Wiederaufbau (KfW) is the first issuer to have launched a digital fixed-
income bond in the form of central register security based on the German Electronic Securities Act
(eWpQ@) in December 2022.

M&A growth opportunities

Inorganic growth is an equally important part of Compass 2023. We focus on areas that are closely re-
lated to our strategic growth areas, which include the data, index and analytics business, ESG, commod-
ities, forex trading, fixed income trading and investment fund services. The aim is to accelerate growth in
these areas by means of mergers and acquisitions and make our businesses even more scalable.

11. Report on expected developments

The forecast describes our expected performance in the 2023 financial year. It contains statements and
information on events in the future and is based on the company’s expectations and assumptions at the
time of publication of this corporate report. In turn, these are subject to known and unknown opportuni-
ties, risks and uncertainties. Numerous factors, many of which are outside the company’s control, influ-
ence the Group'’s success, its business strategy and its financial results. Should opportunities, risks or
uncertainties materialise, or should one of the assumptions made turn out to be incorrect, the Group'’s
actual performance could deviate either positively or negatively from the expectations and assumptions
contained in the forward-looking statements and information contained in this report on expected devel-
opments.
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Developments in the operating environment

Macroeconomic environment

Economic growth slowed significantly over the course of 2022. This was due partly to the macroeco-
nomic effects of Russia’s war of aggression against Ukraine. High inflation rates and risks to energy sup-
plies also played a role. In the forecast period we expect a further deterioration in the conditions for eco-
nomic growth. An end to the war in Ukraine, a sustainable solution for energy supplies or looser
monetary policy by central banks as a result of lower inflation rates could have a positive impact on fu-
ture economic performance, however.

Future development of results of operations

Given our diversified business model and multiple sources of revenue, and despite the tense macroeco-
nomic environment, we believe we are very well positioned to further improve our earnings in the me-
dium and long term. This expectation is based partly on the secular growth opportunities that we intend
to exploit (for details, see the “Report on opportunities”), as well as on additional forecast inorganic
growth.

In line with our strategy, we assume that net revenue will increase by at least 5 per cent in the forecast
period on the basis of secular growth opportunities. We are driving this growth through investment. By
doing so, we aim to shift further market share from over-the-counter trading and clearing to the on-ex-
change segment and to further expand our positions in existing asset classes by introducing new prod-
ucts and functionalities and acquiring new customers. Thanks to the very good cyclical performance in
2022, higher market volatility and rising interest rates, we assume that the cyclical net revenue contri-
bution will either be only slightly positive or even negative in the forecast period. This depends largely on
future changes in market volatility and interest rates, particularly with regard to net interest income from
banking business. In total, we therefore anticipate net revenue in the €4.5-4.7 billion range for the fore-
cast period.

Within the context of our growth strategy, we pursue clearly defined principles for managing operating
costs. We achieve the necessary flexibility largely by making continuous improvements to our operating
processes. This enables us to manage operating costs partly in line with net revenue growth. In the fore-
cast period, we expect earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to increase
to €2.6-2.8 billion.

Forecast for results of operations 2023
Basis 2022 Forecast 2023

€m €bn
Net revenue 4,337.6 4.5-4.7
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 2,525.6 2.6-2.8
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Development of non-financial performance indicators

Initiatives to promote the transparency and security of the markets will continue to be a key focus during
the forecast period, ensuring that we add value for society. As far as the forecast development of non-
financial performance indicators for 2023 is concerned, system availability (customer facing IT) was
brought back into line with the high targets by means of additional back-up measures, which became
part of everyday operations. We therefore expect that the system availability (customer facing IT) will re-
main high in the forecast period.

Being an attractive employer is important for our sustained success. We want to attract top talents and
retain them for the long term. The measures described in the chapter “Our employees” put us in a good
position and we are confident that we can maintain or improve on our employee satisfaction of more
than 71.5 per cent.

Deutsche Borse AG's Executive Board has defined target quotas for women on the two management lev-
els beneath the Executive Board, in accordance with section 76 (4) of the AktG, in each case referring to
Deutsche Borse AG. By 31 December 2023, the proportion of women holding positions in the first and
second management levels beneath the Executive Board is planned to reach 15 per cent and 27 per
cent, respectively.

Moreover, on a global group level the Executive Board adopted a voluntary commitment to increase the
share of women holding upper management positions to 23 per cent by the end of 2023, and of women
holding lower management positions to 33 per cent during the same period. We have extended the
scope of our voluntary commitment over and above the legal requirements.

The assessment of independent ESG rating agencies is an important benchmark for our ESG efforts. We
continuously analyse our performance and take action accordingly. Over the forecast period we expect
that we will be able to maintain our good position above the 90th percentile of the ESG ratings.

Targets for non-financial key performance indicators 2023

Basis 2022 Target 2023
System availability (customer facing IT) >99.9% >99.5%
Employee satisfaction 73% >71.5%
Women in leadership positions® 23% >23%
ESG ratings 98th percentile  >90th percentile

1) Group-wide target in senior management

93



Deutsche Borse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards

Management report | Report on post-balance sheet date events
Financial statements and notes

Remuneration Report

Further information

Development of the financial position

We expect that cash flow from operating activities, which is our primary source of financing, will remain
significantly positive in future. We expect that two significant factors will influence changes in liquidity:
Firstly, we plan to invest around €300 million in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment at
Group level. These investments will serve primarily to develop new products and services in our growth
areas and to enhance existing ones. Secondly, we will propose a dividend of €3.60 per share to the An-
nual General Meeting to be held in May 2023. This would represent a cash outflow of about

€661,6 million. Apart from the above, we did not expect any other material factors to impact the
Group’s liquidity at the time the combined management report was prepared. As in previous years, we
assume that we will have a sound liquidity base in the forecast period due to positive cash flow from op-
erating activities, adequate credit lines (for details see “note 25 to the consolidated financial state-
ments”), and our flexible management and planning systems.

We generally aim to distribute dividends equivalent to between 40 and 60 per cent of net profit for the
period attributable to the shareholders of Deutsche Borse AG. Within this range, we manage the actual
distribution ratio mainly in relation to our business performance and based on continuity considerations.
In addition, we plan to invest the remaining available funds primarily in the continued inorganic develop-
ment of the Group. Should we be unable to invest these funds, additional distributions, particularly
share buy-backs, represent another opportunity for the use of funds. To maintain its strong credit ratings
at Group level, we aim for a ratio of net debt to EBITDA of no more than 1.75, and a ratio of free funds
from operations to net debt of at least 50 per cent.

Overall assessment by the Executive Board

We believe the Group remains very well positioned in terms of international competition, thanks to its
broadly diversified offering along the securities trading value chain and its innovative strength. This being
the case, we expect to see a positive trend in our results of operations over the long term. Measures
taken as part of our growth strategy should further accelerate this growth. In this context, we aim to be-
come more agile and effective and sharpen our client focus, in order to become the global market infra-
structure provider of choice, with a top ranking in all our business areas. We endeavour to expand our
structural growth areas further, and to increase their contribution to net revenue again by at least 5 per
cent. Taking cyclical effects into account, we are planning an increase in net revenue to €4.5-4.7 billion
in the forecast period. We expect EBITDA to go up to €2.6-2.8 hillion in the forecast period. Overall, on
this basis we assume that cash flow from operating activities will be clearly positive and that, as in pre-
vious years, the liquidity base will be sound. The overall assessment by the Executive Board is valid as
at the publication date for this combined management report.

12. Report on post-balance sheet date events

There are no material events to report.
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13. Corporate governance statement

Deutsche Borse Group attaches great importance to the principles of good corporate governance and
control. In this statement, we report on corporate governance at Deutsche Borse AG in accordance with
principle 23 of the Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex (the “Code”, German Corporate Governance
Code). The statement contains the corporate governance statement pursuant to section 315d in conjunc-
tion with section 289f of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial Code).

Declaration of Conformity pursuant to section 161 Aktiengesetz (AktG, German Stock Corporation
Act)

On 7 December 2022, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG issued the fol-
lowing Declaration of Conformity:

“Declaration by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG regarding the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code in accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act

All recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) in the current version dated 28
April 2022, which was published in the Federal Gazette on 27 June 2022, are currently complied with
and shall continue to be complied with in the future.

Since the last declaration of conformity was issued on 8 December 2021, all recommendations of the
GCGC in the version dated 16 December 2019, which was published in the Federal Gazette on 20
March 2020, have also been complied with.

The annual declaration of conformity pursuant to section 161 of the AktG can also be found online at
www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Declaration of Conformity.
The declarations of conformity for the past five years are also available there.

Disclosures on overriding statutory provisions

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG declare in accordance with recom-
mendation F.4 GCGC that recommendation D.4 GCGC was not applicable to the company in 2022 be-
cause of the overriding statutory requirement of section 4 b of the German Stock Exchange Act. Recom-
mendation D.4 GCGC states that the Supervisory Board shall form a Nomination Committee composed
exclusively of shareholder representatives. In accordance with section 4 b of the German Stock Exchange
Act, however, the Nomination Committee also assists the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse AG in
selecting candidates for the Executive Board. As this task shall not be performed exclusively by share-
holder representatives of the Supervisory Board, and in line with the practice to date, the Nomination
Committee also includes employee representatives.

Disclosures on suggestions of the Code

The GCGC consists of both recommendations (denoted in the text by the use of the word “shall”), which
are reported in the Declaration of Conformity in accordance with section 161 of the AktG, and sugges-
tions (denoted in the text by the use of the word “should”). Deutsche Borse AG fully complies with them.

Publicly available information in accordance with section 289f (2) no. 1a of the HGB

The current remuneration report and the auditors’ statement pursuant to section 162 of the AktG, the
underlying remuneration system pursuant to section 87a (1) and (2) sentence 1 of the AktG as well as
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the latest resolution on remuneration pursuant to section 113 (3) of the AktG are available at
www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Remuneration.

Information on corporate governance practices

Conduct policies

Deutsche Borse Group'’s global orientation means that binding policies and standards of conduct must
apply at all of the Group’s locations around the world. Specifically, the main objectives of these princi-
ples for collaboration are to ensure responsibility, respect and mutual esteem. The Group also adheres to
these principles when implementing its business model. Communications with clients, investors, em-
ployees and the general public are based on timely information and transparency. In addition to focusing
on generating profit, Deutsche Bdrse Group’s business is managed sustainably in accordance with recog-
nised legal, social and ethical standards.

Code of business conduct

Acting responsibly means having values that are shared by all employees throughout the Group.
Deutsche Borse AG therefore has a code of business conduct that is reviewed every year. This docu-
ment, which is adopted by the Executive Board and applies throughout the Group, defines the founda-
tions of key ethical and legal standards, including — but not limited to — the following topics:

= Compliance with legislation and regulations; whistleblowing

= Confidentiality and the handling of sensitive information

= Conflicts of interest

= Prevention of insider trading and market manipulation; personal account dealings
= Prevention of corruption

= Risk management

= Environmental awareness

= Equal opportunities and protection against undesirable behaviour

= Corporate responsibility; human rights; ethical conduct

The code of business conduct applies to members of the Executive Board, all other executives and all
employees of Deutsche Borse Group. In addition to specifying concrete rules, the code of business con-
duct provides general guidance as to how employees can contribute to implementing the defined values
in their everyday working life. The goal of the code of business conduct is to provide guidance on work-
ing together in the company on a day-to-day basis, to help resolve any conflicts and to resolve ethical
and legal challenges. All newly hired employees receive the code of business conduct as part of their
employment contract documentation. The code of business conduct is an integral part of the relationship
between employer and employees at Deutsche Borse Group. Breaches may lead to disciplinary action.
The document is available at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Responsibility > Sustainability > Our em-
ployees > Guiding principles.

Code of conduct for suppliers

Deutsche Borse Group not only requires its management and staff to adhere to high standards — it de-
mands the same from its suppliers and service providers. The code of conduct for suppliers requires
them to respect human rights and environmental regulations and to comply with minimum standards in
these areas. The minimum standards also incorporate the requirements of the German Lieferkettensorg-
faltspflichtengesetz (Supply Chain Due Diligence Act) and the UK Modern Slavery Act. Service providers
and suppliers must sign this code of conduct or enter into an equivalent voluntary commitment before
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they can do business with Deutsche Borse Group. The code of conduct for suppliers is reviewed regu-
larly in the light of current developments and amended if necessary. It can be found at www.deutsche-
boerse.com > Responsibility > Sustainability > Our social environment > Procurement.

Sustainability and values

Deutsche Borse Group’s business activities are based on the legal frameworks and ethical standards of
the different countries in which the Group operates. A key way in which we underscore the values we
consider important for the Deutsche Bérse Group is by joining initiatives and organisations that advocate
generally accepted ethical standards. Relevant memberships are as follows:

United Nations Global Compact www.unglobalcompact.org: this voluntary business initiative estab-
lished by the United Nations aims to achieve a more sustainable and more equitable global economy. At
the heart of the compact are ten principles covering the areas of human rights, labour, environment pro-
tection and anti-corruption. Deutsche Borse Group has submitted annual communications on progress
(COPs) on its implementation of the UN Global Compact since 2009.

Diversity Charter www.charta-der-vielfalt.de: as a signatory to the Diversity Charter, the company has
committed to acknowledging, respecting and promoting the diversity of its workforce, customers and
business associates — irrespective of their age, gender, disability, race, religion, nationality, ethnic back-
ground, sexual orientation or identity.

International Labour Organization www.ilo.org: this UN agency is the international organisation re-
sponsible for drawing up and overseeing international labour standards; it brings together representatives
of governments, employees and employers to promote the joint development of policies and pro-
grammes. Deutsche Borse Group has signed up to the ILO’s labour standards and hence has agreed to
abide by them.

Sustainability in corporate governance

Sustainability is of significant importance for the corporate strategy of Deutsche Bdrse Group. It is there-
fore an essential element of corporate governance at the level of both the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board. The Executive Board of Deutsche Borse AG takes all strategic decisions concerning sus-
tainability matters at Deutsche Borse Group. It is supported by the cross-functional Group Sustainability
Board, which is chaired by the CFO. The Group Sustainability Board is the central management board
for sustainability topics in the Deutsche Borse Group. It deals with company initiatives relating to envi-
ronmental, social and governance topics (ESG). One of the Group Sustainability Board’s particular re-
sponsibilities is to ensure that sustainability is incorporated into the company strategy. This includes ad-
vising on and monitoring the integration of sustainability into corporate planning and controlling. The
Group ESG Strategy team, which reports to the CEO, provides support by coordinating overarching ESG
product initiatives, managing the ESG reporting and continuously monitoring the ESG profile and climate
strategy of the Deutsche Borse Group.

At the level of the Supervisory Board the responsibilities of the former Strategy Committee were ex-
panded in 2021 to reflect the strategic importance of sustainability and it was renamed the Strategy and
Sustainability Committee. In addition to embedding ESG in the work of the Supervisory Board in this
way, it is particularly important for the board as a whole and in the other Supervisory Board committees,
especially the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee and the Nomination Committee. Current, relevant
sustainability aspects also form part of the training programme for the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board and are dealt with in workshops and seminars.
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To promote the sustainable development of the Deutsche Bérse Group, ESG targets are an integral part
of the remuneration system for the Executive Board. Details of the Executive Board remuneration system
can be found in the “Remuneration report”.

Further information on this subject can be found online at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Responsibil-

ity > Sustainability. More information about the Supervisory Board committee Strategy and Sustainability
can be found in the chapter “Supervisory Board committees”. Details of the work carried out by the
Strategy and Sustainability Committee are included in the “Supervisory Board Report”.

Sector-specific policies

Deutsche Borse Group’s pivotal role in the financial sector requires that it handles information — and es-
pecially sensitive data and facts — responsibly. A number of rules are in force throughout the Group to
ensure that employees comply with this. They comprise both statutory and internal rules that can be
adapted specifically to individual industry segments. They include policies on whistleblowing, risk man-
agement and the internal control system.

Whistleblowing system

Deutsche Borse Group plays an active role in the fight against breaches of rules and regulations. One
example is Deutsche Borse Group’s whistleblowing system, which provides a channel to report non-
compliant behaviour. Deutsche Borse Group uses the Business Keeper Monitoring System (BKMS®), an
online application that enables employees, clients and third parties to report matters that could be crimi-
nal offences and incidents of non-compliance by employees or third parties concerning the business of
Deutsche Borse Group. Reports can be made in their own name or anonymously and can be made
around the clock.

Further information regarding the whistleblowing system can be found at www.deutsche-boerse.com >
Our Company > Contact > Whistleblower system.

Risk and control management policies and principles

Functioning control systems are an important part of stable and sustainable business processes.
Deutsche Borse Group's enterprise-wide control systems are embedded in an overarching framework.
This comprises, among other things, the legal requirements, the recommendations of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code, international regulations and recommendations and other company-specific poli-
cies. The executives responsible for the different elements of the control system are in close contact with
each other and with the Executive Board. Key aspects of its design and implementation are also reported
regularly to the Supervisory Board or its committees. Equally, the Group has an enterprise-wide risk
management system that covers and provides mandatory rules for functions, processes and responsibili-
ties. The internal control system and risk management system also cover sustainability-related targets.
Details of the internal control system and risk management at the Deutsche Boérse Group can be found in
the “Risk management” section.

From its examination of the internal control and risk management system and the reports of the Internal
Audit function regarding its risk-oriented and process-independent controls conducted, the Executive
Board does not have any indications which would result in reservations regarding the appropriateness
and efficacy of the systems.
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Working practices of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board

An important fundamental principle of the German Stock Corporation Act is the dual board system —
which assigns separate, independent responsibilities to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board.
These responsibilities and their implementation at Deutsche Borse AG are set out in detail in the follow-
ing paragraphs.

Both boards perform their duties in the interests of the company and with the aim of achieving a sus-
tainable, long-term increase in value. Their actions are based on the principle of responsible corporate
governance. Therefore, Deutsche Borse AG's Executive Board and Supervisory Board work closely to-
gether in a spirit of mutual trust, with the Executive Board providing the Supervisory Board with compre-
hensive information on the company’s and the Group’s position and the course of business in a regular
and timely manner. In addition, the Executive Board regularly informs the Supervisory Board concerning
issues relating to corporate planning, the risk situation and risk management, compliance and the com-
pany’s control systems. The strategic orientation of the company is examined in detail and agreed upon
with the Supervisory Board. Implementation of the relevant measures is discussed at regular intervals.
The Chief Executive Officer reports to the Supervisory Board without undue delay, orally or in writing, on
matters that are of special importance to the company.

In addition, the CEO keeps the Chair of the Supervisory Board continuously and regularly informed of the
current developments affecting the company’s business, significant transactions, upcoming decisions
and the long-term outlook and discusses these issues with him or her. The Supervisory Board may also
request reports from the Executive Board at any time, especially on matters and business transactions at
Deutsche Borse AG and subsidiaries that have a significant impact on Deutsche Borse AG's position. The
Rules of Procedures for the Executive Board and Supervisory Board contain provisions on the corre-
sponding information rights and obligations of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board exceeding
statutory regulations.

Deutsche Bérse AG’s Executive Board

The Executive Board manages Deutsche Borse AG and Deutsche Bérse Group; it had six members dur-
ing the reporting period. The main duties of the Executive Board include defining the Group’s corporate
goals and sustainable strategic orientation, managing and monitoring the operating units, as well as es-
tablishing and monitoring an efficient risk management system. The Executive Board is responsible for
preparing the annual and consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Borse AG, as well as for produc-
ing financial information during the course of the year. In addition, it must ensure the company’s compli-
ance with legal requirements and official regulations.

The members of the Executive Board are jointly responsible for all aspects of management. Irrespective
of this collective responsibility, the individual members manage the company’s business areas assigned
to them in the Executive Board’s schedule of responsibilities independently and are personally responsi-
ble for them. In addition to the business areas, the functional areas of responsibility are that of the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO), the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), the Chief Information Officer/Chief Operating
Officer (CIO/CO0) and Governance, People & Culture. The business areas cover the operating business
units, such as the company’s cash market activities, the derivatives business, securities settlement and
custody, fund distribution services as well as the market data, financial and sustainability information
business. For details, see the “Deutsche Borse: Fundamental information about the Group” section and
www.deutsche-boerse.com > Company > Deutsche Borse Group > Business areas.
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Further details of the Executive Board’s work are set out in the bylaws that the Supervisory Board has
adopted for the Executive Board. Among other things, these list issues that are reserved for the entire Ex-
ecutive Board, special measures requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board, other procedural de-
tails and the arrangements for passing resolutions. The Executive Board holds regular meetings; these
are convened by the CEO, who coordinates the Executive Board’s work. Any Executive Board member
can require a meeting to be convened. In accordance with its bylaws, the entire Executive Board nor-
mally takes decisions on the basis of resolutions passed by a simple majority of the members voting on
them in each case. If a vote is tied, the CEO has the casting vote.

More information on the Executive Board, its composition, members’ individual appointments and biog-
raphies can be found at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Ex-
ecutive Board.

Deutsche Borse AG's Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises and advises the Executive Board in its management of the company.
This also covers sustainability matters. The Supervisory Board supports the Executive Board in signifi-
cant business decisions and provides assistance on strategically important issues. In the Rules of Proce-
dures for the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board has defined transactions of fundamental im-
portance which require its approval. In addition, the Supervisory Board is responsible for appointing the
members of the Executive Board, deciding on their total remuneration and examining Deutsche Borse
AG’s annual and consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. Details of the
Supervisory Board’s work during the 2022 financial year can be found in the “Report of the Supervisory
Board".

The Supervisory Board consists of 16 members, made up of an equal number of shareholder representa-
tives and employee representatives in line with the German Mitbestimmungsgesetz (MitbestG, German
Co-determination Act). The term of office of the current members ends at the Annual General Meeting in
2024. This also applies to an employee representative who was appointed by the court to the Supervi-
sory Board of Deutsche Borse AG in 2022 after the early voluntary retirement of another employee rep-
resentative.

The Supervisory Board holds at least six regular meetings every year. In addition, extraordinary meetings
are held as required. Executive Board members attend the meetings unless the Supervisory Board de-
cides otherwise in any particular case. The Supervisory Board also meets regularly without the Executive
Board. Exchanges also take place as necessary with the annual auditors. The committees also hold reg-
ular meetings. Unless mandatory statutory provisions or the Articles of Associations call for a different
procedure, the Supervisory Board passes its resolutions by a simple majority. If a vote is tied, the Chair
has the casting vote. The work of the Supervisory Board and its Committees is defined by the Rules of
Procedure for the Supervisory Board, which is available under www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Re-
lations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory Board > Rules of procedure.
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The Supervisory Board reviews the knowledge, skill and experience of the Executive Board and Supervi-
sory Board and their members regularly, at least once a year, and examines the structure, size, composi-
tion and performance of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. Its review is based on a catalogue
of specific targets, including qualification requirements, which, in turn, are reviewed regularly by the Su-
pervisory Board. The Supervisory Board also regularly, at least once a year, reviews the effectiveness of
its work, discusses opportunities for improvement and decides on suitable measures if necessary. The
concrete targets are described in the chapter “Targets for composition and qualification requirements of
the Supervisory Board” and the annual effectiveness test is described in the chapter “Examination of the
effectiveness of Supervisory Board work”.

The Chair of the Supervisory Board Chair is in regular contact with the representatives of shareholders
and employees on the Supervisory Board, in addition to the scheduled meetings, and arranges talks to
prepare for the Supervisory Board meetings as necessary.

Supervisory Board committees

The Supervisory Board’s goal in establishing committees is to improve the effectiveness of its work by
examining complex matters in smaller groups that prepare them for the plenary meeting of the Supervi-
sory Board. Additionally, the Supervisory Board has delegated individual decision-making powers to the
committees, to the extent that this is legally permissible. The Supervisory Board had seven committees
in the reporting period. The responsibilities of the existing Strategy Committee were expanded in 2021 to
form a Strategy and Sustainability Committee. For details of the committees, please refer to the tables
“Supervisory Board committees in the reporting year: composition and responsibilities”. Their individual
responsibilities are governed by the Supervisory Board’s bylaws. The committees’ rules of procedure cor-
respond to those for the plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board. Details of the current duties and
members of the individual committees can be found online at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Corporate
Governance > Investor Relations > Supervisory Board > Committees.

The chairs of the individual committees report to the plenary meeting about the subjects addressed and
resolutions passed in the committee meetings. Outside the meetings the Chair of the Audit Committee
also reports regularly to the Audit Committee and the full Supervisory Board on her regular exchanges
with the annual auditor. Information on the Supervisory Board’s concrete work and meetings during the
reporting period can be found in the “Report of the Supervisory Board”.

More information on the Supervisory Board and its committees, the individual members and their ap-
pointments and biographies, can be found at: www.deutsche-boerse.com > Corporate Governance >
Investor Relations > Supervisory Board.
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Supervisory Board committees in the reporting year: composition and responsibilities

Audit Committee

Members

Composition

" Barbara Lambert (Chair)

*Katrin Behrens' (until 28 April 2022)
*Andreas Gottschling

*Oliver Greie' (since 18 May 2022)
*Susann Just-Marx!

* Achim Karle!

" Michael Rudiger

= At least four members who are elected by the Supervisory Board

= At least one member with financial reporting expertise and one other member with auditing
expertise?

= All members familiar with the financial sector

" Prerequisites for the chair of the committee: the person concerned must be independent, and must
have specialist knowledge and experience either (i) in the application of accounting principles and
internal control and risk management systems or (i) in auditing, whereby accounting and auditing
also include sustainability reporting and its auditing

" Persons who cannot chair the committee: the Chair of the Supervisory Board; former members of
the company’s Executive Board whose appointment ended less than two years ago

Responsibilities

" Deals with issues relating to the preparation of the annual budget and financial topics, particularly
capital management

" Deals with issues relating to the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s control systems — in
particular, to risk management, compliance and internal audit

* Deals with audit reports and financial reporting issues, including oversight of the financial
reporting process

= Half-yearly financial reports, plus any quarterly financial reports, discusses the results of the
reviews with the auditors

" Examines the annual financial statements and the management report, the consolidated financial
statements and the group management report, discusses the audit report with the external auditors
and prepares the Supervisory Board's resolutions adopting the annual financial statements and
approving the consolidated financial statements, as well as the resolution on the Executive Board’s
proposal on the appropriation of profit

" Prepares the Supervisory Board’s recommendation to the Annual General Meeting on the election
of the external auditors of the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements
and the half-yearly financial report (to the extent that the latter is audited or reviewed by external
auditors) and makes corresponding recommendations to the Supervisory Board

" Reviews the non-financial reporting (sections 289b, 315b HGB)

" Monitors the audit, particularly the selection and the independence of the external auditors, the
quality of the audit and the additional services provided by the auditors

" Issues the engagement letter to the external auditor of the annual financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements — including, in particular, the decision on and the commissioning
of assigning the auditor (i) to review or audit the half-yearly financial reports, (ii) to review the
non-financial reporting and (iii) to audit the remuneration report, as well as determining focal
areas of the audit and the audit fee

" Prepares the Supervisory Board’s resolution approving the statement on the German Corporate
Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the AktG and the corporate governance statement in
accordance with section 289f of the HGB

" Control procedures on related-party transactions pursuant to section 111a (2) sentence 2 AktG

" Every member of the Audit Committee has the right to obtain information via the Chair of the Audit
Committee from the heads of the company’s main central departments; the Chair of the Audit
Committee notifies all the committee members of the information obtained.

1) Employee representatives

2) Ms Barbara Lambert has the expertise in auditing and Mr Michael Ridiger has the expertise in financial reporting required by section 100 (5) AktG. For details see
the chapter “Targets for composition and qualification requirements of the Supervisory Board”.
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Nomination Committee
Members

Composition

" Martin Jetter (Chair)
*Markus Beck!

*Prof. Dr Nadine BrandI”
*Dr Anja Greenwood"

" Michael Rudiger
*Clara-Christina Streit

*Chaired by the Chair of the Supervisory Board
" At least five other members who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

= Addresses succession planning for the Executive Board and identifies potential candidates
" Develops a diversity concept for the Supervisory Board

" Deals with the regular, at least annual assessment of the structure, size, composition and
performance of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, as well as possible improvements

*Deals with the regular, at least annual assessment of the qualification requirements of individual
members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, and the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board as a whole

" Reviews the policy for selection and appointment of members of the Executive Board and makes
recommendations to the Supervisory Board in this regard

" Proposes suitable candidates to the Supervisory Board for inclusion in the Supervisory Board’s
election proposal to the Annual General Meeting (the proposal is submitted by shareholder
representatives), including the regular review of the concrete targets and a job description on
which proposals are based

*Enters into, amends or terminates service agreements within the framework defined by the
Supervisory Board

" Prepares resolutions of the Supervisory Board on the system for the compensation of the Executive
Board

* Prepares resolutions of the Supervisory Board on aggregate remuneration and retirement benefits
of individual Executive Board members and determines payments to surviving dependants and any
other similar payments; regularly reviews the reasonableness of Executive Board remuneration and
develops proposals for any adjustments where required

" Prepares the compensation reporting with regard to the Executive Board and Supervisory Board

* Approves appointments of members of Deutsche Borse AG’s Executive Board to other executive
boards, supervisory boards, advisory boards and similar boards, as well as other part-time work
and honorary appointments, including any exemptions from the approval requirement

" Approves the grant or revocation of general powers of attorney

" Approves cases in which the Executive Board grants employees retirement pensions or other
individually negotiated retirement benefits, or proposes to enter into employer/works council
agreements establishing pension plans

* Decides on deferring publication of insider information and on drafting ad hoc notifications on
information for which the Supervisory Board is responsible

" Other tasks and duties set forth in section 4b (5) of the BorsG

1) Employee representatives

103



Deutsche Bérse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards

Management report | Corporate governance statement

Financial statements and notes
Remuneration Report
Further information

Risk Committee
Members

Composition

" Andreas Gottschling (Chair)
*Susann Just-Marx!

" Barbara Lambert

* Daniel Vollstedt"

® At least four members who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

" Reviews the risk management framework, including the risk appetite and the risk management
roadmap

" Takes note of and reviews the periodic risk management and compliance reports
" Qversees monitoring of the Group’s operational, financial and business risks

" Takes note of and discusses the annual reports on significant risks and the risk management
systems at regulated Group entities, to the extent legally permissible

1) Employee representatives

Strategy and Sustainability Committee

Members

Composition

" Martin Jetter (Chair)
*Dr Anja Greenwood'
* Achim Karle"

" Peter Sack”
*Charles Stonehill

*Chong Lee Tan

* Chaired by the Chair of the Supervisory Board
® At least five other members who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

" Advises the Executive Board on matters of strategic importance to the company and its affiliates
= Addresses fundamental strategic and business issues and deals with the group’s purpose

= Deals with sustainable corporate governance and business activities of Deutsche Bérse Group in
the areas environmental, social and governance (ESG) criteria (unless another committee is
responsible)

" Deals with significant projects for Deutsche Bérse Group

1) Employee representatives

Technology Committee
Members

Composition

*Shannon A. Johnston (Chair;
since 18 May 2022)

*Karl-Heinz Fléther (Chair;
until 18 May 2022)

*Markus Beck' (since 4 March 2022)
" Andreas Gottschling

* Achim Karle"(until 4 March 2022)
" Peter Sack’

* Charles Stonehill

* Daniel Vollstedt”

® At least four members who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

" Supports the Supervisory Board in meeting its supervisory duties with respect to the information
technology used to execute the Group’s business strategy and with respect to information security

" Advises on IT strategy and architecture

" Qversees monitoring of technological innovations, the provision of IT services, the technical
performance and stability of IT systems, operational IT risks, and information security services and
risks

1) Employee representatives
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Chairman’s Committee
Members

Composition

" Martin Jetter (Chair)
*Markus Beck!

*Prof. Dr Nadine Brandl*
*Clara-Christina Streit

* Chaired by the Chair of the Supervisory Board

" Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board as well as one shareholder representative and one
employee representative who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

* Time-sensitive affairs

1) Employee representatives

Mediation Committee
Members

Composition

*Martin Jetter (Chair)
* Markus Beck!
*Katrin Behrens' (until 28 April 2022)

*Karl-Heinz Flother (until 18 May
2022)

* Chaired by the Chair of the Supervisory Board

* Deputy Chairperson of the Supervisory Board as well as one shareholder representative and one
employee representative each

Responsibilities

*Oliver Greie' (since 18 May 2022)

"Barbara Lambert
(since 18 May 2022)

* Tasks and duties pursuant to section 31 (3) of the MitbestG

1) Employee representatives

Targets for composition and qualification requirements of the Supervisory Board

In accordance with recommendation C.1 GCGC, the Supervisory Board has adopted a catalogue of spe-
cific targets concerning its composition that should serve, above all, as a basis for the nomination of fu-
ture members. The targets include qualification requirements as well as diversity targets. Furthermore,
members shall have sufficient time, as well as the personal integrity and suitability of character, to exer-
cise their office. In addition, more than half the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board
shall be independent. The targets, including the qualification requirements, are reviewed by the Supervi-
sory Board regularly, at least annually, and modified as necessary. The status of implementation can be
seen in the qualification matrix at the end of this statement.

In the reporting year, the Supervisory Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, ex-
panded the specific targets in the qualification requirements explained below to include expertise in sus-
tainability matters, and moreover adapted them to changes in statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Supervisory Board, supported by the Nomination Committee, also examined the targets for the overall
board and for the individual members and confirmed that they had been met.
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Qualification requirements

Given their knowledge, skills and professional experience, members of the Supervisory Board shall have
the ability to perform the duties of a supervisory board member in a company with international busi-
ness activities. For this purpose, the Supervisory Board has determined necessary basic competences
and particular competences. The requirements regarding the particular competences are derived from
the business model, the company targets, as well as from specific regulations applicable to Deutsche
Borse Group.

Basic competencies
Ideally, each Supervisory Board member holds the following basic competencies:

» Understanding of commercial issues

= Analytical and strategic skills

= Understanding of the corporate governance system

= Knowledge of the financial sector

= Understanding of Deutsche Bdrse AG’s activities

= Understanding of Deutsche Borse Group’s structure

= Understanding of sustainability matters as relevant to Deutsche Bérse AG
= Understanding of the member’s own position and responsibilities

Particular competences
The requirements for particular competences refer to the Supervisory Board in its entirety. At least two of
its members should have sound knowledge, especially concerning the following topics:

= Capital markets, business models of stock exchanges and data business
= Clearing, settlement and custody business

= |nformation technology and security

= Strategy and sustainability

= Accounting, finance and audit

= Risk management and compliance

= Regulatory requirements

The current composition of the Supervisory Board fulfils these criteria concerning the qualification of its
members. The requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act and the GCGC for professional
knowledge of accounting and auditing in the Audit Committee are also met. Barbara Lambert, the Chair
of the Audit Committee, has the necessary professional knowledge of both auditing and accounting. The
same applies to Michael Riidiger, a member of the Audit Committee, who also has the necessary spe-
cialist knowledge of both auditing and accounting.
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Barbara Lambert studied economics in Switzerland, where she also obtained her diploma as an auditor.
As an active auditor of financial statements and banks over many years she can draw on extensive expe-
rience of conducting and managing audit activities, particularly in the financial sector. She continues to
update her auditing knowledge on a regular basis to this day. In addition to chairing the Audit Committee
of Deutsche Borse AG, Barbara Lambert was or is a member or chair of several audit and risk commit-
tees of boards of directors and supervisory boards, including Banque Pictet & Cie SA (until 2022), Im-
plenia AG (since 2019), Synlab AG (since 2021) and UBS Switzerland AG (since 2022). In these func-
tions, she regularly attends the training sessions offered by the respective companies. Alongside her
work on boards of directors and supervisory boards, Barbara Lambert is a member of many relevant pro-
fessional associations and networks, such as the Swiss expert association for auditing, tax and trusts
(EXPERTsuisse), where in 2007 she was also a member of the expert group for bank auditing, and the
German Audit Committee Chair Network. The membership in these associations and networks serve not
only the professional exchange but also her further professional training. Her full curriculum vitae is
available from www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory
Board > Barbara Lambert.

Michael Rldiger has a degree in business studies with focus on finance and controlling. He has many
years of experience of the finance industry and until 2019 was CEO of DekaBank Deutsche Girozentrale.
In addition to his work on the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Bdrse AG, where he has also been a mem-
ber of the Audit Committee since 2020, Michael Ridiger chairs the Audit Committee at Evonik Indus-
tries AG and chairs the Supervisory Board of BlackRock Asset Management Deutschland AG. In these
functions he regularly attends the training sessions offered by the respective companies. Michael Ridiger
is a member of relevant networks, such as the German Audit Committee Chair Network of the Audit
Committee Institute e.V., where he discusses professional issues and receives ongoing training. He also
regularly attends individual training courses on aspects of auditing and accounting, where he makes use
of the expertise offered by large auditing firms. His full curriculum vitae is available from www.deutsche-
boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory Board > Michael Rudiger.

Independence of Supervisory Board members

In accordance with recommendation C.6 GCGC, the Supervisory Board shall be comprised of what it
considers to be an appropriate number of independent shareholder representatives. The shareholder rep-
resentatives on the Supervisory Board therefore decided that at least half the shareholder representatives
on the Supervisory Board shall be independent. Supervisory Board members are considered to be inde-
pendent within the meaning of C.6 GCGC if they are independent of the company and its Executive
Board and independent of any controlling shareholder. In particular, Supervisory Board members are no
longer to be considered independent if they have a personal or business relationship with the company
or its Executive Board that may cause a substantial (and not merely temporary) conflict of interest. Ac-
cording to recommendation C.7 GCGC, more than half the shareholder representatives shall be inde-
pendent of the company and the Executive Board.

In the opinion of the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board, all of them are independent.
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Diversity concept for the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board

The diversity concept for the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, as adopted by the Supervisory
Board in accordance with section 289f (2) no. 6 of the HGB, has the objective of ensuring a wide range
of perspectives and experience through the composition of both bodies. The concept is implemented
within the scope of selecting and appointing new Executive Board members or regarding proposals for
election of new Supervisory Board members.

Flexible age limit and term of office

The Supervisory Board considers the flexible age limit stipulated in its bylaws (generally 70 years) when
nominating candidates for election by the Annual General Meeting. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board’s
bylaws provide for a general limitation to members’ maximum term of office to twelve years, which the
Supervisory Board shall also consider in its nominations of candidates to the Annual General Meeting.

The flexible age limit for members of the Executive Board provides for the term of office to expire at the
end of the month during which a member reaches the age of 60 years. From the month during which an
Executive Board member has reached the age of 60, re-appointment is permitted for a period of one year
in each case, provided that the last term of office shall expire at the end of the month during which the
Executive Board member reaches the age of 65. When appointing members of the Executive Board, the
Supervisory Board pursues the objective of achieving an optimal composition of the Executive Board
from the company’s perspective. In this context, experience and industry knowledge, as well as profes-
sional and personal qualifications, play a major role. Depending on the Executive Board position to be
filled, it is not just the scope and depth of skills that is decisive, but also whether the specific skills are
up to date. The flexible age limit has been deliberately worded to preserve the Supervisory Board’s flexi-
bility in taking decisions on appointments.

At present, no Executive Board member has passed the age limit of 65 years.

Theodor Weimer’s term of office as Chairman of Deutsche Borse AG’'s Executive Board runs until 31 De-
cember 2024. Theodor Weimer will reach the age of 65 in 2024. Gregor Pottmeyer’s term of office as
CFO of Deutsche Borse AG was extended until 30 September 2025. Mr Pottmeyer reached the age of
60 in 2022. While maintaining the general rule on a flexible age limit, the Supervisory Board decided in
view of their long-standing experience and knowledge of the sector and professional and personal qualifi-
cations, not to renew Mr Weimer’s and Mr Pottmeyer’s term of office solely on an annual basis once they
reached the age of 60.

Share of women holding management positions

Deutsche Borse Group is an international company. Working at our company means collaborating with
colleagues across over 55 locations from 115 nations. We are proud of the diverse cultural, professional
and personal backgrounds of our colleagues around the globe. We are committed to maintaining, sup-
porting, and fostering the diverse and inclusive culture of Deutsche Bdrse AG across all diversity dimen-
sions.

Regulations require us to consider one aspect of this diversity in particular detail in this report: the share
of women holding management positions.
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Deutsche Borse AG meets the statutory requirements for the proportion of women on the Executive
Board and the Supervisory Board. This applies particularly to the diversity requirements for the Executive
Board that have been in force since 2021.

37.5 per cent of the shareholder representatives of the Supervisory Board are women and the Supervi-
sory Board is determined to further increase this share.

For the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board is alike determined to further increase the share of
women, while taking the current appointments into consideration. Currently, there is one female member
on the board.

Future personnel decisions will take this into account.

In detail: With regard to the Supervisory Board, the legally binding gender quota of 30 per cent in ac-
cordance with section 96 (2) of the AktG applies. In order to prevent the possible discrimination of either
shareholder representatives or employee representatives, and in order to increase the planning security
in the relevant election procedures, the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board have op-
posed the overall compliance of the quota in accordance with section 96 (2) sentence 2 AktG. Thus, the
minimum quota of 30 per cent is to be complied with for each gender with regard to the shareholder
representatives and the employee representatives. Based on the statutory calculation method, this
means that at least two women and two men from each the shareholder representatives and from the
employee representatives must be on the Supervisory Board. Currently, there are six women on the Su-
pervisory Board: three among the shareholder representatives and three women among the employee
representatives. The statutory gender quota is therefore fulfilled.

For the Executive Board, the Act to Supplement and Amend the Regulations for the Equal Participation of
Women in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sector (FUPoG 1) dated 10 June 2021 has in-
troduced a statutory minimum participation requirement. Executive Boards of listed companies with
more than three Executive Board members are required to have at least one woman and one man on the
board (section 76 (3a) AktG). This statutory minimum participation requirement replaces the obligation
of companies to set a legally non-binding target quota. Deutsche Borse AG meets these statutory require-
ments and reports on them in accordance with Section 289f (2) No. 5a of the HGB.

International profile

The composition of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board shall reflect the company’s interna-
tional activities. With Dr Andreas Gottschling, Shannon A. Johnston, Barbara Lambert, Charles Stonehill,
Clara-Christina Streit and Chong Lee Tan, there are six shareholder representatives on the Supervisory
Board who are not or not exclusively German citizens. In addition, many of the members of the Supervi-
sory Board have long-term professional experience in the international field or are working abroad on a
permanent basis. The Supervisory Board will therefore continue to meet the objectives concerning its in-
ternational composition.

The same applies to the Executive Board, where Stephan Leithner holds non-German citizenship, and
whose members have gained long-standing international working experience as well.
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Educational and professional background

The Supervisory Board has set itself the objective of considering an appropriate range of educational and
professional backgrounds regarding its own composition, as well as regarding the composition of the Ex-
ecutive Board. The composition of both the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board reflects these
objectives. In addition to possessing professional experience in the financial services industry, members
of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board also have a professional background in consultancy,
the IT sector, auditing, administration and regulation. In terms of professional education, most members
have business, economics or legal degrees, in addition to backgrounds in IT, engineering and other ar-
eas. Education and professional experience thus also contribute to fulfilling the previously mentioned
qualification requirements for Supervisory Board members.

The composition of both Deutsche Borse AG's Supervisory Board and Executive Board is in line with the
objectives stated above.

The following qualification matrix provides an overview of how the main targets for the composition of

the Supervisory Board are met, and of the extent to which the particular competences defined in the
qualification requirements are present.
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Qualification matrix: Profile and particular competences of Supervisory Board members

Martin Jetter Markus Nadine Andreas Anja Oliver Shannon A. Susann
(Chair) Beck Brand| Gottschling Greenwood Greie Johnston Just-Marx
Member since 2018 2018 2018 2020 2021 2022 2022 2018
Independence independent  employee rep- employee rep-  independent  employee rep- employee rep-  independent  employee rep-
resentative resentative resentative resentative resentative

Sex male male female male female male female female
Year of birth 1959 1964 1975 1967 1974 1976 1971 1988
Nationality German German German German, Swiss German German USA German
International experience yes no no yes yes no yes yes
Educational and profes- Engineering Law Law Financial econ- Law Nursing General Studies Administration,
sional ometrics, busi- business stud-
background ! ness studies ies
Particular competences
Capital markets, busi- v v
ness models of stock ex-
changes and data busi-
ness
Clearing, settlement and v v
custody business
Information technology v v v
and security
Strategy and sustainabil- v v v v
ity
Accounting, finance and v v v v v
audit
Risk management and v v v v v
compliance
Regulatory requirements v v v v v v

1) The curricula vitae of the Supervisory Board members can be found at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory Board.
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Achim Barbara Michael Peter Charles Clara-C. Chong Lee Daniel

Karle Lambert Ridiger Sack Stonehill Streit Tan Vollstedt
2018 2018 2020 2021 2019 2019 2021 2021 Member since
Employee rep-  independent independent  Employee rep-  independent independent independent  Employee rep- Independence

resentative resentative resentative
male female male male male female male male Sex
1973 1962 1964 1962 1958 1968 1962 1976 Year of birth
German German, Swiss German German British, USA  German, USA Singapore German Nationality
yes yes yes no yes yes yes no International experience
Finance Banking, busi- Banking, busi- Economics, pol- History Business stud- Economics and IT and business Educational and profes-
ness studies, ness studies itics ies administration studies sional
auditor background*

Particular competences
v v v v v v Capital markets, busi-
ness models of stock ex-
changes and data busi-

ness
v v v v Clearing, settlement and
custody business
v v v Information technology
and security
v v v v v v Strategy and sustaina-
bility
v v v v Accounting, finance and
audit
v v v v Risk management and
compliance
v v v v Regulatory requirements
1) The curricula vitae of the Supervisory Board members can be found at www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory
Board.

Please refer to www.deutsche-boerse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory
Board for further information concerning the members of the Supervisory Board and its committees. For
further information concerning the members of the Executive Board, please see www.deutsche-bo-
erse.com > Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Executive Board.
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Preparing the election of a shareholder representative to the Supervisory Board

Shareholder representative Karl-Heinz Flother resigned from the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Borse
AG at the close of the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2022. He was succeeded by Shannon A.
Johnston, who was elected as a shareholder representative at the Annual General Meeting on 18 May
2022. Ms Johnston was elected following an intensive selection process, during which the Nomination
Committee applied the above criteria for the selection of suitable candidates.

Training and professional development measures for members of the Supervisory Board

As a matter of principle, Supervisory Board members are responsible for their continuing professional
development. Deutsche Borse AG follows recommendation D.11 GCGC and the guidelines of the Euro-
pean Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) on management bodies of market operators and data re-
porting services providers, and supports Supervisory Board members in this endeavour. For example, it
organises targeted introductory events for new Supervisory Board members and workshops on selected
strategy, sustainability and current issues as well as on topics of fundamental importance. Hence, beside
a specific workshop on sustainability topics and a technology workshop, workshops were also held on
compliance issues and the rights and obligations of the Supervisory Board and Executive Board in the
reporting year. In individual cases, Deutsche Borse AG assumes the costs incurred for third-party train-
ing, as part of its own training programme “Qualified Supervisory Board” for Supervisory Board mem-
bers, for instance. Further information about the Supervisory Board workshops can be found in the “Re-
port of the Supervisory Board”.

Examination of the effectiveness of Supervisory Board work

Deutsche Borse AG regards regular reviews of the effectiveness of Supervisory Board work — in accord-
ance with recommendation D.12 GCGC - as a key component of good corporate governance. The an-
nual effectiveness review in the reporting year was carried out with the support of an external service
provider, as is the case in every third year. It was based on a structured questionnaire followed by inter-
views. The effectiveness review covered topics such as the tasks and composition of the Supervisory
Board, collaboration within the Supervisory Board and with the Executive Board, as well as Supervisory
Board and committee meetings. In addition, topics relating to the discussion and working culture and
how current matters are dealt with by the Supervisory Board were addressed. Compliance with relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements was also reviewed in the course of a compliance check. The re-
view yielded positive results, both in terms of overall effectiveness as well as regarding the audited sub-
ject areas. Where it identifies room for improvement, optimising proposals were discussed by the Super-
visory Board and measures for their execution implemented. No cases of non-compliance with relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements were identified.

Long-term succession planning for the Executive Board

Together with the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board ensures that long-term succession planning
takes place. For this purpose the Supervisory Board, or its Nomination Committee, regularly — at least
once a year — concerns itself with potential candidates for the Executive Board. The Chair of the Execu-
tive Board is involved in these considerations, provided that the discussions do not refer to their own
succession. The Supervisory Board prepares an applicant profile for vacant Executive Board positions.
The Supervisory Board takes care to ensure that the knowledge, expertise and experience of all Execu-
tive Board members is diverse and well balanced and adheres to the adopted diversity concept. Moreo-
ver, the Supervisory Board ensures it is informed regularly about the succession planning at the first level
beneath the Executive Board, and provides advice to the Executive Board in this regard.
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Target figures for the proportion of female executives beneath the Executive Board

Deutsche Borse AG's Executive Board has defined target quotas for women on the two management lev-
els beneath the Executive Board, in accordance with section 76 (4) of the AktG, in each case referring to
Deutsche Borse AG. By 31 December 2022, the proportion of women holding positions in the first and
second management levels beneath the Executive Board was planned to reach 15 per cent and 22 per
cent, respectively. As of 31 December 2022, the share of women holding positions on the first and sec-
ond management levels beneath the Executive Board at Deutsche Borse AG in Germany was 12 per cent
and 27 per cent, respectively.

Changes at the first management level had an impact on the number of female executives and the
achievement of the target percentage at this level. At the second management level the proportion of
women at Deutsche Borse AG is significantly above target and makes a positive contribution to the fu-
ture proportion of women holding management positions overall. The Deutsche Borse Group is highly
international, which means that for the development of female managers and appointments to manage-
ment positions the consideration of a cross-company and cross-country perspective plays an important
role.

In this context, the Executive Board had set a groupwide target share of women holding upper manage-
ment positions (first three management levels below the Executive Board) of 22 per cent by 31 Decem-
ber 2022, and of women holding lower management positions to 30 per cent during the same period.
This voluntary commitment in fact went further than the statutory obligation. Firstly, the target figures
determined in this context relate to Deutsche Borse Group worldwide. Secondly, the definition of man-
agement levels/positions was expanded to include heads of teams, for example. On a global level, as at
31 December 2022, these quotas stood at 23 per cent for upper management levels and 33 per cent for
lower management positions

Shareholder representation, transparent reporting and communication

Shareholders exercise their rights at the Annual General Meeting (AGM). In the spirit of good corporate
governance, Deutsche Borse AG aims to make it as easy as possible for shareholders to exercise their
shareholder rights and enabling immediate engagement.

For instance, Deutsche Borse AG shareholders may follow the AGM live over the internet and can be
represented at the AGM by proxies nominated by Deutsche Borse AG, also by means of electronic com-
munication. The proxies exercise voting rights solely in accordance with shareholders’ instructions and
can also be reached during the AGM. Additionally, shareholders may exercise their voting rights by post
or online.

Section 118a (1) AktG establishes that a company’s articles of associations may stipulate that the An-
nual General Meeting is to be held online, without the physical presence of shareholders or their proxies,
or may authorise the Executive Board to adopt the corresponding resolutions. To the extent that Deutsche
Bdrse AG should make use of such an authorisation in the articles of associations in future, it will take
the circumstances of the individual case and the interests of the company and its shareholders into ac-
count. Regardless of the format chosen, transparency and interactive dialogue with shareholders are vi-
tally important for Deutsche Borse AG.
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Among other things, the AGM elects the shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board and de-
cides on formal approval for the actions of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. It also passes
resolutions on the appropriation of the unappropriated surplus, resolves on capitalisation measures, ap-
proves intercompany agreements and amendments to the company’s articles of Association, the Supervi-
sory Board remuneration, approval of the remuneration system for the Executive Board and the remuner-
ation report, and appoints the external auditors. Ordinary AGMs — at which the Executive Board and the
Supervisory Board give an account for the past financial year — take place once a year.

In view of the ongoing effects of the Covid-19 pandemic the Executive Board decided in agreement with
the Supervisory Board to hold the Annual General Meeting once again as a virtual event in the reporting
year, without the physical presence of shareholders or their proxies as provided for by section 1 (2) sen-
tence 1 (6) of the Gesetz iber MaBnahmen im Gesellschafts-, Genossenschafts-, Vereins-, Stiftungs-
und Wohnungseigentumsrecht zur Bekdmpfung der Auswirkungen der COVID-19-Pandemie of 27 March
2020 (German Federal Gazette | No. 14/2020, p. 570), which was subsequently amended (German
Federal Gazette | NO. 67/2020, p. 3332) and extended until 31 August 2022 (Federal Gazette | No.
63/2021, p. 4153) (Act on Measures in Corporate, Cooperative, Association, Foundation and Residen-
tial Property Law to Combat the Effects of the Covid-19 Pandemic). Shareholders were able to follow the
entire Annual General Meeting live online and exercise their voting rights, also via electronic communi-
cations, by means of postal voting or appointing the company proxies. Additionally, the company volun-
tarily published the speeches by the Chairs of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board ahead of the
Annual General Meeting, enabling shareholders to submit questions about them to the company in ad-
vance. Questions could be submitted to the company electronically up to one day before the Annual
General Meeting and were answered in full during the meeting.

In order to make the virtual Annual General Meeting even more interactive, shareholders were also given
the option in the reporting year of commenting on the agenda in advance in writing or by video mes-
sage, and of speaking via a live video and audio feed during the meeting. Shareholders could also ad-
dress further questions to the company by means of electronic communication during the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting, which were also answered in full during the meeting.

To maximise transparency and ensure equal access to information, Deutsche Borse AG’s corporate com-
munications generally follow the rule that all target groups should receive all relevant information simul-
taneously. Deutsche Borse AG’s financial calendar informs shareholders, analysts, shareholders’ associa-
tions, the media and interested members of the public of key events such as the date of the AGM, or
publication dates for financial performance indicators.

Ad hoc disclosures, information on directors’ dealings and voting rights notifications, corporate reports
and interim reports, and company news can all be found on Deutsche Bdrse’'s website www.deutsche-
boerse.com. Deutsche Borse AG provides information about its annual and consolidated financial state-
ments as well as interim reports in conference calls for analysts and investors. Furthermore, a regular
investor day is held and Deutsche Borse continuously outlines its strategy and business developments to
everyone who is interested, abiding by the principle that all target groups worldwide must be informed at
the same time.

Additionally, Deutsche Bérse AG submitted a COP for 2022 to the UN Global Compact. Good corporate
governance is one of Deutsche Borse Group’s core concerns, which is why it has complied with the
Global Compact’s principles for many years. Public records of this have been available since the com-
pany officially joined the initiative in 2009: www.deutsche-boerse.com > Responsibility > Sustainabil-
ity > Our social environment > Self-commitments.
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Accounting and auditing

Deutsche Borse AG's annual report provides shareholders and interested members of the public with de-
tailed information on Deutsche Borse Group’s business performance during the reporting period. Addi-
tional information is published in its half-yearly financial report and two quarterly statements. The an-
nual financial statement documents and the annual report are published within 90 days of the end of
the financial year (31 December); intra-year financial information (half-yearly financial report and quar-
terly statements) is made available within 45 days of the end of the relevant quarter or six-month period.
Following preparations by the Audit Committee, the annual and consolidated financial statements are
discussed by the entire Supervisory Board and with the external auditors, examined and then approved.
The Executive Board discusses the half-yearly report and the quarterly statements for the first and third
quarters with the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee prior to their publication. The half-yearly finan-
cial report is reviewed by the external auditors.

Following the recommendation by the Supervisory Board, the Annual General Meeting 2022 again
elected PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, (PwC) as
the auditors for the annual and consolidated financial statements 2022 and for the auditor’s review of
the half-yearly financial report in the reporting year. PwC was also engaged to perform a review of the
form and contents of the remuneration report during the 2022 financial year. The auditors responsible
are Marc Billeb and Dr Michael Ronnberg. They have both been responsible for the audit since 2021.
The Supervisory Board’s proposal was based on a corresponding recommendation by the Audit Commit-
tee, which had obtained the necessary statement of independence from PwC before the election. This
states that there are no personal, business, financial or other relationships between the auditor, its gov-
erning bodies and audit managers on the one hand, and the company and the members of its Executive
and Supervisory Boards on the other, that could give cause to doubt the auditor’s independence. The
Audit Committee checked that this continued to be the case during the reporting period. It also oversaw
the financial reporting process in 2022. The Supervisory Board was informed in a timely manner of the
committee’s work and the insights gained; there were no material findings. Information on audit services
and fees is provided in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14. Deutsche Borse AG (disclosures on HGB)

The annual financial statements of Deutsche Bérse AG are prepared in accordance with the provisions of
the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and the supplementary provisions of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) and are the underlying basis for the explanations that
follow.

Business and operating environment

General position

Deutsche Borse AG is the parent company of Deutsche Borse Group. The parent company’s business
activities include, first and foremost, the cash and derivatives markets, which are reflected in the Trading
& Clearing segment (formerly Eurex, EEX, 360T and Xetra). Deutsche Borse AG also operates essential
parts of the Group’s information technology. The performance of the Securities Services segment (for-
merly Clearstream) is primarily reflected primarily in Deutsche Borse AG's business performance via the
profit and loss transfer agreement with Clearstream Holding AG. The business and the operating environ-
ment of Deutsche Borse AG are largely the same as for the Group. They are described in the section
“Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment”.

Deutsche Borse AG’s course of business in the reporting period

Deutsche Borse AG's sales revenue increased by 11.0 per cent in the 2022 financial year, which was
above the company’s expectations. By contrast, total costs (staff costs, amortisation of intangible assets
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and other operating expenses) rose by 19.5 per cent.
EBITDA was €1,215.1 in the 2022 financial year and was below the forecast for the 2022 financial
year of €1.25 billion. Net profit was down by 7.2 per cent compared with the previous year. The finan-
cial year was mainly defined by the geopolitical situation and the resulting market risks, rising inflation
and interest rate increases by the central banks. In the previous year the dividend income also included
non-recurring positive effects. In addition, total costs have increased in the current financial year com-
pared to the previous year. On the basis of these developments, the Executive Board of Deutsche Borse
AG considers its performance in 2022 to be positive in context.

Performance figures for Deutsche Borse AG

2022 2021 Change

€m €m %

Sales revenue 1,647.9 1,485.0 11.0
Total costs 1,199.8 1,003.8 19.5
Net income from equity investments 524.2 652.5 -19.7
EBITDA 1,215.1 1,233.9 -15
Net profit for the period 875.1 943.3 -7.2
Earnings per share (€)* 4.76 5.14 -73

1) Calculation based on weighted average of shares outstanding
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Results of operations of Deutsche Borse AG

Deutsche Borse AG's net revenue rose by 11.0 per cent in 2022 to €1,647.9 million (2021: €1,485.0
million). At €1,501.0 million, the largest contribution to revenue came from the Trading & Clearing seg-
ment (2021: €1,330.1 million). The change in the distribution key for income and expenses in the Eu-
rex operational management strcutre (85:15 to 88:12) resulted in a positive effect of €33.0 million on
Deutsche Borse AG's revenues. The breakdown of revenue by company segment is provided in

the “Sales revenue by segment” table. The table “Sales revenue by region” shows the distribution of rev-
enue by geography.

For more information on the development of the Trading & Clearing segment, please refer to the “Trading
& Clearing segment” section.

The revenue that is attributable to the Securities Services and Fund Services segments results from IT
services that Deutsche Borse AG provides for companies from the Clearstream Holding AG subgroup.
Revenues in the Data & Analytics segment result primarily from intragroup services. The segments men-
tioned, on the other hand, have a significant influence on the dividend income of Deutsche Borse AG.

Other operating income went up to €108.7 million during the year under review (2021: €39.8 million).
The development resulted primarily from an increase in income from foreign currency translation of
€45.0 million and income from the sale of investments in the amount of €17.9 million.

Income for the 2022 financial year includes transfer income of €278.0 million from other companies in
the Group (2021: €256.3 million).

The company'’s total costs of €1,199.8 million were up 19.5 per cent year on year (2021: €1,003.8
million). For a breakdown, please refer to the table “Overview of total costs”. Staff costs rose by 13.7 per
cent year on year during the year under review, to €293.9 million (2021: €258.4 million). The increase
in personnel costs is mainly due to increased additional benefits for employees and the larger number of
employees.

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased to a total
of €73.6 million in the year under review (2021: €65.1 million).

Other operating expenses were up 22.3 per cent year on year, to €832.3 million (2021: €680.3 mil-

lion). The development resulted primarily from an increase in expense from foreign currency translation
by €60.1 million and a conversion effect of the transfer pricing rules of the Eurex operational manage-
ment construct amounting to €56.9 million.

Total expenses for 2022 include €414.9 million in internal Group transfer expenses (2021: €347.4 mil-
lion).

Deutsche Borse AG's result from equity investments for the 2022 financial year totalled €524.2 million
(2021: €652.5 million). It consisted of dividend income of €161.6 million (2021: €298.1 million) and
income from the transfer of profits of €412.2 million (2021: €349.4 million). Compared to the previous
year, the profit receipt from the distribution of Qontigo GmbH in the same phase is not included in the
financial year (2021: €58.6 million). In addition, there were unscheduled depreciations of €76.2 mil-
lion on financial assets. These are related to the participation in Crypto Finance AG (€19.7 million), in
Forge Global Holdings Inc. (€48.9 million) and China Europe International Exchange AG (€7.6 million).
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Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell to €1,215.1 million (2021:
€1,233.9 million). Net income for the period amounted to €875.1 million, a fall of 7.2 per cent (2021:
€943.3 million).

Sales revenue by segment

2022 2021 Change
€m €m %
Trading & Clearing 1,501.0 1,330.1 12.8
Securities Services 116.3 122.3 -4.9
Fund Services 25.9 26.7 -3.0
Data & Analytics 4.7 5.9 -20.3
Total 1,647.9 1,485.0 11.0
Sales revenue by geographical regions
2022 2021 Change
€m €m %
Germany 511.2 478.4 6.9
Other European Union 552.6 480.5 15.0
Other Europe 475.7 424.9 12.0
America 100.5 92.5 8.6
Asia/Pacific 7.9 8.7 -9.2
Total 1,647.9 1,485.0 11.0
Overview of total costs
2022 2021 Change
€m €m %
Staff costs 293.9 258.4 13.7
Depreciation and amortisation 73.6 65.1 13.1
Other operating expenses 832.3 680.3 22.3
Total 1,199.8 1,003.8 19.5

Development of profitability

Deutsche Borse AG's return on equity expresses the ratio of net income after taxes to average equity
available to the company during the course of 2022. Return on equity declined from 26.2 per cent in
2021 to 21.9 per cent in the year under review.

119



Deutsche Borse Group | Annual report 2022

Executive and Supervisory Boards

Management report | Deutsche Borse AG (disclosures on HGB)
Financial statements and notes

Remuneration Report

Further information

Financial position of Deutsche Borse AG

At the reporting date, cash and cash equivalents amounted to €442.0 million (2021: €215.5 million).
This includes balances on current accounts, fixed-term deposits and other short-term investments,
whereby the majority is held in cash.

Deutsche Borse AG has external credit lines available of €600.0 million (2021: €600.0 million), which
were unused as at 31 December 2022. Moreover, the company has a commercial paper programme in
place, which allows for flexible and short-term financings of up to €2.5 billion, in various currencies.
Commercial paper with a nominal value of €60.0 million (2021: €801.0 million) was in circulation at
year-end.

Through a Group-wide cash-pooling system, Deutsche Borse AG ensures an optimum allocation of li-
quidity throughout Deutsche Bérse Group; in this way, the parent entity makes sure that all subsidiaries
are in a position to honour their payment obligations at any time.

Deutsche Borse AG has issued three corporate bonds with a nominal value of €600 million each and
four corporate bonds with a nominal value of €500 million each. For more details concerning these
bonds, please refer to the “Financial position” section.

In the 2022 financial year, Deutsche Borse AG generated cash flow from operating activities of
€1.209.4 million (2021: €906.7 million).

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to €-392.5 million (2021: €-2,978.6 million). The
change is particularly related to the higher investments in the 2021 financial year. In 2021 financial
year, for example, there were cash outflows due to the acquisition of shares in Institutional Shareholder
Services Inc. in the amount of €1,665.4 million, in Clearstream Fund Center AG in the amount of
€735.2 million and in Crypto Finance AG in the amount of €132.1 million.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to €-812.2 million in the year under review (2021:
€1,261.9 million). A dividend of €587.6 million was paid for the 2021 financial year. Commercial pa-
per were also repaid in the reporting year with a nominal value of €741.0 million. Cash and cash equiv-
alents amounted to €-756.5 million as of the reporting date 31 December 2022 (2021: €761.2 mil-
lion). It is made up of liquid funds of €442.0 million (2021: €215.5 million), less cash-pooling
liabilities of €1,198.5 million (2021: €976.6 million).

Cash flow statement (condensed)

2022 2021

€m €m

Cash flow from operating activities 1,209.4 906.7
Cash flow from investing activities -392.5 -2,978.6
Cash flow from financing activities -812.2 1,261.9
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December -756.5 -761.2
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Net assets of Deutsche Borse AG

As at 31 December 2022, the non-current assets of Deutsche Borse AG amounted to €8,805.5 million
(2021: €8,559.5 million). At €8,024.7 million, most of the non-current assets consisted of shares in
affiliated companies (2021: €7,824.1 million), mainly the investments in Clearstream Holding AG, In-
stitutional Shareholder Services, Inc., Clearstream Fund Centre AG, 360 Treasury Systems AG, Eurex
Frankfurt AG and Qontigo GmbH.

Deutsche Borse AG's investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment totalled
€128.2 million during the year under review (2021: €61.5 million) and were thus significantly higher
than in the previous year. The increase results primarily from investments in hardware. The amortisation
of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment in 2022 amounted to €73.6 million (2021:
€65.1 million).

Receivables from and liabilities to affiliated companies include invoices for intra-Group services and
amounts invested by Deutsche Bdorse AG within the scope of cash-pooling arrangements. The receivables
from affiliated companies relate to invoices for intra-Group services, but primarily to Clearstream Holding
AG for the company'’s profit transfer of €412.1 million. Liabilities to affiliated companies resulted mainly
from cash-pooling amounting to €1,199.6 million (2021: €976.5 million) and trade liabilities of

€84.8 million (2021: €48.8 million).

Working capital amounted to €-646.9 million in 2022 (2021: €-1,852.1 million). The change is
mainly due to the repayment of an issued bond with a nominal value of €600 million and commercial
paper with a nominal value of €741 million.

Non-current assets (condensed)

2022 2021

€m €m

Intangible assets 125.9 116.8
Property, plant and equipment 117.0 72.1
Financial assets 8,562.6 8,370.6
Non-current assets as at 31 December 8,805.5 8,559.5
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Deutsche Borse AG employees

The number of employees (as defined by HGB)!! at Deutsche Bdrse AG rose by 24 in the reporting year
and totalled 1,710 as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 1,686). The average number of em-
ployees at Deutsche Borse AG in the 2022 financial year was 1,701 (2021: 1,664).

During the 2022 financial year, 142 employees left Deutsche Bdrse AG, resulting in a staff turnover rate

of 8 per cent.

On 31 December 2022, Deutsche Borse AG had employees at five locations around the world. Infor-
mation on the countries, regions, the employees’ age structure and length of service are provided in the

tables that follow.

Employees per country/region

31 Dec 2022 %
Germany 1,681 98.3
Great Britain 14 0.8
France 9 0.5
Other European countries 3 0.2
Asia 3 0.2
Total Deutsche Borse AG 1,710 100
Age structure of employees

31 Dec 2022 %
Under 30 years 190 11.1
30—-39 years 556 32.5
40—-49 years 416 24.3
More than 50 years 548 32.1
Total Deutsche Borse AG 1,710 100
Employee length of service

31 Dec 2022 %
Under 5 years 673 39.3
5-15 years 586 34.3
More than 15 years 451 26.4
Total Deutsche Borse AG 1,710 100

1 Employees do not include the company'’s legal representatives,

apprentices and employees on parental leave.
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Remuneration report of Deutsche Borse AG

The principles governing the structure and design of the remuneration system at Deutsche Borse AG are
the same as those for Deutsche Borse Group, so reference is made to the “Remuneration report” which
will be published alongside with the annual report.

Corporate governance statement in accordance with to section 289f HGB

The corporate governance statement in accordance with section 289f HGB is the same as that for
Deutsche Borse Group. Reference is therefore made to the section “Corporate governance statement”.

Opportunities and risks facing Deutsche Boérse AG

The opportunities and risks of Deutsche Bérse AG and the activities and processes to manage these are
largely the same as for Deutsche Borse Group, so reference is made to the “Risk management” and the
Opportunities report. As a rule, Deutsche Borse AG shares the opportunities and risks of its equity in-
vestments and subsidiaries in accordance with its equity interest. Risks that could potentially threaten
the existence of the Eurex Clearing AG subsidiary would also have a direct influence on Deutsche Borse
AG based on a letter of comfort issued by Deutsche Bérse AG. As of the reporting date, there were no
risks jeopardising the company’s existence. Further information on the letter of comfort issued to Eurex
Clearing AG is available in the section “Other financial obligations and off-balance sheet transactions” in
the notes to the annual financial statements of Deutsche Borse AG.

The description of the internal control system (ICS), required by section 289 (4) HGB, is provided in
the “Risk management” section.

Report on expected developments for Deutsche Borse AG

The expected developments in Deutsche Borse AG’s business are largely subject to the same factors as
those influencing Deutsche Borse Group. However, the revenue of Deutsche Borse AG is largely deter-
mined by the Trading & Clearing segment, whereby this is generated mostly generated via Eurex Frank-
furt AG (EFAG) and Eurex Clearing AG (ECAG) in the form of revenue transfers (operational management
structure).

Additional factors affecting future earnings at Deutsche Borse AG are the investment income from affili-
ated companies and income from profit transfer agreements.

Deutsche Borse AG expects sales of between €1.5 billion and €1.7 billion and EBITDA of between €1.3
billion and €1.4 billion for 2023.

Further comments on Deutsche Bérse AG can be found in the “Report on expected developments” sec-
tion.
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15. Takeover-related disclosures

Disclosures in accordance with sections 289a sentence 1 and 315a sentence 1 of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) and explanatory notes

Deutsche Borse AG makes the following disclosure as of 31 December 2022 in accordance with sec-
tions 289a sentence 1 and 315a sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The share capital of Deutsche Borse AG amounted to €190.0 million on the above-mentioned reporting
date and was composed of 190 million no-par value registered shares. There are no other classes of
shares besides these ordinary shares.

The share capital has been contingently increased by up to €17.8 million by issuing up to 17.8 million
no-par value registered shares (contingent capital 2019). The contingent capital increase will only be
implemented to the extent that holders of convertible bonds or of warrants attaching to bonds with war-
rants issued by the company or by a Group company in the period until 7 May 2024 on the basis of the
authorisation granted to the Executive Board by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 8 May
2019 on Item 8 (b) of the agenda exercise their conversion or option rights, that they meet their conver-
sion or option obligations, or that shares are tendered, and no other means are used to settle such rights
or obligations. More details can be found in Article 4 (7) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Borse
AG.

The Executive Board is only aware of those restrictions on voting rights that arise from Aktiengesetz
(AktG, German Stock Corporation Act). Those shares affected by section 136 AktG are therefore ex-
cluded from voting rights. Furthermore, shares held by Deutsche Borse AG as treasury shares are ex-
empted from the exercise of any rights according to section 71b AktG.

Under Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG, German Securities Trading Act), any investor whose sharehold-
ing reaches, exceeds or falls below specified voting right thresholds as a result of purchase, sale or any
other transaction is required to notify the company and Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht
(BaFin, German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority). The lowest threshold for this disclosure re-
quirement is 3 per cent. Deutsche Borse AG is not aware of any direct or indirect equity interests in its
capital exceeding 10 per cent of the voting rights.

There are no shares with special provisions granting the holder control rights.

Employees holding shares in Deutsche Borse AG exercise their rights in the same way as other share-
holders, in accordance with the statutory provisions and the Articles of Association.

Members of the Executive Board are appointed and dismissed in accordance with sections 84 and 85
AktG and with Article 6 of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Borse AG. Amendments to the Articles
of Association of Deutsche Bdrse AG are adopted by resolution of the Annual General Meeting in accord-
ance with section 119 (1) No. 6 AktG. Under Article 12 (4) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche
Borse AG, the Supervisory Board has the power to make changes to the Articles of Association that re-
late to the wording only. In accordance with Article 18 (1) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche
Borse AG, resolutions of the Annual General Meeting are passed by a simple majority of the votes cast,
unless otherwise required by Aktiengesetz. Insofar as AktG additionally prescribes a majority of the share
capital represented at the time of a resolution, a simple majority of the share capital represented is suffi-
cient where this is legally permissible.
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Subiject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the share
capital by up to a total of €19.0 million on one or more occasions in the period up to 18 May 2026 by
issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions (author-
ised capital 1). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights. However, subject to approval by the Su-
pervisory Board, the Executive Board may exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights with respect to frac-
tional amounts. However, according to the authorisation, the Executive Board may only exclude
shareholders’ pre-emptive rights if the total number of shares that are issued during the term of authori-
sation and that exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights does not exceed 10 per cent of the share capi-
tal. Full authorisation, and particularly the conditions under which shareholders’ pre-emptive rights can
be excluded, is derived from Article 4 (3) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Bérse AG.

Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is also authorised to increase the
share capital by up to a total of €19.0 million on one or more occasions in the period up to 18 May
2025 by issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions
(authorised capital I1). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights, which the Executive Board can
exclude in certain cases, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board in each case. The Executive
Board is authorised to exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights: (1) in the case of cash capital increases,
provided that the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower than the quoted price, and the
total number of shares issued under exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emptive rights does not exceed 10
per cent of the share capital; (2) in the case of physical capital increases in exchange for non-cash con-
tributions for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, interests in companies or other
assets; or (3) with respect to fractional amounts. However, according to the authorisation, the Executive
Board may only exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights if the total number of shares that are issued
during the term of authorisation and that exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights does not exceed 10
per cent of the share capital. Full authorisation, and particularly the conditions under which sharehold-
ers’ pre-emptive rights can be excluded, is derived from Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association of
Deutsche Borse AG.

In addition, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the share capital by up to a total of €19.0 mil-
lion on one or more occasions in the period up to 18 May 2024, subject to the approval of the Supervi-
sory Board, by issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash contributions (authorised
capital IIl). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights, which the Executive Board can exclude,
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, only for fractional amounts. However, according to the
authorisation, the Executive Board may only exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights if the total number
of shares that are issued during the term of authorisation and that exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive
rights does not exceed 10 per cent of the share capital. The exact content of this authorisation is derived
from Article 4 (5) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Bérse AG.

Subiject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is also authorised to increase the
share capital by up to a total of €19.0 million on one or more occasions in the period up to 17 May
2027 by issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions
(authorised capital IV). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights unless the Executive Board
makes use of the authorisation granted to it to exclude such rights, subject to the approval of the Super-
visory Board. Subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board may exclude sharehold-
ers’ pre-emptive rights with respect to fractional amounts. According to the authorisation, the Executive
Board may only exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights if the total number of shares that are issued
during the term of authorisation and that exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights does not exceed 10
per cent of the share capital. The full authorisation is derived from Article 4 (6) of the Articles of Associa-
tion of Deutsche Borse AG.
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The Executive Board is authorised to purchase treasury shares up to 10 per cent of the share capital.
However, the acquired shares, together with any treasury shares acquired for other reasons that are held
by the company or attributed to it in accordance with sections 71a et seq. AktG, may at no time exceed
10 per cent of the company’s share capital. The authorisation to acquire treasury shares is valid until 7
May 2024 and may be exercised by the company in full or in part on one or more occasions. However,
it may also be exercised by dependent companies, by companies in which Deutsche Borse AG holds a
maijority interest or by third parties on its or their behalf. The Executive Board may elect to acquire the
shares: (1) on the stock exchange; (2) via a public tender offer addressed to all shareholders or via a
public request for offers of sale addressed to the company’s shareholders; (3) by issuing tender rights to
shareholders; or (4) using derivatives (put options, call options, forward purchases or a combination of
put options, call options and forward purchases). The full and exact wording of the authorisation to ac-
quire treasury shares, and particularly the permissible uses to which the shares may be put, can be
found in items 6 and 7 of the agenda for the Annual General Meeting held on 8 May 2019.

The following material agreements of the company are subject to a change-of-control clause following a
takeover bid:

= On 28 March 2017, Deutsche Borse AG and its subsidiary Clearstream Banking S.A. entered into a
multi-currency revolving facility agreement with a banking syndicate for a working capital credit total-
ling up to €750.0 million. If there is a change of control, the credit relationship between Deutsche
Borse AG and the lenders can be reviewed in negotiations within a period of no more than 60 days. In
this process, each lender has the right, at its own discretion, to terminate its credit commitment and
demand partial or full repayment of the amounts owing to it. A change of control occurs if Deutsche
Borse AG no longer directly or indirectly holds the majority of Clearstream Banking S.A. or if a per-
son or a group of persons acting in concert acquires more than 50 per cent of the voting shares of
Deutsche Borse AG.

Under the terms of Deutsche Borse AG's €600.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2020/2047 (hybrid
bond), and the terms of Deutsche Borse AG’s €500.0 million fixed-rated bond issue 2022/2048,
Deutsche Borse AG has a termination right in the event of a change of control (as defined in the terms
of the bond), which, if exercised, entitles Deutsche Bérse AG to redeem the bonds at par, plus accrued
interest. If Deutsche Borse AG does not exercise this termination right, the affected bonds’ coupon will
increase by an additional 500 basis points per annum. A change of control occurs if a person or a
group of persons acting in concert, or third parties acting on their behalf, has or have acquired more
than 50 per cent of the shares of Deutsche Borse AG or the number of Deutsche Bérse AG shares re-
quired to exercise more than 50 per cent of the voting rights at Annual General Meetings of Deutsche
Borse AG. In addition, the relevant bond terms require that the change of control must adversely affect
the long-term rating given to Deutsche Bdrse AG by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., S&P Global Rat-
ings or Fitch Ratings Limited. Further details can be found in the applicable bond terms.
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= According to the terms of Deutsche Borse AG's €500.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2015/2025, the
terms of Deutsche Borse AG’s €600.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2018/2028, the terms of Deutsche
Borse AG’'s €500.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2021/2026, the terms of Deutsche Borse AG’s
€500.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2021/2031, and the terms of Deutsche Borse AG's €600.0 mil-
lion fixed-rate bond issue 2022/2032, the holders of the respective bonds have a termination right in
the event of a change of control (as defined in the terms of the bond). If these termination rights are
exercised, the bonds are repayable at par plus any accrued interest. A change of control occurs if a
person or a group of persons acting in concert, or third parties acting on their behalf, has or have ac-
quired more than 50 per cent of the shares of Deutsche Borse AG or the number of Deutsche Borse AG
shares required to exercise more than 50 per cent of the voting rights at Annual General Meetings of
Deutsche Borse AG. In addition, the respective bond terms require that the change of control must ad-
versely affect the rating given to one of the preferential unsecured debt instruments of Deutsche Borse
AG by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., S&P Global Ratings or Fitch Ratings Limited. Further details
can be found in the applicable bond terms.
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16. Disclosures on EU Taxonomy

Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation requires companies with a reporting obligation under section
289b HGB (German Civil Code) to disclose to what extent their economic activities qualify as environ-
mentally sustainable under the EU Taxonomy Regulation. The delegated act supplementing the EU Tax-
onomy Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 established the technical screening criteria for this assessment,
which currently concentrate exclusively on economic activities which contribute substantially to climate
change mitigation or climate change adaptation. Since 2022, companies have to report in accordance
with the delegated act the share of taxonomy-aligned and non-taxonomy-aligned sales as well as invest-
ment and operating expenses.

Basis for determining the proportions
The proportions were determined in accordance with the requirements of Article 8 of the delegated act.
The determination of the taxonomy-aligned ratios is based on the following principles:

Turnover

The proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activities has been determined by dividing the sales
shares of taxonomy-aligned economic activities (numerator) by total sales (denominator). The denomina-
tor is based on sales in accordance with IAS 1.82(a) as presented in the consolidated statement of in-
come. For further details, please refer to our consolidated financial statements (see note 5, table "Com-
position of our net revenues" (Part 1--4)"), column "Net revenues 2022").

We have reviewed the application of the EU Taxonomy Regulation to our business model on the basis of
the economic activities listed in the delegated act. Our business model is based largely on the following
activities:
= |ntegrating various financial market services such as ratings, index and analytics services, trad-
ing, clearing, settlement, custody, market data services, and liquidity and collateral manage-
ment
»  QOffering these services for various asset classes
= Developing and operating proprietary electronic systems for all processes along the value chain,
in order to provide neutral marketplaces

The above pillars of our business model are not explicitly listed in the economic activities and provisions
of the delegated act. We therefore limited our analysis to the following economic activities:

= 8.1 Data processing, hosting and related activities

= 8.2 Data-based solutions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

Operating and capital expenditure

We determined the proportion of taxonomy-aligned operating expenses by comparing our operating ex-

penses (see note 7, table "Composition of other operating expenses," line "IT costs" and line "Occupancy
costs") with the economic activities that make a significant contribution to climate protection or adapta-
tion to climate change in accordance with the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

We calculated the proportion of taxonomy-aligned investment expending in the same way. Investment
expenses are all additions to intangible and tangible assets (see note 11, table "Intangible assets™, col-
umn "Other intangible assets" and note 12, table "Property, plant and equipment (incl. rights of use)"),
rows "Additions") without depreciation, amortization, without remeasurement and changes to fair value.
Goodwill is also not included in the calculation of taxonomy-aligned capital expenditure as it is not an
intangible asset according to IAS 38.
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We consider operating and capital expenditures to be taxonomy-aligned if the output stems from a taxon-
omy-aligned economic activity. We have identified and analysed the following economic activities in the
delegated act that could fundamentally give rise to taxonomy-aligned operating costs or investment ex-

penses:

Infrastructure for personal mobility, cycle logistics

Renovation of existing buildings

Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings (and
in parking spaces belonging to buildings)

Installation, maintenance and repair of devices for metering, regulating and controlling the en-
ergy performance of buildings

Installation, maintenance and repair of technologies for renewable energy

Data processing, hosting and related activities

For 2022, we have not identified any economic activity covered by the delegated act. Furthermore, we
did not identify any material investment or operating expenses that fall within the scope of the delegated
act in the 2022 financial year.
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Proportion of turnover from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2022

DNSH criteria
Substantial contribution criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')
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Economic activities (1) g = g 2 T 2 e e o & 2 2 ¥ 2022(18 2021(19) (20) (21)
€m % % % % % % % YN YN YN YN YN YN YN Percent Percent E T
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned)
Turnover of environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities)
Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 0%
Total (A.1 + A.2) - 0% 0% 0%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE
ACTIVITIES
Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible
activities (B) 4,692.3 100%
Total (A + B) 4,692.3 100%
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Proportion of CapEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2022

DNSH criteria
Substantial contribution criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned)

CapEx of environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0 0%

A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not

Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 0%

Total (A.1 + A.2) - 0% 0% 0%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE

ACTIVITIES

CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities

(B) 323.5 100%

Total (A + B) 323.5 100%
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Proportion of OpEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2022

DNSH criteria
Substantial contribution criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned)

OpEx of environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0 0%

A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities (not

Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 0%

Total (A.1 + A.2) - 0% 0% 0%
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE

ACTIVITIES

OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities

(B) 207.4 100%

Total (A + B) 207.4 100%
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